
Cabinet Agenda
Wyre Borough Council

Date of Publication: 26 November 2019
Please ask for : Duncan Jowitt

Democratic Services and Councillor 
Development Officer

Tel: 01253 887608

Cabinet meeting on Wednesday, 4 December 2019 at 5.00 pm
in the Committee Room 2, Civic Centre, Poulton-Le-Fylde

1.  Apologies for absence

2.  Declarations of interest

Members will disclose any pecuniary and any other significant interests 
they may have in relation to the matters to be considered at this 
meeting.

3.  Confirmation of minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting of 
Cabinet.

4.  Public questions

To receive and respond to any questions from members of the public. 

Public questions can be delivered in writing to Democratic Services or 
sent by email to: democratic.services@wyre.gov.uk. Public questions 
for this meeting must be received by noon on Thursday ….. 
Questioners should provide their name and address and indicate to 
which Cabinet member the question is to be directed.

The total period of time allocated for public questions will not normally 
exceed 30 minutes.

5.  Introduction of New Enforcement Powers Policy under the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016

(Pages 7 - 32)

6.  Masterplan Part 1: Land West of Great Eccleston (Pages 33 - 
112)

Report of the Report of the Planning and Economic Development 
Portfolio Holder and Corporate Director Communities.

7.  Masterplan: SA3/5 Land West of the A6, Garstang (Pages 113 - 
144)

Public Document Pack

mailto:publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk
mailto:publicquestions@wyre.gov.uk


Report of the Report of the Planning and Economic Development 
Portfolio Holder and Corporate Director Communities.

8.  Authorities Monitoring Report 2018/2019 (Pages 145 - 
236)

Report of the Report of the Planning and Economic Development 
Portfolio Holder and Corporate Director Communities.



Cabinet Minutes 

The minutes of the Cabinet meeting of Wyre Borough Council held on Wednesday, 16 
October 2019 at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Poulton-Le-Fylde.

Cabinet members present:
Councillor Alan Vincent, Deputy Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder
Councillor Roger Berry, Neighbourhood Services and Community Safety Portfolio Holder
Councillor Lynne Bowen, Leisure, Health and Community Engagement Portfolio Holder
Councillor Simon Bridge JP, Street Scene, Parks and Open Spaces Portfolio Holder
Councillor Michael Vincent, Planning and Economic Development Portfolio Holder.

Apologies for absence:
Councillor David Henderson, Leader of the Council and Garry Payne, Chief Executive.

Other councillors present:
None.

Officers present:
Mark Billington, Service Director People and Places
Marianne Hesketh, Service Director Performance and Innovation
Mark Broadhurst, Service Director Health and Wellbeing
Clare James, Head of Finance and Section 151 Officer
Roy Saunders, Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager.

No members of the public or press attended the meeting.

CAB.12 Declarations of interest 

None.

CAB.13 Confirmation of minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of 4 September 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record.

CAB.14 Public questions 

None.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CAB.15 Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2023/24 

The Resources Portfolio Holder and the Head of Finance submitted a report 
asking Cabinet to consider the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan for the 
financial years 2019/20 to 2023/24.

Decision taken

Cabinet considered the Medium Term Financial Plan and the consequential 
action required in order to address the issues resulting from the five year 
(current year plus four years) financial forecast, noted the revised expenditure 
projections incorporating the slippage from 2018/19, and the resulting impact 
on the level of the Council’s Reserves and Balances at 31st March 2019 and 
agreed the top-up and use of all Reserves and Balances as indicated in 
Appendix 3 to the Medium Term Financial Plan.

CAB.16 Capital Programme review and monitoring report 

The Deputy Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and the Head of Finance 
submitted a report for Cabinet to consider the summary of the Spending 
Officers’ (April to end August 2019) review of the 2019/20 Capital Budget and 
its impact on the Capital Programme thereafter.

Decision

Cabinet agreed that the Capital Programme and its funding be updated to 
reflect the changes indicated in the report and that the impact on the Revenue 
Budget be reflected in the Medium Term Financial Plan and future revisions of 
the Revenue Estimates.

CAB.17 Cost Profiles - Benchmarking Results 2019/20 

The Deputy Leader and Resources Portfolio Holder and the Head of Finance 
submitted a report asking Cabinet to consider the findings of the 2019/20 
benchmarking study, a key element used to demonstrate that the council has 
proper arrangements in place for securing value for money.

Decision taken

Cabinet considered the benchmarking information and agreed to use the 
findings to influence future service reviews.

The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 5.04 pm.

Date of Publication: 17 October 2019.

Options considered but rejected
Any alternative options that were considered but rejected, in addition to the reasons for 
the recommendations that were made, are included in the full reports.

When will these decisions be implemented?

Page 4



All decisions will be put into effect five working days from the date of publication, unless a 
decision is “called-in” by any three members of the council within that period.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 

Councillor Roger Berry, 
Neighbourhood Services 
and Community Safety 

Portfolio Holder and 
Marianne Hesketh, 
Corporate Director 

Communities  

Cabinet 4 December 2019 

 

Introduction of New Enforcement Powers Policy under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 

 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 

To seek approval that the council use new enforcement powers 
contained in the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (HPA2016) allowing the 
Council to impose civil penalties for housing enforcement and to apply for 
Rent Repayment Orders and Banning Orders. 
 
To seek approval for the delegation of authority to develop, implement 
and further amend the council’s policy in respect of the new Housing 
enforcement powers to the Corporate Director Communities in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services and 
Community Safety and the Legal Services Manager, such policy to be in 
accordance with Schedule 13A of the Housing Act 2004, and any other 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
 
To seek approval to authorise the Corporate Director Communities to 
authorise the Head of Housing and Community Services to discharge the 
relevant powers detailed in this report. 
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 
 

The adoption of civil penalties and the use of Rent Repayment Orders 
and Banning Orders will be a powerful deterrent to negligent landlords 
and managing agents and will support the council’s commitment to 
improving standards in the private rented sector.  
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 
 

To agree that the council adopts new enforcement powers contained in 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016 allowing the council to impose civil 
penalties and to apply for rent repayment orders and banning orders.  
 
To approve and agree the adoption of a Policy and Matrix for the use of 
the new powers in Housing Enforcement at Appendix 1.  
 
To approve and agree that any revenue arising from Civil Penalties and 
Rent Repayment Orders will be reinvested by the council to further 
regulate and improve the private rented sector as set out in Regulation 4 
of the Rent Repayment Orders and Financial Penalties (Amounts 
Recovered) (England) Regulations 2017. 
 
To approve and agree that delegation of the authority to develop, 
implement and further amend the council’s policy in respect of the new 
enforcement powers be given to the Corporate Director Communities, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services and 
Community Safety and the Legal Services Manager and that such policy 
to be in accordance with Schedule 13A of the Housing Act 2004, and any 
other guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
 
To approve and agree that authorisation be given to the Corporate 
Director Communities to authorise the Head of Housing and Community 
Services to discharge the relevant powers detailed in this report. 
 

4. Background 
 
Civil Penalties 
 

 4.1 
 

The Housing Act 2004 was amended by the Housing and Planning Act 
2016 to allow local authorities to impose a financial penalty as an 
alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences. The same criminal 
standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for prosecution.  
 

 4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The list of offences that may be dealt with under the Housing Act 2004 by 
way of a financial penalty are as follows: 
 

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30); 

 Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(Part 2 section 72); this relates to mandatory Licensing that is 
currently undertaken in Wyre 
      >Failure to Licence 
      >Failure to comply with Licence conditions 

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 (section 
95); relates to selective licensing not currently adopted in Wyre) 

 Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139); 

 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (section 234); 

Page 8



 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Breaching a Banning Order (section 23 of the Housing and 
Planning Act). 

 
When civil penalties were introduced through the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016, Ministers made it very clear that they expected this power to be 
used robustly as a way of clamping down on negligent and rogue 
landlords. In view of this the proposed Policy and fee Matrix has been 
designed to allow for the worst offences or repeat offences to receive the 
maximum penalty.  
 
It is the responsibility of the individual authority to determine the financial 
penalty. The penalty must be relevant to the particular offence that has 
been committed meaning there will be variations and a single fee cannot 
be set. In determining whether to impose a financial penalty the council, 
must have regard to any relevant local enforcement policy and any 
relevant governmental guidance. In particular the factors set out in 3.5 of 
the Government Guidance on Civil Penalties under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 (Background Paper 1). 
 
To ensure that there is clarity and the council can demonstrate fairness 
within the process a proposed matrix system has been designed 
(Appendix 1) that will allow a penalty charge to be made in line with the 
level of the offence. The Matrix allows for maximum penalties to be 
issued for the most serious offences. In deciding the penalty the council 
must consider: 
 

 the severity of the offence; 

 the culpability and track record of the offender; 

 the harm caused to the tenant; 

 the punishment of the offender; 

 the deterrent effect on the offender from repeating the offence; 

 the deterrent effect on others from committing similar offences; 

 the removal of any financial benefit the offender may have 
obtained as a result of committing the offence. 

 
 4.6 The Matrix has been designed taking into account those used by other 

local authorities and is in line with statutory guidance.  
 

 4.7 
 

The introduction of imposing financial penalties as an alternative to 
prosecution will mean that in suitable cases, the process of enforcement 
action will be faster.  
 

 4.8  
 

Should the Housing and Planning Act 2016 Enforcement Powers Policy 
2019 be adopted it is proposed that the authority to issue the Civil 
Penalty Notices listed in paragraph 4.2 will rest with the Head of Housing 
and Community Services, in accordance with the Scheme of Officer 
Delegation. 
 

  

Page 9



  
 
4.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rent Repayment Orders 
 
The Housing Act 2004 introduced Rent Repayment Orders (RRO) to 
recover Housing Benefit/Universal Credit that was paid to landlords 
convicted of running unlicensed properties. The Housing and Planning 
Act 2016 places a new obligation on Local Authorities to give 
consideration to seeking a RRO following conviction for a much wider 
range of offences, these include:  
 

 Using violence for securing entry 

 Eviction or harassment of occupiers 

 Failure to comply with an improvement notice 

 Failure to comply with a prohibition notice 

 Failure to licence or be licensed in respect of an HMO 

 Failure to licence or be licensed in respect of a Landlords 
Selective Licensing Scheme 

 Breach of a Banning Order 
 
RROs can be granted to either the tenant or the council, although a 
tenant may apply for an RRO only if the offence relates to housing that, 
at the time of the offence, was let to the tenant, and the offence was 
committed within twelve months of the application. If the tenant’s rent 
was paid through Housing Benefit or through the housing element of 
Universal Credit, then the rent is repaid to the council. If the tenant paid 
their own rent themselves, it is repaid to the tenant. If the rent was paid 
partially by the tenant with the remainder through Housing 
Benefit/Universal Credit, the rent will be repaid on an equivalent basis. 
The amount awarded under this power will be dependent upon the 
offence committed, the amount of rent paid during the specific twelve 
month time period and who is applying (whether it is a local authority or 
tenant). The amount the First Tier Tribunal may require the landlord to 
repay must not exceed the amount of rent paid (by the tenant) or the 
amount of housing benefit or housing component of Universal Credit that 
the landlord received (from the local authority) in respect of rent. Under 
the HPA2016, a RRO can be sought even when the Landlord has not 
been convicted of one of the offences listed above. Where this is the 
case, the First Tier Tribunal will need to be satisfied beyond reasonable 
doubt that the landlord has committed the offence. 
 
Section 48 of the HPA2016 also places a new duty on local housing 
authorities to consider applying for a rent repayment order if they become 
aware that a person has been convicted of one or more of the offences 
set out at 4.10 above in relation to housing in that authority’s area. 
Tenants also have a right to apply to the First Tier Tribunal to make a 
RRO and Section 49 of the same Act specifies that local housing 
authorities may help a tenant to apply for an RRO by, for example, giving 
advice to tenants or conducting proceedings on a tenant’s behalf. 
 

Page 10



4.13 
 
 
 
4.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.15 
 
 
 
 
4.16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.19 
 

A landlord may appeal against a decision of the First-tier Tribunal to the 
Upper Tribunal provided that permission to appeal has been given by the 
First-tier Tribunal or the Upper Tribunal. 
 
The HA2004 requires that local authorities have regard to any guidance 
given by the Secretary of State when deciding whether to apply for an 
RRO. Section 3.1 of that guidance document states that local housing 
authorities should develop and document their own policy on when to 
prosecute and when to apply for a RRO, and should decide each case on 
its merits. 
 
The Policy for the use of the new enforcement powers at Appendix 1 has 
been drafted and developed having regard to the said guidance. 
 
Banning Orders and the National Database of Rogue Landlords 
 
Section 15(1) of the HPA2016 provides local authorities with a power to 
apply for a banning order against a person who has been convicted of a 
banning order offence. The order is made by the First Tier Tribunal (for a 
period of no less than 12 months) and operates to ban a landlord (and 
managing agent) from letting housing; engaging in letting agency or 
property management work or both. A banning order offence is an 
offence of a description specified in The Housing and Planning Act 2016 
(Banning Order Offences) Regulations 2017. These Regulations specify 
a range of housing, immigration and other serious crimes. Statutory 
guidance has been issued on the exercise of this power. 
 
Chapter 3 of the HPA2016 enables the Secretary of State to create a 
central database of rogue landlords and agents. The purpose of this is to 
provide local authorities with a tool for keeping track of known rogue 
landlords so that enforcement action and resources are focused on those 
individuals and organisations who knowingly flout their legal obligations 
and to assist in the identification of such individuals especially those who 
operate across council boundaries. 
 
Local authorities must make an entry on the database for a person or 
organisation that has received a banning order and otherwise have a 
discretion to do so where a person has been convicted of a banning 
order offence that was committed at a time when the person was a 
residential landlord or property agent; and/or received two or more 
financial penalties in respect of a banning order offence within a period of 
12 months committed at a time when the person was a residential 
landlord or property agent. Non-statutory guidance has been issued on 
the operation of the database. 
 
The penalty for breaching a Banning Order, upon summary conviction, is 
either a fine, or possible imprisonment for a period not exceeding 51 
weeks or both. 
 
 

Page 11



5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 

Each local authority may set their own fee levels for Civil Penalties up to 
the maximum £30,000. The proposed fee levels have been developed in 
conjunction with other local authorities across Lancashire to ensure 
consistency. 
 
As each local authority may set their own fee levels up to the maximum of 
£30,000 it is necessary to carry out a consultation process to seek the 
views of the public and stakeholders. Public consultation on the proposed 
policy and fee structure took place for five weeks between 16 September 
and 21 October 2019. Although there were only a small number of 
responses (7) to the consultation, all respondents agreed that the new 
powers were fair. The majority agreed with the proposed charges, 
although one thought the minimum penalty was too low. The majority also 
agreed that they thought the new powers would improve housing 
standards. It was felt that no changes to the draft policy were necessary 
following the public consultation. 
 
The imposition of a civil penalty could potentially provide a way to deal 
with offences in a more straightforward and efficient manner without the 
need for criminal proceedings. Criminal proceedings would still be 
considered for serious breaches. 
 
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 specifies that all of the income that a 
local authority receives from the imposition of civil penalties can be 
retained by the local authority to be spent on private sector housing 
enforcement work. However, any income that a local authority receives 
from civil penalties but fails to spend, must be paid into the Government’s 
Consolidated Fund. 
 
A right of appeal exists against any penalty imposed. Parties to an appeal 
are normally expected to bear their own costs and in most cases, it is 
unlikely that the council will be able to recover any costs in relation to 
such appeals. 
 
It is anticipated that enforcement will be undertaken utilising existing staff 
resources. In the event that the scale of enforcement activity necessitates 
additional staffing resources, these costs can be met from income 
generated through the imposition of civil penalties. 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 12



 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 

Any revenue arising from Civil Penalties and Rent 
Repayment Orders will be reinvested by the council to 
further regulate and improve the private rented sector, and 
any enforcement will be undertaken utilising existing staff 
resources and budgets. In the event that the scale of 
enforcement activity necessitates additional staffing 
resources, any additional costs will be met from any 
revenue received.  
 

Legal 

Section 126 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 allows 
financial penalties to be imposed as an alternative to 
prosecution for certain offences as set out in Schedule 9 of 
the HPA2016. 
 
Schedule 9 in turn amends the Housing Act 2004 including 
providing a new Section 249A which has financial 
penalties as an alternative to prosecution. The details of 
the offences to which a civil penalty may be imposed are 
set out in paragraph 4.2. 
 
The method of applying for a Rent Repayment Order and 
Banning Order are set out in Part 2 of the HPA2016. 
 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety   asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 

 
  

Page 13



Processing Personal Data 
 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 
 

report author telephone no. email date 

David McArthur 01253 887434 David.mcarthur@wyre.gov.uk 11/11/2019 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

Civil penalties under 
the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 – 
Guidance for Local 
Authorities 

April 2018 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty
_guidance.pdf 
 

 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Housing and Planning Act 2016 Enforcement Powers Policy 
 
 
 
 
dem/cab/cr/19/0412dm1 

Page 14

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697644/Civil_penalty_guidance.pdf


Appendix 1 

 

Housing and Planning Act 

2016 Enforcement Powers 

Policy 

2019 - 2024 

 
Civil Penalties Policy and Matrix 

Rent Repayment Orders Policy 

Banning Orders Policy 

 

 
Date: November 2019 

Version: 4.0 Post Consultation Draft 

Review Date: November 2024 

 

  

Page 15



 

1 
 

Contents 

 

  

1. Civil Penalties Page 2  

2. Civil Penalties Financial Penalty Matrix Page 4 

3. Rent Repayment Orders Page 7 

4. Banning Orders  Page 9 

5. Process for imposing a civil penalty Page 12 

6. Process for applying for a Rent Repayment Order Page 14 

7. Process for applying for a Banning Order Page 16 

Page 16



 

2 
 

Civil Penalties 

Introduction 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduces Civil Penalties of up to £30,000 as 

an alternative to prosecution for certain Housing Act 2004 offences from 6th April 

2017. 

The power to impose a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution for these 

offences was introduced by section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning 

Act 2016. 

These are: 

 Section 30 failure to comply with an Improvement Notice 

 Section 72 offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(HMO) 

 Section 95 offences in relation to licensing of houses under part 3 (Selective 

Licensing) 

 Section 139(7) failure to comply with an overcrowding notice 

 Section 234 Management Regulations in respect of HMOs 

In determining the Civil Penalty amount the Local Housing Authority will have regard 

to the statutory guidance issued under schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 

2016 and the Civil Penalty Matrix developed by the Department for Communities and 

Local Government. 

 

Burden of Proof 

The criminal burden of proof, beyond all reasonable doubt must be satisfied before a 

Civil Penalty can be issued as an alternative to prosecution. The Local Housing 

Authority must satisfy itself that there would be a realistic prospect of conviction, 

applied objectively, to the evidence available. 

In assessing the evidence regard must be given to the Code for Crown Prosecutors 

and when deciding whether there is sufficient evidence to prosecute consideration 

must be given as to whether the evidence can be used and is reliable. 

In determining whether the issue of a civil penalty is appropriate or not, due regard 

must be given to any potential defences available and, where available any interview 

under caution in accordance with PACE (Police & Criminal Evidence Act) codes of 

practice. 

Page 17



 

3 
 

 

Factors to consider when determining to prosecute or issue a civil penalty 

Each case will be determined on its own merits taking into account all available 

evidence. 

Prosecution is likely to be the most appropriate action where the offence is 

particularly serious and/or where the landlord has a history of non-compliance in 

relation to property condition or property management. 

In this policy the term ‘landlord’ also includes property agents, letting agents and 

property managers defined under Chapter 6 of Part 2 of the Housing and Planning 

Act 2016. 

The following factors, whilst not exhaustive, are examples of where it would be 

appropriate to consider the issuing of a Civil Penalty: 

 The offender had no evidence of previous non-compliance with appropriate 

legislation 

 The offender had no previous convictions recorded 

 The offence was committed as a result of a genuine mistake or 

misunderstanding (these factors must be balanced against the seriousness of 

the offence ) 

 The offenders co-operation is beyond what would be expected 

 The offender does not need continuous chasing to rectify the offence 

 

Factors to consider when determining the level of civil penalty 

The actual amount levied in any particular case should reflect the severity of the 

offence, as well as the landlord’s previous record of offending. The Council should 

consider the following factors to help ensure the civil penalty is set at an appropriate 

level: 

 Severity of the offence, determined by harm caused and culpability of the 

offender 

 The history of compliance of the offender 

 Punishment of the offender for the offence 

 The deterrent from repeating the offence 

 The deterrent from others committing similar offences 

 Removing any financial benefit obtained from committing the offence 

 

These factors are contained in the financial penalty matrix which helps officers to 

determine the level of fine that should be imposed by creating a score and band for 

each case.  

Page 18



 

4 
 

Financial Penalty Matrix 

Officers should first determine the severity of the offence by looking at the harm and 

culpability categories. 

Examples of Harm Categories 

The table below contains factors relating to both actual harm and risk of harm. 

High Serious adverse effect on individuals and/or having a 
widespread impact. 
 

High risk of an adverse effect on individuals including where 
persons are vulnerable. 
 

Housing defect giving rise to the offence poses an imminent or 
serious and substantial risk of harm to the occupants and/or 
visitors, for example Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS) imminent category 1 hazards such as danger of 
electrocution, carbon monoxide poisoning, serious fire safety 
risk or excess cold with vulnerable resident. 
 

Medium Adverse effect on individuals. 
 

Medium risk of an adverse effect on individuals including where 
persons are vulnerable. 
 

Tenant misled/disadvantaged by the failing. 
 

The housing defect giving rise to the offence poses a serious 
risk of harm to the occupants and/or visitors, for example 
HHSRS category 1 hazards, multiple high category 2 hazards 
such as falls between levels, excess cold, asbestos exposure. 
 

Low Low risk of an adverse effect on individuals. 
 

The housing defect giving rise to the offence poses a risk of 
harm to the occupants and/or visitors, for example low category 
2 hazards under the HHSRS, localised damp and mould. 
 

 

Examples of Culpability Categories 

Very High 
(Deliberate Act) 

Where the offender intentionally breached, or flagrantly 
disregarded, the law. 
 

For example repeatedly ignored reminders to apply for a 
property or HMO licence. Failure to comply with a correctly 
served improvement notice. No attempt made to contact the 
local authority to discuss breaches. 
 

High (Reckless) Actual foresight of or wilful blindness to the risk of offending but 
risks nevertheless taken by the landlord or property agent, for 
example failure to comply with HMO Management Regulations. 
 

Page 19



 

5 
 

Medium 
(Negligent Act) 

Failure of the landlord or property agent to take reasonable care 
to put in place and enforce proper systems that prevent the 
offence being committed, for example part compliance with a 
schedule of works but failure to fully complete all schedule items 
within notice timescale. Partially completed licensing application 
forms. 
 

Low (Low or no 
culpability) 

Offence committed with little or no fault on the part of the 
landlord or property agent, for example significant efforts were 
made to address the risk but they were obstructed by the tenant 
to allow contractor access or damage caused by tenants. 
Failings were minor and occurred as an isolated incident such 
as low category 2 hazards under the HHSRS found in one 
property from a large portfolio. 
 

 

Having determined the category the officers should refer to the following starting 

points to reach a penalty band. Officers should then consider whether further 

adjustments should be made for aggravating and mitigating features. 

 

Starting Points 

Culpability 
 

Harm Category 1 Harm Category 2 Harm Category 3 

Very High 
 

6 5 4 

High 
 

5 4 3 

Medium 
 

4 3 2 

Low 
 

3 2 1 

 

Banding Levels 

Band 1 
 

£0 to £4,999 

Band 2 
 

£5,000 to £9,999 

Band 3 
 

£10,000 to £14,999 

Band 4 
 

£15,000 to £19,999 

Band 5 
 

£20,000 to £24,999 

Band 6 
 

£25,000 to £30,000 

 

The starting point for each band will be the mid-point e.g. for Band 1 the mid-point 

will be £2,450. 

Page 20



 

6 
 

An offender will be assumed to be able to pay any financial penalty imposed unless 

they can demonstrate otherwise. 

Aggravating Factors 

The factors listed below are a non-exhaustive list of factual elements that should 

result in an upward adjustment from the starting point: 

 Relevant previous conviction/civil penalties 

 Motivated by financial gain 

 Failure to respond to warning 

 Deliberate concealment of illegal nature of activity 

 Obstruction of investigation 

 Falsification of documentation 

 Targeting vulnerable groups 

 Poor housing record 

 

Mitigating Factors 

The factors listed below are a non-exhaustive list of factual elements that should 

result in a downward adjustment from the starting point: 

 No previous relevant convictions or no relevant housing enforcement history 

 Evidence of steps taken voluntarily to remedy problem 

 High level of co-operation with the investigation, beyond that which will always 

be expected 

 Good housing record 

 Self-reporting, co-operation and acceptance of responsibility 

  

Page 21



 

7 
 

Rent Repayment Orders 

Introduction 

The Housing Act 2004 introduced rent repayment orders to cover situations where 

the responsible person for a property had failed to obtain a licence for a property that 

was required to be licensed.  

These orders can be imposed for offences specifically relating to:  

 licensing of HMO (section 72(1))  

 houses under part 3 of the act (section 95(1))  

Rent repayment orders have now been extended through the Housing and Planning 

Act 2016 to cover these additional offences:  

 Section 30 Housing Act 2004 - Failure to comply with an improvement notice 

 Section 32 Housing Act 2004 - Failing to comply with a Prohibition Order 

 Section 21 Housing and Planning Act 2016 - Breach of a banning order made 

by the First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) 

 Section 6 Criminal Law Act 1977 - Using violence, or threatening to use 

violence, to secure entry to a property 

 Section 1 Protection from Eviction Act 1977 - Illegal eviction or harassment of 

the occupiers of a property 

 

Applications for an order must be made to the First-tier Tribunal. An order can be 

applied for when one of the above offences has been committed, whether or not the 

landlord has been convicted. Where the landlord has not been convicted of the 

relevant offence, the First-tier Tribunal will need to be satisfied beyond reasonable 

doubt that the landlord has committed the offence. 

If all of the rent is paid through either housing benefit or universal credit, any rent 

recovered must be repaid to the Council. If the tenant paid the rent in full (no HB or 

UC) any amount recovered must be paid to the tenant. If the rent was paid partly 

through HB/UC and by the tenant, the amount recovered must be repaid on an 

equivalent basis to each party. If there are multiple tenants in the property, each 

must apply for a RRO to recover the rent they have paid. 

The maximum amount of rent that can be recovered is capped at 12 months. Any 

income received from a RRO can be retained by the Council provided it is used 

towards private sector housing enforcement activities. 

Page 22



 

8 
 

 

When to Apply for a RRO 

The Council will apply for a RRO in all cases where the landlord has been convicted 

of a relevant offence and some or all of the rent was paid through housing 

benefit/universal credit. Where a landlord has not been convicted, the Council will 

take the following factors into account in deciding whether a RRO is appropriate and 

how much should be recovered:  

 Punishment of the offender – RROs should have a real economic impact on 

the offender. The Council will consider the conduct of the landlord and tenant, 

the financial circumstances of the landlord and whether the landlord has been 

convicted of similar offences  

 Deter the offender from repeating the offence – the level of the penalty 

should be set at a high enough level to deter the offender from repeating the 

offence  

 Dissuade others from committing similar offences – the issue of a RRO 

will be in the public domain therefore robust and proportionate use of the 

orders is likely to help others comply with their responsibilities  

 Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result 

of committing the offence  

 

Civil Penalty and RRO  

The Council can impose a civil penalty and apply for a RRO for the following 

offences:  

 Section 30 failure to comply with an Improvement Notice 

 Section 72 offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 

 Section 95 offences in relation to licensing of houses under part 3 (Selective 

Licensing) 

Prosecution and RRO  

The Council can prosecute a landlord and seek a RRO for the same offence. 

  

Page 23



 

9 
 

Banning Orders 

Introduction 

Chapter 2 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 enables Local Authorities to apply 

to the First Tier Tribunal to impose a banning order on a landlord following conviction 

for a banning order offence. This policy takes account of the non-statutory guidance 

issued by the Government which makes clear that banning orders are aimed at 

rogue landlords who flout their legal obligations and rent out accommodation which 

is substandard, and which also confirms the Government’s expectation that banning 

orders will be used for the most serious offenders.  

 

Effect of a banning order  

A landlord subject to a banning order is prevented from  

 Letting houses in England  

 Engaging in English letting agency work  

 Engaging in English property management work  

 Doing two or more of those things  

Where a banning order is made, the individual will be determined not to be ‘fit and 

proper’ to hold a licence under Part 2 or 3 of the Housing Act 2004 and any licences 

in force under those parts will be revoked.  

It is a Criminal Offence to breach a banning order.  

 

A banning order offence  

A ‘relevant housing offence’ is a conviction for any of the following offences:  

 Illegally evicting or harassing a residential occupier in contravention of the 

Protection from Eviction Act 1977 or the Criminal Law Act 1977 or;  

 Any of the following offences under the Housing Act 2004:  

i) Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 

(HMOs) (section 72) 

ii) Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act 

(section 95) 

iii) Allowing a HMO that is not subject to licensing to become overcrowded 

(section 139) 

Page 24



 

10 
 

iv) Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs 

(section 234) 

v) Failure to comply with a Prohibition or Emergency Prohibition Order 

under sections 20, 21 and 43 of the Housing Act 2004;  

 If a person has committed a serious criminal offence they must have been 

sentenced in the Crown court to be regarded as a banning order offence  

 Spent Convictions should not be taken into account  

 If a landlord receives an absolute/conditional discharge for a relevant housing 

offence then that offence cannot be regarded as a banning order offence.  

 

Length of a banning order 

The Council is not able to determine the length of a banning order but can make a 

recommendation to the First-tier Tribunal as to how long the banning order should be 

imposed for. A banning order must be for a minimum period of 12 months. There is 

no statutory maximum period 

 

Decision making 

As recommended by the Government’s guidance, the Council will consider the 

following factors when deciding whether to apply for a banning order and when 

recommending the length of any banning order: 

 The Seriousness of the Offence - All banning order offences are serious. 

When considering whether to apply for a banning order the local housing 

authority should consider the sentence imposed by the Court in respect of the 

banning order offence itself. 

 Previous convictions/rogue landlord database - A local housing authority 

should check the rogue landlord database in order to establish whether a 

landlord has committed other banning order offences or has received any civil 

penalties in relation to banning order offences. A longer ban may be 

appropriate where the offender has a history of failing to comply with their 

obligations and/or their actions were deliberate and/or they knew, or ought to 

have known, that they were in breach of their legal responsibilities. 

Page 25



 

11 
 

The Council will also consider the likely effect of the banning order on the 

person and anyone else that may be affected by the order and will take into 

account the following: 

 The harm caused to the tenant - This is a very important factor when 

determining whether to apply for a banning order. The greater the harm or the 

potential for harm (this may be as perceived by the tenant), the longer the ban 

should be. Banning order offences include a wide range of offences, some of 

which are more directly related to the health and safety of tenants, and could 

therefore be considered more harmful than other offences (such as fraud) 

 Punishment of the offender - A banning order is a severe sanction. The 

length of the ban should be proportionate and reflect both the severity of the 

offence and whether there is a pattern of previous offending. It is, therefore, 

important that it is set at a high enough level to remove the worst offenders 

from the sector. It should ensure that it has a real economic impact on the 

offender and demonstrate the consequences of not complying with their 

responsibilities. 

 Deterring the offender from repeating the offence - The ultimate goal is to 

prevent any further offending. The length of the ban should prevent the most 

serious offenders from operating in the sector again or, in certain 

circumstances; help ensure that the landlord fully complies with all of their 

legal responsibilities in future. The length of ban should therefore be set at a 

long enough period such that it is likely to deter the offender from repeating 

the offence 

 Deterring others from committing similar offences - An important part of 

deterrence is the realisation that (a) the local authority is proactive in applying 

for banning orders where the need to do so exists and (b) that the length of a 

banning order will be set at a high enough level to both punish the offender 

and deter repeat offending. 

  

Page 26



 

12 
 

Process for imposing a civil penalty 

Stage 1 – serve a notice of intent  

The notice must set out:  

 The amount of the proposed financial penalty  

 The reasons for proposing to impose the penalty  

 Information about the right of the landlord to make representations  

 

The notice must be served no later than 6 months after the Council has sufficient 

evidence of the conduct to which the penalty relates or at any time when the conduct 

is continuing.  

Stage 2 – right to submit written representations  

The person served with the notice of intent may make written representations to the 

Housing Services Team about the intention to impose a financial penalty. Any 

representations must be made within 28 days from when the notice was given.  

Stage 3 – end of written representation period  

Once the 28 day period for receiving written representations has expired, the 

Corporate Director of Communities must decide whether to impose a penalty, and if 

so, the amount of the penalty. If a financial penalty is to be imposed, a final notice 

must be served.  

Stage 4 – final notice  

The final notice must set out:  

 The amount of the financial penalty  

 The reasons for imposing the penalty  

 Information about how to pay the penalty  

 The period for payment of the penalty (28 days)  

 Information about rights of appeal  

 The consequences of failure to comply with the notice  

 

Stage 5 – right of appeal  

A person who receives a final notice may appeal to the First-tier Tribunal against:  

 The decision to impose a penalty  

 The amount of the penalty  

 

Page 27



 

13 
 

If the person appeals, the final notice is suspended until the appeal is determined or 

withdrawn.  

Withdrawing or varying a Notice of Intent or Final Notice  

The Council can at any time:  

 Withdraw a notice of intent or final notice; or  

 Reduce the amount specified in a notice of intent or final notice  

 

Refusal to pay  

Where the person refuses or fails to pay a civil penalty, the Council should refer the 

case to the county court for an official Order of that court. If necessary, county court 

bailiff's can be used to enforce the order and recover the debt. A certificate signed by 

the Chief Finance Officer stating that the amount due has not been paid by a 

specified date will be treated by the courts as conclusive evidence of that fact.  

 

Works in default  

The Council can still carry out works in default, s.31 and Schedule 3 of the Housing 

Act 2004 are not affected by the Housing and Planning Act 2016.  

 

Rogue landlords database  

The rogue landlords' database was introduced in October 2017. Where a person 

receives two or more civil penalties over a 12-month period, the Council may include 

their details in the database. It is not compulsory to do so but it is encouraged to 

ensure all local authorities are aware of any enforcement action that has been taken.  

 

Fit and proper person test  

The issuing of a civil penalty can be taken into account when deciding whether 

someone is a fit and proper person to be a licence holder for a HMO. 

  

Page 28



 

14 
 

Process for applying for a RRO  

Stage 1 – serve a notice of intent  

Before applying for a RRO, the landlord must be served with a Notice of Intent. The 

notice must be served within 12 months of the date on which the landlord committed 

the offence to which is relates.  

The notice must:  

 Inform the landlord the Council is proposing to apply for a RRO and the 

reasons why  

 State the amount the Council is seeking to recover  

 Invite the landlord to make representations within a period specified in the 

notice which must be at least 28 days  

 

A RRO can only be applied for in the name of the landlord of the property. 

 

Stage 2 – right to submit written representations  

The landlord may make written representations to Housing Services Team about the 

intention to apply for a RRO. Any representations must be made within 28 days from 

when the notice was given. The Council cannot apply for a RRO during this period.  

 

Stage 3 – end of written representation period  

Once the 28 day period for receiving written representations has expired, the 

Corporate Director of Communities must decide whether to proceed with the 

application for a RRO.  

 

Stage 4 – right of appeal  

The landlord can appeal against the decision of the First-tier Tribunal to the Upper 

Tribunal provided permission to appeal has been given by either the First-tier or 

Upper Tribunal.  

 

Refusal to Pay  

Where the landlord fails to pay the RRO, the Council or tenant can refer the case to 

the County Court for an Order of that Court. County Court bailiffs can be used to 

enforce the Order and recover the debt.  

Page 29



 

15 
 

 

Tenants and RROs  

Tenants can apply directly for a RRO providing that:  

 The offence relates to housing that was occupied by the tenant at the time of 

the offence; and  

 The application for a RRO is made within 12 months of the date that the 

offence has been committed  

 

The tenant does not have to go through the same process as the Council. The 

tenant only needs to submit a claim form to the First-tier Tribunal which sets out the 

reasons for the claim and the dates to which it relates.  

There is no statutory obligation on the Council to support the tenant in making a 

claim, however, where the Council has evidence in support of the tenant's case, it 

will make this available to the tenant for the purposes of the claim.  

 

RROs and Universal Credit  

The Council will not have access to UC data, therefore, where the Council wishes to 

apply for an RRO and some or all of the rent has been paid via UC, the tenant will 

need to provide the information from their benefit statements or request the 

information required direct from the DWP.  

The following formula should be used to calculate the amount of rent that should be 

repaid to the tenant and the amount to the local authority. This information should be 

on the tenant's benefit statement.  

a/c*d = x (y=x-b)  

a = rent liability  

b = rent allowance  

c = maximum UC award  

d = net UC award  

x = amount to be retained by Council  

y = amount to be paid to tenant (x-b) 

  

Page 30



 

16 
 

Process for applying for a Banning Order 

Stage 1 – serve a notice of intent  

Before applying for a Banning Order, the landlord must be served with a Notice of 

Intent. The notice must be served within 6 months of the landlord being convicted of 

the offence. 

The notice must: 

 inform the landlord that the Council is proposing to apply for a banning order 

and explaining why 

 stating the length of each proposed ban 

 invite the person to make representations within a period specified in the 

notice which must be at least 28 days. 

 

Stage 2 – right to submit written representations  

The landlord may make written representations to Housing Services Team about the 

intention to apply for a Banning Order. Any representations must be made within 28 

days from when the notice was given. The Council cannot apply for a Banning Order 

during this period.  

Stage 3 – end of written representation period  

Once the 28 day period for receiving written representations has expired, the 

Corporate Director of Communities must decide whether to proceed with the 

application for a Banning Order. 

Stage 4 – right of appeal  

The landlord can appeal against the decision of the First-tier Tribunal to the Upper 

Tribunal provided permission to appeal has been given by either the First-tier or 

Upper Tribunal.  

 

Requests for Information  

Section 19 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides that a local housing 

authority (the Council) can require a landlord to provide information for the purpose 

of enabling the Council to decide whether to apply for a banning order. This can 

include requiring the landlord to provide information on all the properties that the 

landlord owns.  

Page 31



 

17 
 

It is an offence to ignore a request for further information unless the landlord can 

provide a reasonable excuse.  

It is also an offence to provide false and misleading information  

Failure to provide information or providing false or misleading information is 

punishable on summary conviction to a fine  

 

Publicity following a banning order  

Subject to the Governments guidance and guidance provided by the Ministry of 

Justice details of all banning order offences will be published and held on a national 

register. Also subject to legal advice, the Council will consider publishing details of 

successful banning orders including the names of individual landlords/ any business 

(managing or lettings agency). The Council will also consider making information on 

banned landlords available on request by a tenant. 

dem/cab/cr/19/0412dm1 Appendix 1 

Page 32



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 

Councillor Michael Vincent, 
Planning and Economic 

Development Portfolio Holder 
and Marianne Hesketh, 

Corporate Director 
Communities 

Cabinet 4 December 2019 

 

Masterplan (Part 1) Land West of Great Eccleston 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

To seek approval of the Masterplan (Part 1) for Local Plan allocation 
SA3/3 Land West of Great Eccleston. 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 

An approved Masterplan that will be a material planning consideration in 
the consideration of planning applications on the site.   

3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 

That the Masterplan (Part 1) Land West of Great Eccleston be approved. 
 
That authority to approve the Masterplan (Part 2 - Delivery) Land West of 
Great Eccleston is delegated to the Head of Planning Services in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 
 
That powers be delegated to the Head of Planning Services to make 
minor editorial amendments and corrections to the Masterplan prior to 
publication. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 
 
 
 

The adopted Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031) requires residential and mixed 
use site allocations proposing more than 50 dwellings to be brought 
forward in line with a Masterplan approved by the council. To inform the 
Masterplan process the council has produced ‘Guidance on the 
Preparation of Masterplans’. This was approved by Cabinet on 5 
September 2018 and was updated on 9 May 2019 (approval granted 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 

under delegated authority to the Portfolio Holder).  It has been used by 
officers with landowners, developers and other interested parties to 
inform the development of Masterplans to date. 
 
This report seeks approval for the Masterplan (Part 1) relating to Local 
Plan site allocation SA3/3 Land West of Great Eccleston.  The site is a 
mixed use allocation for 568 dwellings (183 dwellings of which have the 
benefit of a previous planning permission) and 1 hectare of employment 
land.  The allocation also requires the provision of a small convenience 
store, village hall, health centre and primary school. 
 
Part 2 of the Masterplan will provide detail on the delivery of the spine 
road and an area of the site shown in the Masterplan as a “community 
hub”.  The Part 2 document is a work in progress at the time of writing. 
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 

The Local Plan allocates Land West of Great Eccleston for 568 dwellings 
and 1 hectare of employment land for B use classes (industry and 
warehousing).  The allocation also requires the provision of a 
convenience store of up to 400 sq.m gross floor space, village hall, health 
centre and primary school (the timing of the provision of the primary 
school will be subject to a needs assessment by the Local Education 
Authority at an appropriate point in time).  The allocation notes that part 
of the site has planning permissions for a total of 183 dwellings on land 
south of Copp Lane, part of which is currently under construction. 
 
The allocation policy for SA3/3 lists a series of Key Development 
Considerations, of which the first is that: “The site is to be brought 
forward in line with a Masterplan to be produced covering the whole of 
the site. The Masterplan must be agreed by the local planning authority 
prior to the granting of planning permission for any part of the site”.  
 
The Masterplan for SA3/3 has been designed to be in two parts.  The 
document before members is the first part and provides the physical and 
policy context, describes a vision and objectives for the Masterplan and 
establishes the Masterplan framework which identifies the broad location 
of the different land uses and indicates how the movement network will 
function.  Part 2 will be the delivery framework.  It will focus on the 
delivery of the spine road, medical centre, village hall and school and 
consider issues such as phasing and funding. The final Masterplan will 
consist of both parts. 
 
For the purposes of applying Policy SA3/3 both parts 1 and 2 will be 
considered to form the full Masterplan and as such both parts require 
approval by the council prior to permission being granted. 
 
The Masterplan process has followed that set out in the Masterplan 
guidance referred to above and has been led by Metacre Ltd as the land 
promotion company with an interest in a significant part of the allocation 

Page 34



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
 
 
5.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.9 
 
 
 
5.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.11 

north of Copp Lane.  The production of the Masterplan has been a 
collaborative process between the majority of landowners and their 
representatives, Wyre Council and key stakeholders, including 
Lancashire County Council (highways, Lead Local Flood Authority, 
Education, Public Health), the Parish Council, Fylde and Wyre Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), United Utilities, Historic England and the 
Environment Agency. 
 
Given the fact that the majority of the allocation south of Copp Lane has 
already been brought forward for development, the main focus of the 
Masterplan is on the remainder of the allocation i.e. land north of Copp 
Lane (aside from a small area south of Copp Lane).   
 
The Masterplan for the subject site has followed a logical approach to 
describing the policy and physical context, including an assessment of 
townscape character and the identification of constraints and 
opportunities. It describes a vision and series of design principles that will 
be used to guide the detailed development of the site.  
 
Developing the Masterplan has involved engagement with stakeholders 
and the wider community.  A formal public consultation on alternative 
Masterplan concepts was held between 11 December 2018 and 22 
January 2019.  The consultation included an exhibition held in Great 
Eccleston on 11 December 2018 and 10 January 2019.  The exhibition 
boards were available to view on the council’s web site and at Great 
Eccleston Village Centre throughout the six week consultation period.   
 
In response, the council received 31 representations.  A number of 
responses went to the principle of development.  However the site is 
allocated in the adopted local plan and as such the principle is accepted.   
 
The consultation also raised more detailed matters such as highways 
impact, access to and through the site, loss of wildlife and ecology 
issues, green infrastructure and impact on village character.  A notable 
feature of the response was support for a significant area of green 
infrastructure to be provided along the route of the existing PRoW.  There 
was also support for community facilities to be located as close to the 
existing village as possible.  The final Masterplan is based on both of 
these desired outcomes. A detailed summary of the consultation 
feedback is provided as part of the Masterplan.   
 
It is noted the purpose of a Masterplan is not to provide a detailed 
scheme for development.  As such elements have to be seen as 
“indicative” or “illustrative”.  Nevertheless, the Masterplan framework 
establishes by way of a plan and narrative the location of the key uses, 
areas of land and habitat to be protected from development, general 
access and highway arrangements and the broad location of the green 
infrastructure.  Key features of the Masterplan are: 
 

Page 35



 The development of a community hub to the immediate south west of 
the village that will contain a new primary school (subject to Education 
Authority assessment of need), medical centre intended to replace the 
existing village facility, new village hall and convenience store.  The 
detailed design of the community hub, including road access, will be a 
matter for future planning applications. 

 

 The development of an employment area in the north west of the site, 
close to the A586. 

 

 A main area of green infrastructure (GI) focused along the Public 
Right of Way that runs east/west through the site, with other areas of 
GI forming a north/south link connecting the A586 and Copp Lane for 
pedestrians/cyclists 

 

 A spine road, designed to be suitable for buses to use, to run through 
the site from Copp Lane to the A586 with the intention of routing traffic 
from the development away from the village centre. 

 

 Internal walking and cycling routes to encourage non-motorised 
movement, including upgrading the line of the PRoW for pedestrians 
and cyclists. 

 

 A recognition of the need to treat the edges of the development with 
sensitivity, particularly where the site abuts the countryside, with 
landscape buffers and lower density housing. 
 

 5.12 Subsequent to the production of the Part 1 document, the council is 
working with Metacre Ltd and stakeholders to draft the Part 2 document 
that will focus on the broad mechanism for the delivery of the spine road 
linking Copp Lane with the A586, medical centre, primary school and 
village hall.  The developer will develop the spine road but the delivery of 
the non-residential uses will require discussion with organisations outside 
of the council, namely the Local Education Authority (primary school), 
Fylde and Wyre CCG (health centre) and Great Eccleston Parish Council 
(village hall).  The Part 2 document will form part of the Masterplan and 
its approval will create a document that will be material in the 
consideration of future planning applications. 
 

 5.13 As Part 2 deals with matters of implementation it is considered 
appropriate for authority for approval to be delegated to the Head of 
Planning Services.  This will provide an expedient process and avoid any 
unnecessary delay in the determination of planning applications 
submitted on this site. 
 

 5.14 It is noted that the Local Plan has been subject to a sustainability 
appraisal and equality impact assessment. Whilst the development of the 
allocated site subject to the Masterplan will not have significant 
implications on matters of sustainability, climate change and equalities 
these have been considered as part of the local plan process. 

Page 36



 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 
There are no financial implications arising directly from this 
report. 

Legal 
If approved, the Masterplan will be a material planning 
consideration in the consideration of planning applications 
on the site. 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 

 
Processing Personal Data 

 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Len Harris 01253 887231 len.harris@wyre.gov.uk 05/11/2019 

 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   

 
List of appendices 
 
Part 1 Masterplan for Land West of Great Eccleston 
 
 

dems/cab/cr/19/0412lh2 

Page 37



Masterplan 
Part 1 
 

Land West of Great Eccleston
Created on behalf of Northern Trust Ltd.
December 2019 
 

P
age 38

lmilnes
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



01: INTRODUCTION
 1.1 Foreword
 1.2 Production of the Masterplan
 1.3 Structure of the Masterplan

02: SITE CONTEXT AND ANALYSIS
 2.1 Introduction
 2.2 Existing Service Provision
 2.3 Planning History
 2.4 Heritage Assets
 2.5 Masterplan Developable Area
 2.6 Site Access and Movement
 2.7 Topography and Ground Conditions
 2.8 Ecology and Trees
 2.9 Flood Risk and Drainage
 2.10 Watercourse Plan
 2.11 Landscape and Visual Assessment /  Views
 2.12 Townscape Analysis
 2.13 Implications for the Masterplan

03: PLANNING POLICY, VISION AND OBJECTIVES
 3.1 Local Plan Policy SA3/3
 3.2 Summary of Other Wyre Local Plan Policy
 3.3 Masterplan Vision
 3.4 Masterplan Objectives

04: MASTERPLAN FRAMEWORK
 4.1 Introduction
 4.2 Land uses and Scale
 4.3 Sustainable Drainage 
 4.4 Green Infrastructure, Biodiversity and Landscaping
 4.5 Access and Movement 
 4.6 Final Masterplan
 4.7 General Guiding Design Priniciples

05: DELIVERY STRATEGY
 5.1 Phasing of Development

Appendix 1: Public Consultation Exhibition Boards
Appendix 2: Consultation Feedback
Appendix 3: Ecology Note
Appendix 4: Landscape and Visual Impact Note

page: 1

page: 5

page: 20

page: 22

page: 36

CONTENTS

P
age 39



01INTRODUCTION

S E C T I O N

P
age 40



Local Plan policy SA3 ‘Mixed Use Development’ allocates five 
sites for residential led mixed use development, one of which 
is allocation SA3/3 ‘Land West of Great Eccleston’. This 
allocation extends to 33.7 hectares of land to the south of the 
A586 and on both sides of Copp Lane. The land is allocated 
for residential development, employment, a primary school, 
health centre, community hall and local convenience store.

Local Plan policy SA3/3 requires the allocated site to be 
brought forward in line with a masterplan approach to ensure 
that it is planned comprehensively and forms an integrated 
extension to the settlement.

The purpose of this masterplan is to provide an overarching 
strategy for the delivery of the allocation as a whole and 
to establish key development principles for the site. It will 
guide the preparation of planning applications relating to the 
masterplan area and in so
doing ensure that any development within the masterplan 
area does not prejudice the delivery of the wider allocation in 
a comprehensive and sustainable manner.

The masterplan is in two parts.

This document is part 1 and provides the physical and policy 
context, describes a vision and objectives for the masterplan 
and establishes the masterplan framework which establishes 
the broad location of the different land uses and indicates how 
the movement network will function.

Part 2 will be the implementation framework.  It will describe 
how the various uses will be delivered taking into account 
issues such as phasing and the funding of the non-residential 
components of the proposed development.  

The final masterplan will consist of both parts.

The Masterplan production has been a collaborative approach 
involving landowners, Wyre Borough Council and other key 
stakeholders. However this document has been produced by 
De Pol Associates and Baldwin Design Consultancy on behalf 
of Metacre Ltd, who are a promotional company acting on 
behalf of a number of landowners.

The Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031 was adopted on 28th 
February 2019. This identifies a need to deliver 9,200 
net additional dwellings across the Borough by 2031, 
of which 5,192 are to come from allocated sites set out 
in policies SA1, SA3 and SA4.

1

IN
TR

O
D

U
C

TI
O

N 01
1.1 Foreword

Aerial view of Great Eccleston

P
age 41



Figure 1: Adopted Wyre Borough Local Plan- Allocation SA3/3

2

GREAT ECCLESTON

P
age 42



3

The Public Consultation boards from the initial Planning Application have been 
reproduced to the right for reference purposes:

The production of the masterplan has been a collaborative process 
between the landowners and their representatives, Wyre Council 
as well as key stakeholders. It has followed a number of stages, 
described below.

The first stage of the process was a landowner meeting where it 
was agreed that Metacre would progress the Masterplan production, 
which coincided with an assessment of the baseline conditions at the
site.

The evidence base collection included surveys covering matters 
relating to topography, ecology, ground conditions, highways and 
access, landscape, arboriculture, heritage, flood risk and drainage. 
These identified specific features and considered the potential 
impacts of development. A summary of this evidence is provided in 
Chapter 2.

The landowner meetings and evidence base collection was supported 
by direct engagement with a range of stakeholders, including Wyre 
council, Great Eccleston Parish Council, Great Eccleston Health 
Centre, Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 
Lancashire County Council Education, Highways Environmental 
Health and Drainage departments; United Utilities; Historic England 
and the Environment Agency.

These initial stages led to the identification of the constraints and 
opportunities for the site and the identification of different options 
and concepts for shaping the development.

The proposed vision and different development options / concepts 
were presented to the local community and their views and 
preferences sought. This community consultation was undertaken in 
the form of an exhibition held in Great Eccleston on 11th December
2018 and 10th January 2019. The consultation boards were 
available to view on the Council’s web site and at Great Eccleston 
Village Centre throughout the six week consultation period, which 
ran between 11th December 2018 until 22nd January. A copy of the 
consultation boards are attached at Appendix 1 and a summary of the 
feedback received and how this has influenced the final masterplan 
is provided at Appendix 2.

The feedback following the consultation exercise was analysed and 
informed further landowner / Council meetings where the masterplan 
principles were agreed. This formed the basis of the production of 
this masterplan document.

1.2 Production of the masterplan

P
age 43



4

The remainder of this masterplan takes the following structure.

Chapter 2 - provides a summary of the base line condition surveys 
and planning history, together with a summary of the key implications 
for the Masterplan.

Chapter 3 - sets out the planning policy context which both informed 
the Masterplan and will need to be considered by any subsequent 
planning applications. It also identifies the vision and objectives for 
the Masterplan.

Chapter 4 - sets out the Masterplan framework and development 
parameters to guide planning applications. It covers issues relating 
to land uses and scale, access and movement, green infrastructure, 
sustainable drainage and key development principles.

Chapter 5 - The delivery section of the masterplan is in two parts 
with Chapter 5 of this document providing some basic information 
only at this stage. A separate and more detailed part two delivery 
section is to be produced.

Landowner 
Meeting

Community 
Consultation

Landowner 
and Council 

Meetings

Masterplan
Completion

Stakeholder Meetings

Evidence
 Base 

Collection

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n What land uses need to be provided for?
Community Hall

The Great Eccleston Village Centre is a charitable 
organisation which currently leases 59 High Street 
in the village centre. This provides rooms and 
facilities for hire, from which activities such as yoga, 
language courses, pilates, coffee mornings and 
circuit training are provided.

The masterplan is to include land for a new 
Community Hall with car parking which should be 
sited in an accessible location for the whole of the 
village.

Housing
The local plan policy identifies an approximate capacity of 568 dwellings 
across the whole allocation area, which falls to 385 when excluding 
the Rowland Homes sites. However the final dwelling number will be 
dictated by a number of factors including:

• The remaining developable area taking into account the other land 
uses which need to be incorporated and any on-site constraints.

• The capacity of the highway network and other infrastructure.
• The preferred dwelling mix, with smaller properties resulting in higher 

densities.

The emerging Local Plan requires developments to make provision 
for an appropriate mix in terms of size, type and tenure of housing to 
meet identified housing need and local market demand. In order to 
help meet the needs of an ageing population and people with restricted 
mobility, at least 20% of dwellings within developments should also 
be of a design suitable or adaptable for older people and people with 
restricted mobility. Where appropriate, this housing will be located in 
the most accessible locations for services and facilities.

Local Plan policy also requires at least 30% of the proposed housing 
to take the form of affordable homes, which national planning policy 
defines as including starter homes, discounted market housing, 
affordable housing for rent and shared ownership.

Healthcare

The Masterplan needs to provide for the relocation of 
the existing health centre. The Flyde and Wyre Clinical 
Comissioning Group (CCG) have identified this as one of 
their top priorities and both the CCG and existing Health 
Centre have identified their preferred location as the east of 
the site adjacent to the proposed public footpath link through 
to the High Street. The CCG have funding in place and 
propose a new purpose built medical centre which would be 
approximately twice the size of the current practice and would 
incude a full on-site pharmacy, car parking, cycle shelters, 
drop off / pick up areas, an ambulance bay and area for the 
siting of mobile technology such as mobile breast screening 
units.

Employment

The developme nt  offers an opportunity 
to create a small  business park 
providing increased  employment 
opportunities. Local plan policy requires 
an employment area of approximately 
1 hectare to be included within the 
masterplan. A flexible development 
mix will be crucial to its success but it 
is envisaged that this would primarily 
comprise smaller scale workshops/
offices compatible with residential 
areas.

A prominent road frontage location 
close to the A586 and ease of access 
will be key to its success.

Education

The Local Plan and Wyre Infrastructure Delivery Plan identifies a requirement 
to reserve a 1.36ha site within the masterplan area for the provision of a 
new one form entry primary school. Lancashire County Council Education 
Authority have not expressed a preference regarding the location of the 
primary school, although they have advised against its location to the south 
of the site in close proximity to the existing schools. The examples shown 
today show how the school could be sited in different locations across the site. 
There is not a requirement for a new secondary school, although financial 
contributions will be required towards secondary education enhancement.

Retail
Great Eccleston has a defined village centre which acts 
as the heart of the settlement and has been ranked 
7th in the borough in terms of service and facilities. 
Nevertheless the local plan seeks to enhance the retail 
offering with provision to be made in the masterplan for a 
small convenience store of not more than 400 sq. metres.
Some stakeholders have indicated a preference to not 
create a village square which would compete with the 
existing village centre and to locate the convenience 
store to the north of the site to also serve Little Eccleston. 
One option may be to provide the store as part of a 
complementary use such as a petrol filling station, as this 
would provide a different service offering to the village 
centre. Such a use would need a frontage location along 
the A586. 

Board 7

Illustrative image

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Location of land uses - Concept B

One opportunity raised by some 
of the stakeholders was to 
locate all of the non-residential 
uses in the same location 
thereby potentially enabling 
some synergy, where  car 
parking and other facilities may 
be shared. The logical location 
for these uses would be the 
north eastern corner of the site 
where accessibility to the village 
is greatest. In this illustration   
this concept has been paired 
with Green Infrastructure 
concept 2 showing a village 
green, although other GI 
concepts would also work. As 
the employment area has been 
sited to the north east corner 
of the site it may be possible 
for this to have a direct access 
off the A586. Some concern 
has been expressed that this 
overall concept may create a 
new village core.

Board 9

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Potential Vehicular
Access

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field**Dovecote FieldExisting hedgerow enhanced 
to provide landscape buffer 
(indicative)

Spine Road location illustrative 
but will be wide enough for a bus

Residential parcels will have 
additional landscaping not 
shown on masterplan concepts

North / south pedestrian link set in 
open space alongside hedgerow

Enhanced boundary 
landscaping (indicative)

Enhancement of existing PROW 
providing access to village and 
countryside linked with Village 
Green. Also provide access to 
Village Hall and Medical Centre

Majority of open space 
in form of a village green

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

Employment area accessed 
off Garstang Road but school 
and retail accessed via 
internal spine road

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n What happens next?
Before the Great Eccleston Extension Masterplan is progressed further we would like to know your thoughts 
on the different design principles and concepts referred to at this consultation event. Your views are valued 
and so it is important that as many people give us their comments as possible. Other stakeholders are also 
being consulted, with some of the key issues including:

• Are there any other principle constraints or opportunities which need to be taken into account?
• Is the Masterplan vision supported?
• Will the identified key development principles deliver the vision?
• What is the preferred Green Infrastructure Strategy? 
• What is the preferred location for the different land uses?

What will happen to your feedback?

All feedback received to this exhibition will be collected by Wyre Borough Council and held in accordance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Wyre Borough Council Privacy Notice. In providing your details 
you give consent to the Council to process your personal data for the specific purpose of developing the 
Great Eccleston Extension Masterplan (for instance to clarify comments made if necessary). These details 
will not be shared with any third party without your consent. You do not need to provide your personal details 
if you do not want to. 

Copies of your comments will be provided to De Pol Associates, with all personal details redacted. De Pol 
Associates will analyse comments received for the purposes of informing the production of the Masterplan. 
Any comments you make may be summarised in subsequent public documents, although this will not 
contain any personal details.

All comments received to this exhibition will be considered and used to help inform the final masterplan 
proposals for the development of this site.

We ask that any comments are sent to us before 

5 pm on 22nd January 2019.

We would like to thank you for attending this exhibition. 

Sending us your comments

There are a number of ways in which you can comment on the exhibition material and masterplan, including:

• Completing and leaving a comment form with the exhibition team here today;

• Posting comments to Planning Policy, Wyre Council, Civic Centre, Breck Road, Poulton-le-Fylde, FY6 7PU

• Emailing comments to Wyre Borough Council at (planning.policy@wyre.gov.uk)

• Completing an on-line electronic form available on the Council’s web site www.wyre.gov.uk/masterplans

The consultation material, an on-line form and an editable electronic copy of the comments form can be 
accessed at www.wyre.gov.uk/masterplans

Board 11

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Location of land uses - Concept A

One concern raised by some 
stakeholders was a desire to 
avoid creating a new village core 
and as such one concept  for the 
masterplan could be to disperse 
the non-residential  uses across 
the site. This illustration shows 
the medical centre in the 
preferred location but split from 
the school and village hall by 
the central footpath link running 
through the site. The village hall 
and school are still shown close 
to this main footpath link to 
ensure ease of access from the 
village centre. The employment 
area and retail convenience 
store are shown located to the 
north east of the site where they 
would have main road frontage, 
although access would have to 
be via the main spine road rather 
than straight off the A586. This 
illustration has been paired with 
Green Infrastructure concept 1 
although it could be paired with 
any of the GI concepts.

Board 8

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Employment area and retail 
accessed via spine road rather 
than directly off Garstang Road

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

Existing hedgerow enhanced 
to provide landscape buffer 
(indicative)

Spine Road location illustrative 
but will be wide enough for a bus

Residential parcels will have 
additional landscaping not 
shown on masterplan concepts

North / south pedestrian link set in 
open space alongside hedgerow

Enhanced boundary 
landscaping (indicative)

Enhancement of existing PROW 
providing access to village and 
countryside but set in wider open 
space. Access provided to school, 
village hall and medical centre

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Location of land uses - Concept C

This concept is a mixture 
between the two previous 
concepts, where the medical 
centre, school and village hall 
are sited close to one another 
to create some synergy of 
uses and are sited close to the 
central footpath link running 
through the site. This will 
ensure ease of access from the 
village centre to these uses. 
However, the employment area 
and retail convenience store 
are shown located to the north 
east corner of the site. This 
illustration has been paired 
with Green Infrastructure 
concept 3, although again it 
could be paired with any of the 
GI concepts.

Board 10

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Potential Vehicular
Access

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential Vehicular
Access

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field**

Employment area and retail 
accessed via spine road rather 
than directly off Garstang Road

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

Existing hedgerow enhanced 
to provide landscape buffer 
(indicative)

Spine Road location illustrative 
but will be wide enough for a bus

Residential parcels will have 
additional landscaping not 
shown on masterplan concepts

North / south pedestrian link set in 
open space alongside hedgerow

Enhanced boundary 
landscaping (indicative)

Enhancement of existing PROW 
through site providing access to 
Village and Countryside and links 
would be available with the School, 
Village Hall and Medical Centre

Green buffer to
northern boundary

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

1.3 Structure of the masterplan

P
age 44



Page intentionally blankP
age 45



02SITE CONTEXT AND ANALYSIS

S E C T I O N

P
age 46



02

5

SI
TE

 C
O

N
TE

XT
 &

 A
N

AL
YS

IS A wide range of technical studies have been 
undertaken to establish the baseline conditions for 
the masterplan area.

The technical studies provide an in-depth appraisal of the site, its 
context and the constraints and opportunities which influence the 
development of the site. This evidence has formed the foundation for
the masterplan and is summarised in this chapter, together with the 
relevant planning history of the site and other matters affecting the 
developable area. Subsequent planning applications relating to the 
masterplan area will still have to be supported by relevant detailed 
technical surveys.

Great Eccleston sits within the coastal plain east of Poulton-le-
Fylde, south of the A586. Based on the 2011 census the village 
and the surrounding area has a population of nearly 1,500, 
accounting for approximately 1.4% of the total population in the 
administrative borough of Wyre.

There is a village centre to the north east of the Masterplan area 
which acts as the heart of the village and has a strong service 
and facilities offer. Existing facilities within the village include a 
supermarket, doctor, dentist and pharmacy, primary schools, post 
office, newsagent and other convenience shopping, together 
with a village and community centre, scout hut, churches, public 
houses and eating establishments.

There is an area of employment accessed off the High Street 
and Back Lane that provides a range of small industrial units, 
whilst the health and education sectors, private and retail service 
providers and other local businesses provide further employment 
opportunities. There is a village cricket club, football pitches and 
bowling clubs. There is also an annual agricultural show every 
July, together with a monthly farmers market and weekly general 
market held within the village centre.

Great Eccleston is one of the three main rural settlements in the 
Borough with the most service provision and it serves the wider 
rural area.

2.1 Introduction 2.2 Existing Service Provision

P
age 47



6

Figure 2: Existing Service Provision

Village Centre

Schools

Medical Facilities

Leisure Facilities

Employment area

Great Eccleston 
Health Centre

St. Mary’s Catholic 
Primary School

Cricket Club

Allocation SA3/3

Allocation SA3/3

Bowls Club

Great Eccleston 
Pre-School

Great Eccleston Copp 
C of E Church and 
Primary School 

Key

 
 

 

 

 C
O

P P  L A
N

E

  
G A R S T A N G  R O A D              G A R S T A N G  R O A D

P
age 48



Allocation SA3/3 is sited to the western edge of Great Eccleston, south of the 
A586 Garstang Road and extends to 33.7ha. It encompasses a variety of fields 
and sites in different land ownership, some of which already have planning 
permission or are the subject of live planning applications. The most relevant 
planning history is highlighted below.

Land south of West End

A full planning application has been submitted by Property Capital plc for the 
residential development of a parcel of land to the south of West End and Pinfold 
House for the development of 13 dwellings, public open space, landscaping and 
associated infrastructure (Council ref. 18/00540/FULMAJ).

Whilst the majority of the site is within allocation SA3/3, some of the red edge 
application boundary includes adjacent land so as to enable access directly 
off High Street. The determination of this application has been postponed to 
allow for the outcome of the masterplan process, although the proposed access 
arrangement has been confirmed as being acceptable in principle by the Local 
Highway Authority. The masterplan area has been expanded to acknowledge 
the proposed development at West End.

2.3 Planning History

7

Figure 3: 18/00540 Location Plan

6

P
age 49



8

Land south of Copp Lane

The northern parcel of land to the south of Copp Lane has both outline and 
reserved matters approval for 90 dwellings, comprising a mixture of 2,3,4 and 5
bedroom semi-detached and detached houses. 30% of these (27 dwellings) are 
to take the form of affordable housing. The reserved matters approval (Council 
ref. 16/00973/REMMAJ) includes the provision of a public car park to the north 
west corner of the site, with 26 parking spaces and pedestrian access onto the 
Copp Lane footway. This could be used as additional parking for the village 
centre. This development is already underway by Rowland Homes.

The southern parcel of land south of Copp Lane has outline and reserved matters 
approval for 93 dwellings and up to 850sq m of D1 use, which was intended for
a health centre and was to be sited in the south west corner of the site. The 
reserved matters approval (Council ref. 18/01079/RELMAJ) excludes the D1 
use and permits a mixture of 2,3,4 and 5 bedroom semi-detached and detached 
housing within the remaining area. 30% of the housing (28 dwellings) are to 
comprise affordable housing.

The part of the site approved for housing is being developed by Rowland Homes. 
The land approved for a D1 use is still available for development and has yet to 
obtain reserved matters approval.

Figure 4: Approved Site Layout for development south of Copp Lane

 

 

C
O

P
P

 L A
N

E
   

 

 

 

 

 

C
O

P
P

 L A N E 

Land reserved 
for cat. D1 use

Southern parcel 
approval ref: 18/01079

Northern parcel 
approval ref: 16/00973

P
age 50



9

2.4 Heritage Assets 2.5 Masterplan Developable Area
There are two heritage assets within or adjacent to the Masterplan 
area. One is a small 17th Century Dovecote which is a Grade II 
Listed Scheduled Monument located within the field to the north 
of Copp Lane, highlighted green in Fig 5. It comprises a small 
tower structure of square plan built of brick with a slated pyramid 
roof topped by a brick lantern / cupola with leaded ogee cap 
and pinnacle. Historic research suggest the dovecote was once 
part of the Leckonby House estate. A degree of significance 
was lost when C20th housing was built on part of the large field 
the dovecote originally occupied, including obstruction of views 
when proceeding out of Great Eccleston westwards along Copp 
Lane. It also detached it from Leckonby House. The building 
does, however, remain visible from Copp Lane and conserving 
these views of the building is a primary aim for conserving the 
building’s significance and setting. The boundaries to the field 
in which it is located are largely defined by existing trees and 
hedgerows.

17th Century Dovecote

Listed Pinfold

Listed Church of St. Anne

As the land to the south of Copp Lane benefits from full planning 
permission the development of this part of allocation SA3.3 is 
already fixed and thus is not subject to the requirements of this 
masterplan. The exception is the 0.299ha area of land which 
has outline permission for a health centre, as the landowner has 
confirmed that this part of the site is available for an alternative 
use if considered preferable.

To preserve the setting of the Grade II Listed Dovecote and in 
light of the fact that the landowner is not putting forward the land 
for development, the field shaded green on Fig 5 is to remain 
undeveloped.

The planning application on land south of West End has 
also established that an access serving a limited amount of 
development can be provided off High Street. This creates 
opportunities to provide additional pedestrian and cycle links 
to the village centre whilst also avoiding the need to remove 
existing trees along the field boundary. The removal of trees may 
be necessary should vehicular access to this area be provided 
through the main body of the allocated site. The masterplan 
boundary has therefore been extended beyond that shown on 
the Local Plan policies map to allow such an access.

Consequently, whilst the Local Plan allocation area is 33.7 ha the 
actual remaining developable area taking into account the above 
factors is approximately 22.6 ha.

The second heritage asset is a Grade II Listed Pinfold located 
to the east of the Masterplan area adjacent to West End and 
High Street, within the grounds of number 41 High Street. This 
is currently outside but adjacent to the allocated site area as 
defined in the Local Plan. 

The Grade II listed Church of St. Anne is also located approximately 
400m south of the site at Copp. This is unlikely to be affected by 
the development.

8

P
age 51



10

Figure 5: Masterplan Developable Area

Approved reserved matters 
applications:
16/00973/REMMAJ and 
18/01079REMMAJ

Approximate location of current 
allocated site boundary

Dovecote
Developable 
Area

Pinfold

PUBLIC OPEN
SPACE

Existing Pond

Attenuation
Basin

PUBLIC OPEN
SPACE

Attenuation
Basin

Stump

Bushes

Bush
Bush

Bush
Stump

Stump
Stump

Stump

P/
M

P/M
 Fe

nc
e

P/M Fence

P/M Fence

C/B Fence

P/M Fence

Debris
Tree

P/
W

 F
en

ce

P/M

P/W

Gate

N

BE
L

HA

K

K

K

W
AL

W
AL

BE
L

K

K
W

A
L

K

BR

G

G G G

G G

L
L

G
G

L
L

L
L

L
L

G
G

G

BO
N

W
A

L

BR BEL
HA

V
V

BEL

RE

RE
M

91

92

93

94

95

96
97

98

99

100

101
102

103
104

105

106

107
108

109

110

111

112

113
114 115 116 117

118

119

120

121

122

123

124

125

126

127

128

W
AL

129

HA

130
131

BE
L

A
A

132

133

134

135

BE
L

136

137

A

A

A

RE

BR

138

139

140 141

S

142

143

RE
BR 145

144146

BE
L

147

148

S

151

149

150

155

154

153

152

BON

HA

W
AL

169

168

S

157

156S

WAL

RE

S

167

166

165164

162

161

160

A

BEL

159

158

RE

HA

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

170
171

172
173

174
175

176

WAL

163

M

WAL

B
M

B

EP

PUBLIC OPEN
SPACE

Pumping
Station

Attenuation
Basin

Existing Pond

V
V

L
L

L

V
V

G
G

G
G

L
L

HA

119 120

S

BON

PROPOSED PUMPING
STATION

Easement for Existing Sewers

Land Reserved for
D1 Use

2.4 x 43m VISIBILITY SPLAYS C O
 P

 P
    

  L
 A

 N
 E

ELECTRIC
SUB-STATION

GAS GOVERNOR &
PARKING SPACE

Pond

2

Lyndale Beechlyn

18.0m

1

Beechfield

EXISTING FOLIAGE TO BE CUT
BACK TO SITE BOUNDARY

EXISTING FOLIAGE
TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING FOLIAGE TO BE CUT
BACK TO SITE BOUNDARY

EXISTING FOLIAGE TO BE CUT
BACK TO SITE BOUNDARY &
TREE DEBRIS REMOVED

EXISTING FOLIAGE TO BE CUT
BACK TO SITE BOUNDARY

EXISTING FOLIAGE TO BE CUT
BACK TO SITE BOUNDARY

REMOVE ANY BARBED WIRE FROM EXISTING
SITE BOUNDARY FENCING, REPAIR &
REPLACE EXISTING SITE BOUNDARY
FENCING WHERE NECESSARY

REMOVE ANY BARBED WIRE FROM EXISTING
SITE BOUNDARY FENCING, REPAIR & REPLACE
EXISTING SITE BOUNDARY FENCING WHERE
NECESSARY

HEDGE REMOVED TO ACCOMMODATE
VISIBILITY SPLAYS & 2.0m WIDE FOOTWAY

EP EP

EP

EP

EP

Attenuation
Basin

GAP UP EXISTING HEDGE WHERE NECESSARY

GAP UP EXISTING HEDGE WHERE NECESSARY

PORTABLE BALL
STOP CRICKET
NETTING

EXISTING HEDGE, ETC., TO BE RETAINED

KEY

900mm POST & RAIL FENCE TO
SEPARATE DETAIL - S.D.21

1.8m HIGH TIMBER SCREEN FENCE TO
SEPARATE DETAIL - S.D.1

SHARED DRIVES

1.8m HIGH SCREEN WALL TO SEPARATE
DETAIL - S.D.46

0.45m HIGH KNEE RAIL TIMBER FENCE
TO SEPARATE DETAIL - S.D.23

DENOTES HANDED PROPERTIES

EXISTING HEDGE TO BE REMOVED

EXISTING TREES TO BE RETAINED -
EXISTING TREES WITHIN SITE & ON SITE
BOUNDARIES TO BE TRIMMED

EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED

ROOT PROTECTION AREA (RPA) OF
EXISTING TREE

For landscape details refer to separate
Landscape Proposals

INDICATIVE NEW TREE PLANTING

REV.
DATE

DRAWN

SCALE

PROJECT

DRAWING

DRAWING No.

REV DESCRIPTION DATE

Tel: 01772 621166  Fax: 01772 623552   www.rowland.co.uk
Leyland, Lancashire PR25 4UA

Farington House, Stanifield Business Park, Stanifield Lane,
Rowland Homes Limited

COLOURED LAYOUT

THORNE MEADOWS Ph. II, COPP LANE

R094/1
RHL

OCT '18

1:500 @ A1

P
age 52



11

2.6 Site Access and Movement
A586 Garstang Road

The northern boundary of the site adjoins the A586 Garstang 
Road, which is a strategic county road linking the A585 trunk 
road and Poulton, Thornton and Fleetwood in the west, with St 
Michael’s, Garstang and the A6 in the east and the M6 beyond. 
The A586 is of varying standards along its length, however, in the 
vicinity of the site it takes the form of a wide single carriageway 
some 10m in width subject to a 50mph speed limit. It is also 
a major bus route, the no. 42 bus running between Blackpool 
& Garstang. Bus stops are located within 90 metres of the site 
boundary, which are accessible by footways provided to both sides 
of the highway. These footpaths connect to High Street (B5293) 
approximately 300 metres to the east of the site boundary, which 
in turn connect to the village centre. The footpaths along High 
Street are intermittent until they reach West End. To the north of 
the A586 there is also a segregated cycleway.

There are existing agricultural access points onto the site off the 
A586, although an access to serve the proposed development 
would be restricted to the eastern half of the northern boundary. 
This is in part due to an existing commitment for the creation of a 
pedestrian refuge island and a right turn lane associated with an 
approved housing development at Little Eccleston to the north 
of the site. The approximate location of the committed refuge 
islands is shown on fig 6.

In addition to the aforementioned no. 42 bus services, other 
bus services along the A586 include the no. 76 and 77 between 
Preston, Lytham and Blackpool, together with several school 
services. 

West End / High Street

West End serves some properties to the north east of the 
masterplan area, providing access onto High Street, although 
it is unsuitable as a vehicular access point for the masterplan 
area. By extending the masterplan area in the manner previously 
referred, part of the site adjoins High Street enabling a direct 
vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access point.

Feedback from the Local Highway Authority identifies a need for 
a single access point off the A586 to the north and a single access 
off Copp Lane to the south, connected by a spine road capable 
of accommodating bus services. Live planning application 
18/00540/FULMAJ considers that the access from High Street 
should only serve a limited number of dwellings, in line with this 
the submitted application proposes 13.

Public Rights of Way (PRoW) 

PRoW (2-13-FP 11) dissects the northern part of the allocation 
in an east to west direction, connecting a wider PRoW network 
within the countryside to the west and with West End to the east. 
This in turn connects onto High Street and a PRoW network to 
the north of the village.

Copp Lane

Copp Lane dissects the allocation site and carries mainly local 
traffic travelling between Great Eccleston and the settlements 
of Elswick and Kirkham, together with J3 of the M55. The road 
has a carriageway width of between 6 and 7.3 metres along the 
stretch adjoining the Masterplan area. There are footways on 
the south side of the road which lead to the Great Eccleston 
Copp Church of England Church and Primary School to the 
south and Great Eccleston village centre to the north. As Copp 
Lane approaches the village centre the highway cross-section 
changes, where the carriageway width reduces and the footway 
provision is intermittent over short lengths. This arrangement 
was considered appropriate when the development to the south 
of Copp Lane was approved, although there will be a need to 
ensure pedestrian accessibility through the centre of the site to 
provide more options for enhancing connectivity with the village 
centre.

Copp Lane has a system of street lighting and is subject to a 
speed limit of 30mph where it passes the site. Copp Lane is a 
bus route where the no. 77a provides services between Preston 
and Myerscough. There are also school services. Bus stops 
are located close to the site boundary. It is also part of the LCC 
Northern Loop cycle route. As highlighted the approved residential 
development to the south of Copp Lane is already committed to 
widening the footpath along the southern side of Copp Lane and 
the provision of bus stops as detailed in the associated s278 
works.

NE Viewpoint along Copp Lane NE Viewpoint along High StreetE Viewpoint along Garstang Road

P
age 53



12

Figure 6: Site Access and Movement

Public Right of Way

Existing Cycle Way 
and LCC Northern 
Loop Cycle Route

Existing footpath to 
be widened as part 
of existing Rowland 
Homes development

Vehicular Route

Already committed 
pedestrian refuge 
island
Site boundary

Bus Stop

A586 Garstang Road

High Street

West End

H
all Lane

South St.

Cop
p L

an
e

Key

P
age 54



13

2.7 Topography / Ground Conditions 2.8 Ecology and Trees
A Geo-Environmental Assessment report has been undertaken 
by Brownfield Solutions Ltd, whilst TriCad Solutions have 
produced a full topographical survey of the site. In summary, 
Great Eccleston lies within a wider area that is relatively flat 
although the land to the north of Copp Lane is located in a minor 
valley to the west of the village. There is a drainage ditch running 
through the centre of the land, adjacent to the PRoW, with the 
fields to the north sloping gently downwards towards this central 
drainage ditch. The southern fields are relatively flat. Other than 
the land already being developed to the south of Copp Lane, 
the masterplan area is largely under agricultural production with 
arable land and pasture, mostly medium in scale and enclosed 
by hedgerows and some hedgerow trees. The site does not lie 
within a Source Protection Zone and there are no groundwater 
abstraction licences within 2000m of the site. The site is not 
located in an area requiring radon precautions, it is outside the 
area of a designated coalfield and aside from historic farming 
processes there is no potential contaminative sources onsite. 
The risk from made ground to site end users is considered to be 
low. The risk to controlled waters is considered to be very low.

There are currently some overhead telecommunications over the 
south west corner of the site that may need to be relocated or 
altered. There is no record of higher voltage electricity assets or 
high pressure gas pipelines within the site. It is understood that 
there may be a private water supply and some electricity power 
lines through the north east corner of the site.

The site topography to the east of the site is relatively flat.

There are a number of ditches that cross the site but they are 
generally suboptimal for water voles and there are no historic 
records of this species in the general area. The Masterplan could 
nevertheless still seek to retain these ditches with an appropriate
buffer.

Whilst the site is within 3.5km of the Morecambe Bay European 
protected nature conservation site no significant populations of 
important bird species have been recorded and there would be 
no direct impact on the conservation site due to the distance 
involved and the presence of other houses and major roads 
between the proposed development and conservation area. 
Nevertheless, home owner packs for future home owners will 
highlight the sensitivity of the site to recreational disturbance in 
accordance with the Key Development Considerations set out in
Local Plan policy. Consideration will need to be given to the need 
for a Habitat Regulation Assessment at the relevant Planning 
application stages.

In summary, the ecology surveys have identified onsite areas of 
Category A and Category B habitat (Fig 7). Category A habitat 
comprises the ditches, trees, hedgerows and existing ponds 
identified as being of higher ecological value. This habitat is to 
be retained as a priority and incorporated into a wildlife corridor. 
Category B habitat comprises other hedgerows and trees within 
the site which are to be retained wherever possible. This includes 
the existing hedgerow along the northern boundary adjacent to 
the A586. TPO trees are to be retained. The rest of the site is of 
negligible to low ecological value. Additional detail can be found 
in an ecological note in Appendix 3..

Bio-ecological consultancy Cameron S. Crook & Associates 
have undertaken an Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey & 
Baseline Ecological Impact Assessment. There are no ecological 
designations within the masterplan area and the vast majority 
of the site comprises agricultural grassland which is of limited 
ecological value. There are two ponds on site although surveys 
found no Great Crested Newt presence on or off-site. Surveys 
didn’t record many overwintering birds and none in significant 
numbers. Whilst all birds are protected during the breeding 
season, no specifically protected species such as barn owl were 
recorded, though several UK Priority Species such as hedge 
sparrow, house sparrow, song thrush, reed bunting and starling, 
were recorded and should be allowed for in mitigation proposals. 
Mitigation proposals will include avoidance of the breeding 
season when carrying out initial site works and retention of 
ponds and hedgerows within a suitable buffer of open space 
along with supplementary planting with native trees and shrubs 
where appropriate.

There are several trees on site that have both ecological and 
arboricultural value, including a number of group TPO and 
individual TPO trees. These are mostly situated within the hedge-
lines and on field boundaries and are largely within the Category 
A and B habitat identified in Fig 7. There are also hedges along 
almost every field boundary, although the majority are of limited 
ecological value and none qualify as Important Hedges in respect 
of the Hedgerow Regulations.

Photo point A: Existing ditch adjacent to PROW Photo point B: Aerial site view Photo point C: Aerial view of existing pond

P
age 55



14

Figure 7: topography, ecology and trees

Wildlife corridor

Category A Habitat
(ditches, trees, hedgerows and ponds of 
higher ecological value)

Category B Habitat
(existing trees and hedgerows of lower 
ecological value)

Site boundary

Overground 
Telecommunications cable

Notes:
Contours are presented at 1m 
intervals. Not all of the development 
site has contour data.

Tree Preservation Order 
Trees & Groups
(Indicative only. Developers will need to 
refer to detailed Council records)

Existing pond

Existing Telecommunications 
pole

Photo points A-C

Key

A

A

C

B

P
age 56



15

2.9 Flood Risk and Drainage
Ironside Farrar have undertaken a Floor Risk and Drainage appraisal of 
the site. There is an existing ditch running from east to west through the 
centre of the site which continues to run to the south west and flows to 
Thistleton Brook and eventually to the River Wyre. The ditch has a track to 
the northern side that runs from High Street to the western boundary and 
is lined with hedges and trees. The topographical survey shows the ditch is 
up to approximately 1m deep and falls from 13.50m in the east to 10.00m 
at the western boundary. The site falls towards the ditch from Copp Lane 
on the southern boundary and from the A586 along the northern boundary. 

Examination of the Environment Agency Flood Risk Map shows the site 
is located in Flood Zone 1, Land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual 
probability of river or sea flooding. Potential surface water flooding is 
indicated, as expected, along the existing ditch line; the site is outside the 
extent of flooding from reservoir failure. The flood risk from other sources 
is considered low.

A site investigation has been undertaken by Brownfield Solutions. The 
ground conditions have confirmed that underlying the topsoil is a generally 
firm brown sandy gravelly clay, with frequent sand bands in the upper 
3.00m. Below this depth the clay was generally stiff. These conditions were 
found across the site during the windowless sampling, trial pitting and cable 
percussive drilling down to a maximum depth of 6.50m bgl. It is therefore 
unlikely the site will be suitable for the use of infiltration techniques.

The use of infiltration is not suitable so the discharge of residual surface 
water to the watercourse is appropriate for the site and in line with the key 
development considerations of Local Plan policy SA3/3. The ditch running 
through the site from east to west offers an outfall point for development on 
the site and the location of on-line attenuation basins to the north and south 
of the ditch, close to the western boundary would be appropriate. This is 
the lowest area of the site with natural falls towards the western boundary; 
levels adjacent to the ditch will need to be raised to ensure connections into 
and out of the basins and the watercourse can be achieved with appropriate 
freeboard. It is envisaged that there will be new attenuation ponds rather 
than relying on the use of existing ponds for SuDS. A detailed drainage 
scheme will need to be provided at the relevant planning application stage, 
which will need to take into account Local plan Policy CMDP2.

There are presently no public foul sewers crossing or immediately adjacent 
to the site. United Utilities have confirmed that foul will be allowed to drain 
to the public combined / foul sewer network to the north of the site  running 
along Butts Lane. Applicants must agree discharge rates with United 
Utilities. Given the size of the development United Utilities would prefer 
a solution to be developed for the entire site so that only one centralised 
pumping station is needed ensuring that all future parcels / developers have 
access to drain to it by gravity. On this basis a pumping station located in 
the area of the attenuation basins would be appropriate to serve the whole 
of the site. 

2.10 Watercourse Plan

* Existing Ditch 
through site

Proposed 
Pumping Station

Butts Lane 
combined 
sewer

Figure 8: Watercourse & foul drainage plan

P
age 57



16

2.11  Landscape and Visual
 Assessment / Views
FPCR, who are a multi-disciplinary environmental consultancy, 
have undertaken a landscape and visual appraisal of the site.

The site and immediate context is not considered to be of 
particular scenic value. It is an area of improved pasture 
land containing few features of intrinsic landscape interest 
and is influenced by its location at the edge of a village, with 
20th century dwellings and a caravan site to the north, east 
and south. It is not a rare landscape type, with the existing 
hedgerows, trees and ponds not being unusual features or 
particularly important examples. 

The listed Dovecote is sited within a field to be kept free from 
development and is surrounded by tall hedges which should 
be retained and enhanced. Whilst there are some other listed 
buildings within Great Eccleston and at Copp village, none are 
close enough to have a relationship with the site.

The site is well contained visually by both perimeter, internal and 
localised vegetation, topography and by the built development 
of Great Eccleston, Copp and Elswick. As a result only short 
distance views of the site are possible from a narrow range of 
directions and mainly from Copp Lane, Garstang Road and the 
PRoW within and close to the site.

There are some views from the PRoW within the site and the 
wider periphery, although views from further away are broken 
due to intervening vegetation and topography and these are 
already seen in the context of Great Eccleston. Additional 
landscaping along the western site boundary would help soften 
these views across open farmland. 

There are no important views from within the site which need 
to be preserved.

The existing hedgerows along Garstand Road and Copp Lane 
restrict views across the site from road level and should be 
retained where possible.  

Existing residents will experience some views across the 
site from the rear of their properties and boundary planting in 
addition to the existing vegetation will provide further mitigation.

Change description of photo to view from outside the site 
looking north.

Further details of the landscape and visual impact are included 
in Appendix 4.

View to the north

P
age 58



 Village Centre

The Village Centre is made up of a core of older, more traditional buildings facing inwards, forming 
a traditional market square. The peripharies of the Village Centre typically comprises of smaller 
traditional housing.  There are also elements of more contemporary construction present in the Village 
Centre however, it largely draws its design cues from the more traditional elements.

Low Density Fringe

Located to the east of the Village Centre, there is a conurbation of mid-20th century bungalows and 
other low density housing providing a softer interface with the surrounding countryside. Over time 
since their construction, some of the bungalows have been demolished and replaced with more 
contemporary 2 storey houses that provide a varied and disjointed street scene.

Garstang Road Entrance

To the west of Great Eccleston, accessed from the adjacent Garstang Road, the Entrance grouping 
connecting Garstang Road with the Village Centre comprises an eclectic mix of building types, 
classifications and ages, with contemporary developments being added to the older building stock 
as the settlement has grown. The character and design ethos has largely been retained throughout.

Residential Core

Primarily comprising of late-20th Century semi-detached two storey dwellings, the Residential Core, 
located to the east of the Village Centre and south of the Low Density Fringe, establishes a higher 
density population centre for Great Eccleston and the surrounding hamlets. Given the urban spread 
of this character area over time, there are several different styles and scale of dwelling.

2.12 Townscape Analysis

17

Village Centre character area Low Density Fringe character area

Residential Core character area Garstang Road / West End Entrance  
character area

P
age 59



18

2.13 Implications for the Masterplan
 ■ The approved Rowland Homes housing development is not 

subject to the terms of the masterplan and the developable 
area is reduced by the constraints identified.

 ■ There are two primary access points, one off A586 and one 
off Copp Lane, which must be connected by a spine road 
suitable for bus services. Secondary vehicular access off 
High Street is available but the amount of development it can 
serve is limited.

 ■ The Dovecote and Pinfold heritage assets are to be retained 
and there is to be no development on the Dovecote field, 
whilst the existing hedgerows on its western and northern 
boundaries are to be retained and supplemented to increase 
the visual barrier with the proposed development.

 ■ The ditch, hedgerow and trees running through the centre 
of the site and other identified Category A habitat is to be 
retained as a wildlife corridor.

 ■ Category B hedgerows and trees within the site are to be 
retained where possible, which will also break up the form 
of built development and provide a framework for green 
infrastructure across the site. 

 ■ TPO trees are to be retained and protected.

 ■ There are opportunities to enhance biodiversity through the 
creation of ponds/SuDS features, new natural / seminatural 
green space and landscaping.

 ■ The existing PRoW through the centre of the site is to be 
retained, with an enhanced footpath / cycle link provided in 
this location linking the site to the village centre via West End 
/ High Street.

 ■ The existing hedgerow to the north of the site alongside the 
A586 is to be retained other than where needed to create 
access into the site.

 ■ A detailed drainage strategy will need to be submitted 
at the relevant application stage. Sustainable drainage 
techniques (SuDS) utilising the existing watercourses must 
be incorporated into the scheme, with the preferred location 
for attenuation ponds being the centre of the site adjacent to 
the existing ditch. A pumping station will be required and the 
preference is for a single pumping station serving the entire 
masterplan area.

 
 ■ The western boundary of the site is the most sensitive in 

visual impact terms and will need some landscaped buffering 
to create a sensitive transition between the built development 
and rural edge.

 ■ There are existing houses and a caravan park adjacent to 
parts of the Masterplan boundaries and their amenities will 
need to be appropriately preserved.

 ■ There are no insurmountable obstacles with regards to 
topography and ground conditions although some overhead 
telecommunications may need to be relocated or altered. 
There may also be a private water main and electricity assets 
within the north east corner of the site which will need to be 
considered.

 ■ The existing village architecture provides a basis for 
developing a mixture of building types and designs that will 
contribute to the development of an organic extension to the 
village.

 ■ Planning applications will need to consider whether the 
development would have an impact on the Morecambe 
Bay SPA and will need to include any necessary mitigation 
measures if relevant.

P
age 60



Category A Habitat to be retained.

Category B Habitat to be retained
where possible.

Existing watercourse

Existing listed dovecote and Pinfold.
(Land to remain undeveloped)

Undeveloped land

Proposed watercourse

Approved Housing Site

Possible Primary and secondary
access points.

Existing Ponds.

Views out.

Existing Buildings

Views into site from Public
Right of way.

Existing ditch

Existing ditch

GARSTANG RD

Bowling green

Existing 
Employment areaApproved Housing

Site

Existing village 
centre

Existing cricket
ground

FP26

FP26

Copp Lane

FP11

A586

Category A Habitat to be retained.

Category B Habitat to be retained
where possible.

Existing watercourse

Existing listed dovecote and Pinfold.
(Land to remain undeveloped)

Undeveloped land

Proposed watercourse

Approved Housing Site

Possible Primary and secondary
access points.

Existing Ponds.

Views out.

Existing Buildings

Views into site from Public
Right of way.

Existing ditch

Existing ditch

GARSTANG RD

Bowling green

Existing 
Employment areaApproved Housing

Site

Existing village 
centre

Existing cricket
ground

FP26

FP26

Copp Lane

FP11

A586

19

Category A Habitat to be retained.

Category B Habitat to be retained
where possible.

Existing watercourse

Existing listed dovecote and Pinfold.
(Land to remain undeveloped)

Undeveloped land

Proposed watercourse

Approved Housing Site

Possible Primary and secondary
access points.

Existing Ponds.

Views out.

Existing Buildings

Views into site from Public
Right of way.

Existing ditch

Existing ditch

GARSTANG RD

Bowling green

Existing 
Employment areaApproved Housing

Site

Existing village 
centre

Existing cricket
ground

FP26

FP26

Copp Lane

FP11

A586

Figure 9: Constraints & Opportunities Plan

Key

Approved Housing 
Development

Main views 
into site

New surface 
water basins

Potential 
Housing

Existing ponds 
to be retained

Create wildlife 
corridor

Sensitive 
Boundary

Retain and enhance 
existing hedgerow 
as visual barrier 
between dovecote and 
development

Pedestrian / cycle / 
emergency access 
point

Create footpath and 
cycleway along existing 
PROW maintining link 
between village and 
countryside

Spine road suitable 
for bus route

Sensitive visual Boundary

Sensitive visual Boundary

Main views 
into site

Heritage Assets: Dovecote & Pinfold

Existing listed Dovecote Field
(Land to remain undeveloped)

Proposed Spine Road         

Butts Lane combined sewer

TPO protected trees

P
age 61



03PLANNING POLICY, VISION AND OBJECTIVES

S E C T I O N

P
age 62



20

03
PL

AN
N

IN
G

 P
O

LI
C

Y

The Wyre Local Plan allocates land West of Great Eccleston for mixed use development 
(Policy SA3/3) incorporating residential development, 1 hectare of employment land, a 
new medical centre, primary school, small convenience store and community centre. 
The capacity of the residential component is a minimum of 568 dwellings which can be 
exceeded if in line with the policies of the Local Plan. Policy SA3/3 identifies a number 
of ‘key development considerations’, which are set out on the right. 

Policy SA3/3 Key Development Considerations’

1. The site is to be bought forward in line with a 
masterplan to be produced covering the whole 
site. The masterplan must be agreed by the 
local planning authority prior to the granting of 
planning permission for any part of the site.

2. A through vehicular route from Copp Lane to 
the A586 will be required.

3. Development should be supported by a 
landscape and green infrastructure framework 
incorporating structured tree planning, on-site 
open space to include formal and informal play 
and pedestrian and cycle connectivity within 
and where possible outside the site and in 
particular with the village centre.

4. The design of the development should provide 
an ‘organic’ extension to the village. It should 
utilise important key vistas into the adjoining 
open countryside and provide a rural transition 
zone between the development and the wider 
countryside. Particular attention should be 
given to the nature and quality of boundary 
treatments.

5. Residual surface water should drain into 
the River Wyre (near Cartford Bridge) via 
Thistleton Brook and existing watercourses. 
Improvements to existing watercourses will be 
required.

6. The site does not have any nature conservation 
designations. Potential ecological impacts 
should be considered due to the greenfield 
nature of the site and important features such 
as hedgerows, trees and ponds. A project level 
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) may be 
required. 

7. The site is located within 3.5km of Morecambe 
Bay European protected nature conservation 
site and home owner packs for future 
home owners highlighting the sensitivity of 
Morecambe Bay to recreational disturbance 
will be required.

8. The development should include a new primary 
school, health centre, community hall and 
a small local convenience store of not more 
than 400sq. m gross floor area. The location of 
these facilities should be determined through 
the masterplan to maximise their accessibility 
by new and existing residents and the benefits 
of co-location such as shared car parking.

9. A Dovecote situated within the site to the north 
of Copp Lane is a Scheduled Monument and 
Grade II listed building. An appropriate buffer 
will be required to protect its setting.

10. The site contains overhead electricity 
infrastructure, including pylons. Statutory 
safety clearances between overhead lines, 
the ground, and built structures should not be 
infringed.

11. The following should be taken 
into account in preparing the 
masterplan and planning application:  
a) A Grade II listed Pinfold is located on 
the eastern edge of the site (south of High 
Street) and the Grade II listed Church of St 
Anne, is located south of the site at Copp. 
b) A Public Right of Way (2-13-FP 11) runs east 
to west through the site to the north of Copp 
Lane.   

3.1 Local plan Policy SA3/3

Local Plan allocation SA3/3

P
age 63



21

3.3 Masterplan Vision

3.4 Masterplan Objectives

To create an organic extension to Great Eccleston that is integrated into the 
existing village fabric in terms of design and layout, including pedestrian and 
cycle connectivity to key local facilities. The development will provide a mix of 
employment, retail and community uses to support the new growth. They will also 
enhance the sustainability of the village. It will contain a mix of integrated green 
spaces that will provide formal and informal recreation opportunities whilst creating 
a soft transition between the new development and surrounding countryside.

1. To create a sustainable extension to Great 
Eccleston which is integrated socially and 
physically with the existing village and promotes 
heathy and active communities, maximising 
opportunities to enhance the quality of life for 
future and existing residents and respecting 
the built heritage of the area and its setting.

2. To build a range of homes of different types, 
sizes and tenures to meet the needs of different 
sections of the community and create a varied 
and attractive environment.

3. To provide a range of non-residential uses 
which complement the existing provision 
in Great Eccleston and contribute towards 
servicing the needs of, and strengthening, the 
local community.

4. Create a movement network for pedestrians 
and cyclists that promotes safe connectivity 
with the village and surrounding countryside, 
taking the opportunity to enhance and improve 
access to existing public rights of way. 

5. To secure a safe, desirable, healthy and 
inclusive place to live though the provision 
of accessible streets and open spaces with 
natural surveillance.

6. Ensure the safe movement of traffic and other 
road users, which is fully integrated with the 
movement network for pedestrians and cyclists.

7. To manage surface water run-off through a 
coordinated network of sustainable drainage 
(SuDS) techniques which are integrated into, 
and enhance, the green infrastructure network.

8. To use the existing site characteristics, retaining 
important ecological and landscape features 
with the aim of establishing and preserving 
functional ecological habitats and networks 
which facilitate the movement of species 
and populations and protect the Borough’s 
biodiversity. In line with Local Plan policy 
CDMP4, provide net biodiversity gain where 
possible.

9. To consider phasing options to provide the 
appropriate level of services and facilities to 
support residents as the scheme is built over 
time.

10. Produce a high quality and safe public realm that 
includes landscaping and green infrastructure 
serving both the future residents and the wider 
village. Delivering green infrastructure in a 
manner that it contributes to a well-designed 
and healthy living and working environment, 
including physical and functional connections 
with neighbouring Green Infrastructure and 
countryside areas.

11. Avoid unacceptable adverse impacts on the 
amenity of occupants and users of surrounding 
or nearby properties, whilst securing a good 
standard of amenity for the occupants and 
users of the proposed development.

12. The mix of non-residential uses should ensure 
compatibility in terms of their location and the 
location of the community facilities should be 
located to maximise their accessibility by new 
and existing residents.

13. To create a development that respects and 
responds to its location with particular attention 
paid to the relationship with the existing built 
form and wider landscape, which includes 
structures of heritage value, views into and 
out of the site, and the nature and quality of 
boundary treatments.

3.2 Summary of Other Wyre 
 Local Plan Policy

Future applications will need to consider other relevant local plan policy, which 
includes:

 ■  CDMP1 ‘Environmental Protection’
 ■  CDMP2 ‘Flood Risk and Surface Water Management’
 ■  CDMP3 ‘Design’
 ■  CDMP4 ‘Environmental Assets’
 ■  CDMP5 ‘Historic Environment’
 ■  CDMP6 ‘Accessibility and Transport’
 ■  HP2 ‘Housing Mix’
 ■  HP3 ‘Affordable Housing’
 ■  HP9 ‘Green Infrastructure in New Residential Developments’
 ■  SP2 ‘ Sustainable Development’
 ■  SP7 ‘ Infrastructure Provision and Developer Contributions’
 ■  SP8 ‘Health and Well Being’.

P
age 64



Page intentionally blank

P
age 65



04MASTERPLAN FRAMEWORK

S E C T I O N

P
age 66



M
AS

TE
R

PL
AN

 F
R

AM
EW

O
R

K

22

04
4.1 Introduction

4.2 Land Uses and Scale

This Masterplan framework provides a spatial representation 
of how the area is to be developed in order to achieve the 
Masterplan vision and objectives in line with local plan policy 
objectives. It provides a visual representation of how the 
development should be structured around an interconnected 
network of greenspaces, landscaped areas and pedestrian 
routes. It also sets out a range of development parameters 
to inform subsequent planning applications relating to the 
site.

Local Plan policy SA3/3 requires the following land uses 
to be provided for within the site allocation and the broad 
requirements for each land use has been established 
through liaison with key stakeholders. 

Employment:   1 hectare
Health Centre:  0.49 hectare
Primary School:  1.36 hectare
Village Hall:   0.4 hectares
Convenience Store:  max 400 square metres gross
Residential:    568 dwellings

As highlighted in appendices 1 and 2, various options were 
explored for the general location of these land uses and 
the Masterplan has taken into account the feedback from 
the local community and stakeholders. The preference 
was for the non-residential uses to be sited close together 
in an accessible location within a community hub, with 
the exception of the employment area which is to be sited 
separately.

Employment
1 hectare of employment land is to be included within 
the Masterplan area. Development falling within Use 
Classes B1, B2 or B8 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order will be acceptable provided it is 
compatible with existing and proposed neighbouring uses.  
These details will be confirmed at the relevant planning 
application stages.

Whilst the Masterplan and fig 9 show a defined employment 
area this is for indicative purposes. There is flexibility at 
the planning application stage to define the exact location 
and boundary of the employment zone, provided it is sited 
to the north west with visible frontage along the A586. 
Appropriate boundary treatments and landscape buffering 
should be provided to maintain reasonable amenities for 
existing and future adjacent uses.

P
age 67



23

Figure 10: Community Hub & Employment Area

P
age 68



24

Community Hub

In line with policy SA3/3 the Masterplan is to provide 
for a primary school, health centre, village hall and 
convenience shop. Following public consultation 
and liaison with stakeholders it was established 
that the overall preference was for these uses 
to be sited close to one another to enable some 
synergy, where car parking and other facilities may 
be shared. 

Some of these facilities such as the primary school
and health centre will be serving the wider rural 
area rather than just the development or the village 
of Great Eccleston. They will need ease of access 
to the A586, as well as being accessible to the 
village centre. In this context the preferred location 
for the community hub is towards the eastern site 
boundary, north of the PRoW running through the 
site. By siting the community hub in this location the 
land can also be made available in the first phases 
of the development (see Chapter 5).

The exact boundary and internal layout of the 
community hub will be influenced by factors such 
as topography, drainage, retention of existing 
landscape features, the extent of any synergy 
between the individual uses, together with the wider 
layout context. Accordingly, whilst the Masterplan 
shows the location of the Community Hub and 
confirms that it is to be 2.18ha in size, the exact 
boundary and how it is to be laid out is a matter for 
subsequent planning applications. Further details 
of each of the land uses making up the community 
hub are provided in turn. Figure 11 is only indicative 
to give an indication of the likely scale of the 
community hub.

Figure 11: Indicative Community Hub

P
age 69



25

Health Centre

The Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have 
identified the relocation and expansion of the existing Great 
Eccleston Health Centre as one of their top priorities. They have 
confirmed an aspiration to deliver a new purpose built medical 
centre with pharmacy of circa 1,400 sqm over two floors, 
together with car parking, cycle shelters, drop off/pick up areas, 
an ambulance bay and area for the siting of mobile technology 
such as mobile breast screening units. The new Health Centre 
will be serving a wider catchment than Great Eccleston and will 
need ease of access to the A586 as well as the village centre.

The Masterplan development will be expected to support its 
provision by safeguarding a plot of 0.49ha within the community 
hub area and ensuring appropriate access is provided to it, which 
will include roads suitable for bus services. Its delivery is the 
responsibility of the CCG. As such the exact site boundary and 
the design / layout will be determined at the planning application 
stage relevant to that phase of the development.

Convenience Store

Policy SA3/3 requires the Masterplan to allow for a small 
convenience store suitable to enhance the offering within the 
village without undermining the main shopping centre. The 
policy limits the convenience store to more than 400 sq. metres. 
Development will be expected to support the delivery of this store 
by safeguarding an appropriate plot of land within the community 
hub area.

Village Hall

The Great Eccleston Village Centre is  a charitable organisation 
which currently leases 59 High Street in the village centre. This 
provides rooms and facilities for hire, from which activities such 
as yoga, language courses, pilates, coffee mornings and circuit 
training are provided. Local Plan policy SA3/3 requires the 
Masterplan to make provision for a new village hall. This will be 
supported by ensuring that an appropriate plot of 0.4ha of land is 
reserved for this purpose within the Community Hub area.

Primary School

The delivery of the required one form entry primary school is the 
responsibility of the Local Education Authority (LEA). Its design 
and layout should accord with the design principles set out in 
the Local Plan and any relevant national design standards for 
schools. These are matters for the detailed application stage. 
Development will be expected to support the provision of this 
primary school by:

 ■ Safeguarding a 1.36 hectare plot within the identified 
community hub area. The exact site boundary will be agreed 
at the planning application stages relevant to that phase.

 ■ Make appropriate financial contributions towards education 
provision, secured by way of planning obligations at the 
planning application stages.

 ■ Ensuring that roads around the school are designed to 
maximise road safety and account for the dropping off/picking 
up of children by car and to allow for bus services.

Indicative Medical Centre Indicative School Indicative Village Centre

P
age 70



26

Residential Development

Local Plan policy SA3/3 refers to an indicative 
capacity of 568 dwellings across the whole allocation 
area, which falls to 385 when excluding the already 
approved 183 dwellings to the south of Copp Lane. 
The housing capacity identified in the policy is not to 
be considered as a ceiling and can be exceeded if:

a) evidence submitted at the relevant planning 
application stages identify additional capacity in the 
local highway network; and

b) the vision / objectives of the Masterplan would not 
be undermined.

The nature of the proposed green infrastructure strategy 
and access / movement strategy is such that the main 
Masterplan area will be divided into different residential 
parcels. In particular there is the PRoW and central 
wildlife corridor which dissects the Masterplan area in an 
east-west location and the proposed spine road which will 
dissect the area in a north-south direction. There is also 
the proposed retention of existing field boundaries, which 
are largely defined by hedgerows and reflect ownership 
boundaries. The main residential areas will be accessed 
via a spine road running north – south through the site, 
which is expanded upon later.

There are however two smaller residential areas which 
are fairly self-contained. Firstly the land to the very east to 
the site adjacent to High Street which is separated from 
the remaining Masterplan area by boundary hedgerows 
and trees which are to be retained. This part of the site will 
have its own vehicular access to High Street serving up 
to 13 dwellings, but there will be no vehicular link with the 
remaining Masterplan area.

Secondly there is a small area of land to south of Copp 
Lane which was earmarked for a health centre as part 
of the current Rowland Homes development. As there is 
now a preferred location for the health centre this land is 
available for residential development, accessible via the 
the approved adjacent housing scheme.

Density and Mix

Although there is a need to make efficient use of land and deliver 
reasonable dwelling numbers, the density of development must 
also respond to the character of the surrounding area.

Densities should vary through the site to ensure a variety and 
balance of house types. Lower density development comprising 
larger properties / plots will be sited towards the more sensitive 
western boundary to create a softer transition between the new 
edge to the village and the adjacent open countryside. Other 
lower density areas are identified on the Masterplan on page 
34. These lower density areas include the northern boundary 
alongside Garstang Road to provide a more attractive road 
frontage and break with Little Eccleston. Site constraints will 
also require a lower density scheme in that part of the site to be 
accessed separately off High Street.

The development is expected to provide a range of different 
dwelling types and sizes to create choice and a varied building 
form to support a mixed community. However, development is 
expected to take place over a number of years and the demand 
for different housing types and sizes can change over time. As 
such a specific housing mix is not identified in this Masterplan 
and will instead be agreed as part of the relevant planning 
applications. Each planning application will nevertheless be 
expected to reflect Local Plan policy HP2 ‘Housing Mix’. This 
policy requires an appropriate mix in terms of size, type and 
tenure of housing, to meet identified housing need and local 
market demand which reflects the most up-to-date Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment and Rural Affordable Housing 
Needs Survey. The 2018 SHMA Addendum 3 suggests that the 
largest overall need in the Borough is for 3 bedroom properties 
(43%) and that the need for 1 and 2 bedroom properties 
equates to approximately 38% and the remaining need is for 
4+ bedrooms. However, this SHMA mix is not intended to be 
fixed in recognition of the different local market characteristics 
in different parts of the borough. As such the individual mix of 
housing at this site will be considered on its merits taking account 
of local market evidence, viability considerations and the wider 
objectives of the Masterplan. Each planning application will be 
considered individually in this regard, although larger properties 
/ lower density development will be expected to be sited in the 
areas identified on the Masterplan. 

Individual applications will also be expected to address the 
requirements of Local Plan policy HP3 ‘Affordable Housing’, 
which requires 30% affordable housing provision or an 
equivalent financial contribution in justified instances. This will 
be distributed across the site, with each planning application 
expected to comply with the policy requirements.  

P
age 71



27

Example of swale Example of attenuation pond

The surface water drainage should incorporate above ground 
SuDS solutions. For example attenuation ponds and swales could 
be  integrated within proposed open spaces, green corridors and 
the margins of the site. These can deliver additional benefits such 
as potential for visual and biodiversity enhancement. However, 
alternative forms of underground attenuation are not precluded 
as part of the wider drainage strategy where justified. This is 
reflective of the constraints that above ground SuDS solutions 
can have on the developable area and the need to secure the 
proposed range of uses identified in the Local Plan, including a 
range of green infrastructure not dominated by SuDS features.

The surface water drainage network should follow where 
possible the natural topography of the site and in this regard the 
Masterplan identifies potential locations for attenuation ponds 
linked with the existing and proposed ditches and land drains, 
based on the natural topography of the site. The indicative 
locations also reflect the fact that the site will be delivered in 
phases and that each phase will need to contain its own surface 
water drainage in line with the surface water drainage strategy 
for the Masterplan area.

With regards to foul, the development will discharge to the 300mm 
combined sewer on Butts Lane with the preference for a single 
pumping station to serve the wider Masterplan area, sited toward 
the western site boundary in the first phase of development.

Planning applications must be supported by appropriate 
Flood Risk Assessments and Drainage Strategy, which reflect 
the principles identified in this section and section 2.9 of this 
Masterplan.

Initial surveys indicate that the infiltration rates onsite are likely 
to be too low for soakaways to be designed to adequately cope 
with the development. As such, and in accordance with the 
key development considerations identified in Local Plan policy 
SA3/3, the drainage strategy is to be based on residual surface 
water draining into the River Wyre via Thistleton Brook and the 
existing watercourses. The expectation will be for only foul flows
to communicate with the public sewer. A detailed drainage 
scheme will need to be submitted at the relevant application 
stage which takes into consideration Local Plan Policy CDMP2.

The surface water drainage arrangements should ensure that 
the volumes and peak flow rates of surface water leaving the 
developed site are equal to the Greenfield run-off rate for all 
events up to the 1 in 100 year storm (including a 30% allowance for 
climate change). Where surface water storage and/or infiltration 
is required to limit and reduce the peak rate of discharge from 
the site and/or the total volume discharged, this is to be achieved 
through the use of sustainable drainage techniques (SuDS). 

4.3 Sustainable Drainage

P
age 72



28

Indicative Trim Trail

Indicative LEAP

The total amount of GI to be delivered will be based on the 
requirements set out in policy HP9 of the Local Plan. Based on 
the minimum capacity of the masterplan area of 385 dwellings, the 
amount of GI required is 3.39ha.  The actual figure will be established 
at the relevant planning application stage and will depend on the 
total dwellings proposed and the dwelling mix. 

Policy HP9 sets out the GI requirement based on the following 
typologies:

 ■  Parks, gardens
 ■  Amenity greenspace
 ■  Natural and semi- natural greenspace
 ■  Children and young people play area
 ■  Allotments 
 ■  Playing Pitches

Provided the total amount of GI provision referred in the policy is 
secured there is flexibility as to the typology of that provision. The 
consultation exercise undertaken as part of the Masterplan process 
established a preference for natural and semi-natural greenspace, 
amenity greenspace and a children’s play facility. Moreover, for this 
to be delivered in the form of a connected network of green corridors, 
landscaped buffering and functional open space.

An aim of the masterplan is to produce a high quality and safe public 
realm with landscaping and GI provided in a manner that contributes 
to a well-designed and healthy living and working environment and 
suitable for a range of age groups. The GI, landscape and biodiversity 
strategy will be delivered by: 

 ■ Creating a series of linked green spaces providing off-
road opportunities for walking and cycling, whilst enhancing 
permeability through the site and connectivity with the adjacent 
countryside and urban area;

 ■ Retaining existing ponds, trees and hedgerows identified as 
Category A habitat, and retaining Cat B habitat where possible,  
within a suitable buffer of open space. 

 ■ Providing multifunction areas of amenity green space which 
create an attractive setting for the development as well as 
functional areas of open space for people to social ise and enjoy;

 ■ Developing appropriate children’s play facilities which are suitably 
located and of a type and size appropriate to the scale of the 
development. The exact location, design and type of children’s 
play provision will be determined at planning application stage.  
However, it is expected that children’s play facilities will be 
located in different parts of the site commensurate with the scale 
of development proposed and not confined to a single location. 

 ■ Creating areas of open space throughout the development which 
enhances the setting and provides an attractive outlook; 

 ■ Utilising new and existing water features and bodies that function 
both as semi-natural greenspace and as part of the sustainable 
drainage strategy;

 ■ Using strategic landscaping which softens the development 
edges and provides a successful transition between the built form 
and adjacent countryside, provides biodiversity enhancement 
and creates an attractive setting for the development.

Gi, Biodiversity and Landscape Strategy 

The main focus for the GI is alongside the existing central PRoW, 
which is a key element connecting the site with the village to the 
east and the countryside to the west. The creation of an enhanced 
footpath / cycleway in this location, set within public open space 
which retains and enhances the existing wildlife corridor, is to 
form the heart of the neighbourhood. It will provide recreational 
space for the new community to gather and interact, will retain 
an open setting to the central footpath / cycleway and enable the 
retention and enhancement of the identified Category A habitat. 
This will involve linking the principle features of ecological value 
such as the existing pond, trees, hedges and ditches.

The vision for this masterplan is to create a development with 
green infrastructure fully integrated into the overall design.  A 
greener environment can create important environmental, social, 
health and economic benefits, particularly in relation to physical 
and mental health and the need to mitigate climate change 
impacts. The approach to Green Infrastructure is closely related 
to the movement network with the aim to create attractive, well-
designed cycleways and footpaths fully integrated into the GI 
and local landscape.  The strategy of this masterplan is also to 
ensure that full regard is had to the integration and improvement 
of existing ecological systems and natural habitats found within 
the site, including trees, hedgerows and water features.  The local 
landscape can also play a key role in setting the context for the 
development and in particular the identification and protection of 
key views into and out of the site.  The masterplan plan shows 
how these three elements – GI, ecology and landscape can work 
together to inform and be a part of the overall development.

Local Plan policies HP9 ‘Green Infrastructure’ and CDMP4 
‘Environmental Assets’ require residential development 
proposals to make appropriate provision of sufficient high quality 
green infrastructure (GI) and to contribute towards restoration, 
enhancement and connection of natural habitats through the 
provision of this GI. The policies also require new development 
to consider the site’s landscape setting including local and long 
distance views and to incorporate existing trees and hedgerows 
into design and layout where possible. The GI, biodiversity and 
landscape strategy for the masterplan establishes the basis for 
delivering these key policy requirements and the objectives of this 
masterplan.

The strategy is to focus GI alongside or close to key elements of 
the movement network, in particular the existing central Public 
Right of Way, which is a key element connecting the site with the 
village to the east and the countryside to the west. The creation of 
an enhanced footpath / cycleway in this location, set within public 
open space which retains and enhances the existing wildlife 
corridor, is to form the heart of the neighbourhood. It will provide 
recreational space for the new community to gather and interact, 
will retain an open setting to the central footpath / cycleway and 
enable the retention and enhancement of the identified Category 
A habitat, linking the principle features of ecological value such as 
the existing ponds, trees, hedges and ditches.  This central core 
will be supported by a second route running north/south through 
the site incorporating a linear GI space and footpath/cyclepath.   
Landscaping on key boundaries utilising existing features and 
new planting, coupled with lower density housing in sensitive 
locations, will provide a softer transition between the development 
and the countryside.

4.4 Green Infrastructure, Landscape and 
 Biodiversity Strategy

P
age 73



29

A green corridor with footpath link is 
to also be provided through the site 
in a north-south direction connecting 
the A586 and Copp Lane. This is 
to be designed and located in a 
manner which provides a natural 
buffer around the existing pond 
within the northern area of the site, 
linking it with the aforementioned 
open space through the centre of the 
site. It also provides an opportunity to 
retain existing ponds, field boundary 
hedgerows and trees.

GI is also to be delivered in the 
form of landscaped buffering along 
sensitive site boundaries identified 
in the Masterplan and throughout 
the development to create an 
attractive green neighbourhood. This 
includes the western site boundary 
where landscaping and open space 
should be used to provide a softer 
transition between the urban area 
and countryside.

Figure 12: Green Infrastructure, Landscape and Biodiversity

Existing pond 
retained

Proposed SuDS 
attenuation ponds

Existing 
pond

Existing trees / hedgerows
(TPO trees and those within Cat A habitat are to be 
retained and protected. Cat B habitat is to be retained 
where possible)

Proposed Green infrastructure
(Comprising a mix of natural / semi-natural and amenity 
open space)

Proposed Childrens play space

Children’s Play 
facilities

P
age 74



30

A key objective of the masterplan is to promote 
the efficient movement of residents, employees, 
visitors and goods through the site and promote 
connectivity with the existing village and wider 
PRoW network. The development should have the 
following hierarchy of streets and pedestrian routes 
to respond to the different travel and movement 
needs.

Spine Road. There should be a primary vehicular 
route through the site providing a north-south 
connection between the A586 and Copp Lane. 
This should be a tree lined street with footways of 
1.8m-2m wide on both sides and be designed to 
reduce speed levels whilst remaining suitable for a 
bus route. The exact line of the spine road will be 
determined at the planning application stage.

Secondary Vehicular Routes. These roads 
provide the primary vehicular circulation throughout 
the site, these should be carriageways with 1.8-
2m footways on both sides with speed reduction 
measures at key points to be determined at a later 
stage. These circulation roads will branch off to 
tertiary streets allowing access to the wider site. The 
access road to the community hub will need to be 
suitable for a bus route. The internal road network 
shown on fig 12 is indicative and other solutions for 
accessing the community hub are not precluded.

Tertiary Streets. There will be a network of tertiary 
pedestrian friendly residential streets or lanes with 
informal landscaping. This may include shared 
surfaces.

Private Drives. Shorter pedestrian-friendly shared 
driveways accessing a limited number of properties.

Fig 13 is an illustrative plan and the internal road 
layout is a matter for determination at the relevant 
planning application stage.

Pedestrian / Cycle Routes

There will be a number of additional non-vehicular routes 
to encourage walking and cycling. This is to include:

 ■ The retention and enhancement of the existing 
PRoW running in a west-east direction through the 
site, connecting West End with the PRoW network in 
the open countryside to the west. The PRoW through 
the site is to be enhanced to a footpath / cycle way. 
The community hub, public open space and housing 
areas within the development should incorporate 
footpath / cycle connections with this central route to 
create a permeable layout.

 ■ Provision of a north-south pedestrian / cycle link set 
within open space connecting the A586 with Copp 
Lane.

 ■ Informal meandering footpaths adjacent to 
SuDS features and within proposed open space, 
connecting onto the main through pedestrian routes. 
This is to enhance the overall permeability of the 
site and enable circular footpath routes within the 
development.

As expanded upon later the green infrastructure 
strategy is to link with the movement strategy to create 
a permeable layout with pedestrian routes set within 
attractive landscaped open space.

4.5 Access and Movement

P
age 75



31

Exis
ting PRoW

Spine Road

Secondary vehicular 
route

Tertiary vehicular route

Private Drives

Cycle and / or 
Pedestrian route

Garstang Road

Copp Lane

Entrances from Highways
To be planned as positive 
landscape features.

Existing offsite pond

Key

Figure 13: Indicative Movement and Connections plan

Pedestrian / cycle / 
emergency access 
point

Road accessing 
community hub to 
be suitable for a bus 
route

P
age 76



32

Bus Access

In order to maximise the use of sustainable travel the development 
will be expected to enable bus services to permeate the site by 
ensuring that the primary spine road and connection point with 
the Community Hub is of a design which is physically capable of 
accommodating a bus route. 

Car Parking

The development will be expected to provide car parking in line with 
the Council’s adopted standards. This can be via a combination 
of in-curtilage parking to the side or front of properties, courtyard 
parking within the perimeter of block or mews streets and onstreet 
parking in the form of marked or unmarked bays adjacent to the 
carriageway, or as part of a home zone approach.

Car parking should be carefully planned and integrated into the 
development to not have an over dominant impact on the street 
scene or provide obstructions to the pedestrians and cyclists. 
The uses within the Community Hub could consider sharing 
parking facilities.

No dwellings are to have direct access off Garstang Road or 
Copp Lane. With the exception of the small residential parcels 
to the east adjacent High Street and to the south of Copp Lane, 
the development will be accessed via the proposed spine road 
through a series of secondary and tertiary routes.

Due to the access limitations the employment area will require a 
designated access road from the spine road rather than a direct 
access off the A586.

The highway layout will be designed and built to adoptable 
standards and where required will need to meet the needs of 
heavy-duty vehicles and related uses.

A travel plan will be produced in accordance with policy CDMP6.

Site Access Points

Site access should be as follows.

1. The spine road will connect to the A586 in the approximate 
location shown on the Masterplan and whilst the junction 
design (see Fig. 14 on pg33) will be a matter for the planning 
application stage it is envisaged that it will comprise a priority 
right turn lane.

2. The spine road will connect with Copp Lane to the south in the 
approximate location shown on the Masterplan, although its 
exact location and design is to be confirmed at the planning 
application stage (see Fig. 15 on pg33).

 
3. Some dwellings sited to the east of the site will be accessed 

off High Street, but this access will be limited to serving  
approximately 13 dwellings and will not provide vehicular 
access to the remaining Masterplan area.

4. A limited number of dwellings to the south of Copp Lane 
can be accessed through the approved Rowland Homes 
residential development.

5. An emergency access point will be sited towards the north 
east of the site off the A586 to ensure an additional access to 
the Community Hub is available at times of emergency.

6. There are to be pedestrian / cycle links into the site from the 
A586 to the north, from the eastern site boundary via High 
Street and West End and from Copp Lane to the south, which 
will necessitate crossing points to the footpath on the south 
side of Copp Lane.

P
age 77



33
Figure 14: Indicative access from Garstang Road

Figure 15: Indicative secondary vehicular access from Copp Lane

P
age 78



34

4.6 Final Masterplan

P
age 79



35

8. Trees and structural landscaping should be used to break up 
the street scene, utilising existing hedgerows where possible.  
The main spine road is to also have a tree lined feel.  

9. There should be a highly legible structure of streets and where 
residents and visitors can intuitively find their way around the 
development with good connectivity onto surrounding roads 
and streets.

10. Dwellings for older people/mobility impaired should be 
appropriately located in terms of access to services, facilities 
and access routes.

11. Dwellings along Copp Lane and Garstang Road should front 
the highway to create an attractive frontage, although there 
should be no direct access to these dwellings off these two 
highways.

12. Adequate car parking will need to be provided in line with 
planning policy, but this should be sufficiently well-integrated 
so as to not dominate the street and building frontages.

13. Particular regard should be had to providing linkages with 
and between the new social and community facilities, the 
employment area and open space network.

14. There should be clear demarcation between the public, semi-
public and private land.

15. Building orientation and layout – including corner-turning and 
dual aspect houses at key intersections – including the key 
entrance points from the A586, Copp Lane and High Street - 
should be used throughout the site to create active frontages 
and natural surveillance / security over the public spaces, 
streets and footpaths / cycle routes.

16. Place making will be further reinforced through the design of 
hard and soft landscape for individual plots and the creation 
of incidental green spaces / landscaping to break up the built 
form.

17. Where tree and hedgerow loss is necessary, at least an 
equivalent amount of new mitigation planting of suitable 
species should be proposed.

18. Whilst it is important that the neighbourhood has continuity 
and a definable sense of place, it is also important for there 
to be a complementary and, where appropriate, contrasting 
palette of building elements and architectural details to 
achieve variety in appearance across the Masterplan area.

19. The medical centre will be up to two stories in height. The 
primary school will be designed to meet Local Education 
Authority standards, although it is envisaged that this would 
also be no more than 2 stories in height.

20. Through the provision of interface distances and building 
orientation, together with landscape screening, in line with 
policy requirements the development should ensure adequate 
privacy and amenities for the residents of new and existing 
housing.

21. Development should not adversely affect the significance of 
the heritage assets identified in Chapter 2.

1. Proposals for the site will come forward in subsequent 
planning applications, where details relating to site layout and 
the scale and visual appearance of the buildings, including 
design, will be considered. Development will be expected to 
be consistent with the relevant local planning policies as well 
as reflecting the principles set out in sections 4.2 to 4.5 of 
this Masterplan and the following additional general design 
guidelines:

2. The site should be delivered in a manner that creates an 
organic structure of discreet, human scale development 
parcels in an attractively landscaped and naturalistic setting.

3. Development should achieve a high quality environment 
taking advantage of and integrating with existing topography, 
views, landscape features and identified biodiversity habitats.

4. It is important that the design and layout of the development 
promotes healthy living, including through the provision of 
accessible high-quality green infrastructure together with 
cycle and pedestrian routes and linkages internal to the site 
and between the site and surrounding area.

5. The development should aim to retain existing landscape 
features of value where possible, use planting to shape the 
location and character of the built form, street and open 
spaces, and to soften new development in relation to views 
of the site.

6. Residential development should be of a density suitable to the 
rural setting having regard to the most appropriate location of 
different dwelling types across the site.    

7. The structure of the development should preserve key views 
into the site and views out of the site towards the surrounding 
countryside utilising opportunities provided by the orientation 
and design of streets, green spaces, houses and other 
development types.

4.7 General Guiding Design Principles

P
age 80



Page intentionally blank

P
age 81



05DELIVERY STRATEGY

S E C T I O N

P
age 82



36

05
D

EL
IV

ER
Y 

ST
R

AT
EG

Y

Due to the size of the site and the quantum of development that 
is envisaged, the development of the wider Masterplan area is 
expected to be delivered over a number of years, Furthermore, 
as the site is in multiple ownerships separate planning application 
are likely to come forward for different areas of the site. The 
phasing of development will therefore be crucial for coordinating 
and ensuring the success of the development. In this regard, 
there is a requirement for certain infrastructure to be delivered in 
a timely and effective manner in order to mitigate the impacts of 
the development to create a sustainable neighbourhood. It also 
needs to take into account the different land ownerships. 

Appropriate contributions will be required from developers in 
order to deliver the on and off-site infrastructure that is necessary 
to serve the development and deliver the Masterplan objectives. 
This will be secured by way of section 106 agreements at the 
relevant planning application stages. Where the requirement for 
the provision of specific pieces of infrastructure so triggered by 
more than phase of the development the Council will pro-rata 
the contributions required and pool these together to deliver the 
required infrastructure. Consideration will be given to viability and 
costs in order to ensure that plans are deliverable. Accordingly, 
regard will be had to the financial viability of the development 
proposals. 

Further detail on the delivery and phasing of development and 
on developer contributions will be provided in Part 2 of the 
Masterplan. 

5.1 Phasing of Development

P
age 83



01PUBLIC CONSULTATION EXHIBITION BOARDS

APPENDIX

P
age 84



3838

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Welcome to the Exhibition Board 1
Introduction
Welcome to this public exhibition which relates to the production of the 
Great Eccleston Extension Masterplan. 

Wyre Borough Council are producing a replacement Local Plan which 
identifies a need for 9,285 dwellings across the Borough by 2031. To 
deliver this need a number of greenfield extensions are required to 
key settlements, one of which is Great Eccleston. The emerging Plan 
allocates approximately 33.7 ha of land to the west of Great Eccleston 
for approximately 568 homes, a health centre, primary school, 1ha of 
employment, community hall, a local convenience store and open space 
(allocation site SA3/3). 

What is a Masterplan and who is involved?
The emerging Local Plan requires the allocation site at Great Eccleston to be brought forward in line with a Masterplan. This is to ensure that development 
is planned comprehensively, by establishing the design parameters and principles for the development of the entire area. Once produced, the Masterplan 
will then inform subsequent individual planning applications.

Wyre Borough Council will ultimately approve the masterplan, although Metacre Ltd are assisting in its production. Metacre are part of the same group 
of companies as Northern Trust Company Ltd, which was established in Lancashire in 1962 and is one of the UK’s largest and most successful privately 
owned property investment, development and regeneration companies. 

In developing this Masterplan the Council are keen for it to involve a collaborative process between landowners, stakeholders and the local community. 
As such the views and opinions of a variety of bodies and individuals are being sought, including:

• The local community and local businesses
• Great Eccleston Parish Council
• Landowners
• Wyre Borough Council Planning and Policy 

Departments
• Wyre Borough Council Open Space Team
• Eccleston Health Centre
• Fylde and Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG).

• Lancashire Country Council Education
• Lancashire County Council Highways
• Lancashire Country Council Lead Local Flood 

Authority 
• Lancashire County Council Environmental 

Health
• United Utilities
• Historic England
• Environment Agency

A number of site surveys and assessments of the site have now been undertaken to establish any constraints and opportunities which 
affect how the site is developed. Various initial meetings and discussions have also been held with Council departments, landowners, key 
stakeholders and statutory consultees to establish their requirements and priorities. 

This process has highlighted some fixed design parameters which the Masterplan will need to adhere to. However, it has also highlighted how 
there are still different ways in which the development could be delivered, each with their own benefits. Before progressing the Masterplan 
further, the views and preferences of the local community are therefore being sought on a number of different concepts which affect how the 
site will be brought forward. 

This exhibition highlights the main findings from the site surveys, aims to explain the vision and core design parameters which the Masterplan 
aims to deliver, whilst also highlighting the different broad concepts for shaping the development. The feedback received from this exhibition will 
help establish the core design parameters and principles which will shape the Masterplan.  

What is the purpose of this exhibition?

Masterplan Area

Whilst the Local Plan allocation covers land both sides of Copp Lane 
totalling 33.3 hectares, the land immediately south of Copp Lane 
already has planning permission for 183 dwellings, a car park and 
health centre. Part of this is already being developed by Rowland 
Homes. Consequently the development of this part of the site is 
essentially already fixed. The exception is the area of land approved 
for a health centre as this could be developed for alternative uses 
should it be considered preferable for the health centre to be sited 
elsewhere within the remaining masterplan area.

There is a Grade II Listed 17th Century Dovecote, which is also a 
Scheduled Monument, located off Copp Lane within the parcel of 
land shaded in Green on the image above. This land has to remain 
undeveloped to preserve the setting of the Listed Dovecote and the 
landowner of this parcel of land has declined the opportunity to be 
included within the Masterplan process. Consequently, this land has 
been excluded from the Masterplan area and is to be left in its current 
state.

Whilst a planning application has been submitted on a parcel of land 
to the south of West End for the proposed residential development 
of 13 dwellings (ref. 18/00540/FULMAJ) the determination of this 
application has been postponed whilst the masterplan is being 
produced. 

In summary, whilst the Local Plan allocation area is 33.7ha, the 
remaining developable area is about 18ha, i.e. the area highlighted 
orange above.

Allocated Site Boundary

Remaining
developable area

Approved for
183 dwellings

P
age 85



G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Site Surveys Part 1
An experienced team of consultants have been appointed to assess the site and identify any constraints and 
opportunities. A summary of the key findings in this regard are provided on the next two exhibition boards.

Highways and Accessibility

There will need to be a main vehicular access to the north of the site off the A586, as well as a main vehicular 
access of Copp Lane to the south, which will be connected by a link road. This will be wide enough to 
accommodate a bus route through the site. No individual properties are to have direct access off the A586 or 
Copp Lane. 

There is potential for two secondary vehicular access points. One could be off the A586 towards the north 
east corner of the site, but it is not possible to provide access off the north west corner due to visibility splays 
and proposed highway improvements. There will be a secondary vehicular access off the High Street which 
could serve the parcel of land to the south of West End but would be unsuitable as a vehicle access to the 
wider masterplan area.

There are three main pedestrian links into the village centre, i.e:

• The existing Public Right Of Way (PROW) through the centre of the site which must be retained and enhanced. 
It is possible for this central public right of way to also be linked to the High Street via the secondary access 
to the land south of West End.  

• Copp Lane to the south, which has a continuous footway up to the edge of the village. Thereafter footway 
provision becomes intermittent over short lengths, although there are relatively low vehicular speeds at this 
point. 

• The A586 to the north which has continuous footpaths and street lighting on both sides up to the B5293, 
which connects into the centre of the village.

Detailed traffic surveys assessing the capacity of the wider highway network were undertaken in early June 
2018 after the half term holiday. Capacity assessments are being undertaken at all surveyed junctions, which 
were agreed with the Highway Authority. 

 Ecology and Trees 

There are no ecological designations affecting the site, although surveys 
have identified areas of Category A and Category B habitat. The rest of 
the site is of negligible-low ecological value.

• Category A habitat comprises an existing ditch and trees / hedgerows 
which run through the centre of the site, two existing ponds and some 
other areas of hedgerows / trees which are identified as being of high 
ecological and arboricultural value. This habitat is to be retained as a 
priority, particularly the central Wildlife Corridor which runs alongside 
the existing PROW. The existing ponds are also to be kept within a 
buffer of open space and linked to the central wildlife corridor. 

• Category B habitat comprises other hedgerows and trees which are 
to be retained wherever possible and if these are to be lost as a result 
of development then replacement planting will need to be provided 
elsewhere within the site.

There are opportunities to enhance biodiversity as part of the proposals 
through the creation of ponds / SuDS features, new natural / semi-
natural green space and landscaping etc. 

Public Right of Way

Historic Dovecote

Heritage
There are five listed buildings within the village, all Grade II. This includes 
a 17th Century Dovecote off Copp Lane which is also a Scheduled 
Monument. The land in which the Monument is located is excluded 
from the masterplan area but in order to retain its historic character 
the existing hedgerow on the field’s western boundary will need to be 
retained and supplemented by additional planting. This will increase 
the visual barrier between the Dovecote and the development. 

A Grade II Listed Pinfold structure is also located to the north fronting 
West End, within the grounds of number 41 High Street. The amenity 
to this building will be enhanced. 

Other designated heritage assets within Great Eccleston village are 
already surrounded by development and are too remote from the site 
for the development to have an impact on their setting. 

Board 2

Primary 
Entrance

Secondary 
Entrance

Secondary 
Entrance

Retained 
Pond

Retained 
Pond

Primary
Entrance

Link
Road

PROW

PROW

A586

B5293

High Street

Copp Lane

3939P
age 86



4040

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Site Surveys Part 2
Site Topography

Great Eccleston lies within a wider area that is relatively flat but does contain local variations in topography.  With 
regards to the site itself, a central public footpath and drainage ditch runs through the centre of the land to the north 
of Copp Lane from west to east. The fields to the north slope gently downwards towards this central drainage ditch, 
whereas the southern fields are relatively flat. 

Flood Risk and Drainage

The whole site is located within Flood Zone 1 on the Environmental Agency’s flood maps and is therefore considered 
to be a low risk of flooding from various potential sources. 

Initial percolation tests suggest that Infiltration into the ground is unlikely to be a viable surface water drainage solution. 
Accordingly, the surface water strategy will be based on discharging to the existing ditches running through the site, 
eventually draining into the River Wyre via Thistleton Brook.  An 8 metre buffer is needed either side of the drainage 
ditches. Sustainable drainage techniques (SUDS) would also need to be incorporated into the scheme to collect, 
store and control surface water discharge at a rate equivalent to the current greenfield site. This would include new 
attenuation basins which due to topography would need to be towards the western site boundary, but SuDS features 
could also include swales and underground storage crates. 

Foul will be discharged to the adopted combined sewer on High Street and United Utilities are one of the consultees 
helping to inform this masterplan process.

Landscaping and Visual Impact

A Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal has been undertaken by landscape consultants FPCR. Whilst there will inevitably be some impact on 
the landscape and visual effects upon completion of the development, the landscape appraisal undertaken informed a combination of proposed 
landscaping and mitigation techniques to reduce the potential impact. These include:

• Create a landscaped buffer along the western site boundary to 
provide further screening from public vantage points to the west / 
south. This would include blocks of woodland planting combined 
with existing hedgerows, to break up views. 

• Retain and manage hedgerows and vegetation along the site 
boundaries to maintain landscape character, whilst reinforcing the 
field boundary to the southern edge of the site. 

• Retain and protect existing trees where possible.

• Retain and improve existing hedgerows within the site to break up 
the form of built development and provide a framework for green 
infrastructure and connectivity across the site. 

• Locate the employment area to the north adjacent to Garstang 
Road, with any units to be of a sensitive design so as not to cause 
undue harm to landscape and visual amenity.

• Provide additional landscaping to the site entrance to soften the 
interface with High Street. 

Viewpoint across the  western body of the allocation from Copp Lane 

Board 3

New attenuation basins 
to western site boundary

New drainage 
ditch

Public Right 
of Way

Cellular Sotrage Tanks

Swales

Rainwater and waste storage options

Attenuation ponds

P
age 87



G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Constraints and Opportunities Summary Board 4

Retain and enhance existing 
hedgerow as visual barrier 
between dovecote and 
development

New surface water attenuation 
basins

Existing ponds 
to be retained

Spine road suitable 
for bus route

Create Wildlife 
Corridor

Potential views 
into site

Potential views 
into site

Secondary
Access

Create footpath along
existing PROW maintaining 
link between village and 
countryside

Approved housing
development

Sensitive Boundary

Sensitive Boundary

Sensitive Boundary

Secondary
Access

4141P
age 88



4242

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Vision and Key Development Principles Board 5

The aim is to produce a sustainable high quality development that respects its village and rural location.  It should 
meet the following key development principles:
 
1. The development should support and promote heathy and active communities, maximising opportunities to 

enhance the quality of life for future and existing residents.

2. The design of the development should provide an ‘organic’ extension to the village. The development should 
respect and respond to its rural location paying particular regard to views through and over the site and the 
nature and quality of boundary treatments.  Landscape buffers should provide a soft transition between the 
development and open countryside along the western site boundary. This should include blocks of planting 
combined with existing hedgerows, to break up views.

3. The mix of non-residential uses should ensure compatibility in terms of their location and the location of the 
community facilities should be determined through the masterplan to maximise their accessibility by new and 
existing residents. Consideration should be given to the benefits of co-location such as shared car parking and 
facilities. 

4. The development should achieve an appropriate mix of housing types, sizes and tenures to meet identified 
housing  need and local market demand.

5. The development should create a movement network for pedestrians and cyclists that promotes safe accessibility, 
takes the opportunity to enhance existing public rights of way and create appropriate linkages with the village.  
Particular regard should be had to linkages with and between new social and community facilities and with the 
area of employment uses. 

6. Highway infrastructure should be designed to ensure the safe movement of traffic and other road users and 
must be fully integrated into the movement network for pedestrians and cyclists. 

Masterplan Vision

To create an ‘’organic’’ extension to Great Eccleston that is integrated into the existing village fabric in 
terms of its design and layout, including pedestrian and cycle accessibility to key facilities. It will contain 
a mix of integrated green spaces that will provide formal and informal recreation opportunities whilst 
creating a soft transition between the new development and surrounding countryside. 

7. The development should produce a high quality and safe public realm that includes landscaping and green 
infrastructure serving both the future residents and the wider village.  The green infrastructure should be of an 
appropriate variety, size, type and location such that it contributes to a well-designed and healthy living and working 
environment. It should include physical and functional connections with neighbouring Green Infrastructure and 
countryside areas.

8. Existing hedgerows and vegetation along the site boundaries and within the site should be retained and 
enhanced where possible to maintain landscape character and break up the form of built development, providing a 
framework for green infrastructure and connectivity across the site. Where tree and hedgerow loss is unavoidable, 
equivalent amount of new trees and hedgerows of suitable species should be proposed.

9. Important ecological features will need to retained and enhanced together with existing landscape features where 
possible, with the aim of establishing and preserving functional networks which facilitate the movement of species 
and populations and protect the Borough’s biodiversity. Development should contribute to the enhancement of 
natural habitats through the provision of appropriate Green Infrastructure. 

10. Development should respect the built heritage of the area and its setting. 

11. Sustainable drainage techniques should be integrated into the fabric of the development to create an 
appropriate surface water management regime.

12. Opportunities should be taken to minimise energy consumption and reduce waste where possible. 

13. Securing a safe, desirable and inclusive place to live through though the provision of accessible streets and 
open spaces with natural surveillance.

14. Development must not have an unacceptably adverse impact on the amenity of occupants and users of 
surrounding or nearby properties and must provide a good standard of amenity for the occupants and users of 
the development itself. 

P
age 89



4343P
age 90



4444

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n What land uses need to be provided for?
Community Hall

The Great Eccleston Village Centre is a charitable 
organisation which currently leases 59 High Street 
in the village centre. This provides rooms and 
facilities for hire, from which activities such as yoga, 
language courses, pilates, coffee mornings and 
circuit training are provided.

The masterplan is to include land for a new 
Community Hall with car parking which should be 
sited in an accessible location for the whole of the 
village.

Housing
The local plan policy identifies an approximate capacity of 568 dwellings 
across the whole allocation area, which falls to 385 when excluding 
the Rowland Homes sites. However the final dwelling number will be 
dictated by a number of factors including:

• The remaining developable area taking into account the other land 
uses which need to be incorporated and any on-site constraints.

• The capacity of the highway network and other infrastructure.
• The preferred dwelling mix, with smaller properties resulting in higher 

densities.

The emerging Local Plan requires developments to make provision 
for an appropriate mix in terms of size, type and tenure of housing to 
meet identified housing need and local market demand. In order to 
help meet the needs of an ageing population and people with restricted 
mobility, at least 20% of dwellings within developments should also 
be of a design suitable or adaptable for older people and people with 
restricted mobility. Where appropriate, this housing will be located in 
the most accessible locations for services and facilities.

Local Plan policy also requires at least 30% of the proposed housing 
to take the form of affordable homes, which national planning policy 
defines as including starter homes, discounted market housing, 
affordable housing for rent and shared ownership.

Healthcare

The Masterplan needs to provide for the relocation of 
the existing health centre. The Flyde and Wyre Clinical 
Comissioning Group (CCG) have identified this as one of 
their top priorities and both the CCG and existing Health 
Centre have identified their preferred location as the east of 
the site adjacent to the proposed public footpath link through 
to the High Street. The CCG have funding in place and 
propose a new purpose built medical centre which would be 
approximately twice the size of the current practice and would 
incude a full on-site pharmacy, car parking, cycle shelters, 
drop off / pick up areas, an ambulance bay and area for the 
siting of mobile technology such as mobile breast screening 
units.

Employment

The developme nt  offers an opportunity 
to create a small  business park 
providing increased  employment 
opportunities. Local plan policy requires 
an employment area of approximately 
1 hectare to be included within the 
masterplan. A flexible development 
mix will be crucial to its success but it 
is envisaged that this would primarily 
comprise smaller scale workshops/
offices compatible with residential 
areas.

A prominent road frontage location 
close to the A586 and ease of access 
will be key to its success.

Education

The Local Plan and Wyre Infrastructure Delivery Plan identifies a requirement 
to reserve a 1.36ha site within the masterplan area for the provision of a 
new one form entry primary school. Lancashire County Council Education 
Authority have not expressed a preference regarding the location of the 
primary school, although they have advised against its location to the south 
of the site in close proximity to the existing schools. The examples shown 
today show how the school could be sited in different locations across the site. 
There is not a requirement for a new secondary school, although financial 
contributions will be required towards secondary education enhancement.

Retail
Great Eccleston has a defined village centre which acts 
as the heart of the settlement and has been ranked 
7th in the borough in terms of service and facilities. 
Nevertheless the local plan seeks to enhance the retail 
offering with provision to be made in the masterplan for a 
small convenience store of not more than 400 sq. metres.
Some stakeholders have indicated a preference to not 
create a village square which would compete with the 
existing village centre and to locate the convenience 
store to the north of the site to also serve Little Eccleston. 
One option may be to provide the store as part of a 
complementary use such as a petrol filling station, as this 
would provide a different service offering to the village 
centre. Such a use would need a frontage location along 
the A586. 

Board 7

Illustrative image

P
age 91



G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Location of land uses - Concept A

One concern raised by some 
stakeholders was a desire to 
avoid creating a new village core 
and as such one concept  for the 
masterplan could be to disperse 
the non-residential  uses across 
the site. This illustration shows 
the medical centre in the 
preferred location but split from 
the school and village hall by 
the central footpath link running 
through the site. The village hall 
and school are still shown close 
to this main footpath link to 
ensure ease of access from the 
village centre. The employment 
area and retail convenience 
store are shown located to the 
north east of the site where they 
would have main road frontage, 
although access would have to 
be via the main spine road rather 
than straight off the A586. This 
illustration has been paired with 
Green Infrastructure concept 1 
although it could be paired with 
any of the GI concepts.

Board 8

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Employment area and retail 
accessed via spine road rather 
than directly off Garstang Road

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

Existing hedgerow enhanced 
to provide landscape buffer 
(indicative)

Spine Road location illustrative 
but will be wide enough for a bus

Residential parcels will have 
additional landscaping not 
shown on masterplan concepts

North / south pedestrian link set in 
open space alongside hedgerow

Enhanced boundary 
landscaping (indicative)

Enhancement of existing PROW 
providing access to village and 
countryside but set in wider open 
space. Access provided to school, 
village hall and medical centre

4545P
age 92



4646

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Location of land uses - Concept B

One opportunity raised by some 
of the stakeholders was to 
locate all of the non-residential 
uses in the same location 
thereby potentially enabling 
some synergy, where  car 
parking and other facilities may 
be shared. The logical location 
for these uses would be the 
north eastern corner of the site 
where accessibility to the village 
is greatest. In this illustration   
this concept has been paired 
with Green Infrastructure 
concept 2 showing a village 
green, although other GI 
concepts would also work. As 
the employment area has been 
sited to the north east corner 
of the site it may be possible 
for this to have a direct access 
off the A586. Some concern 
has been expressed that this 
overall concept may create a 
new village core.

Board 9

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Potential Vehicular
Access

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field**Dovecote FieldExisting hedgerow enhanced 
to provide landscape buffer 
(indicative)

Spine Road location illustrative 
but will be wide enough for a bus

Residential parcels will have 
additional landscaping not 
shown on masterplan concepts

North / south pedestrian link set in 
open space alongside hedgerow

Enhanced boundary 
landscaping (indicative)

Enhancement of existing PROW 
providing access to village and 
countryside linked with Village 
Green. Also provide access to 
Village Hall and Medical Centre

Majority of open space 
in form of a village green

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

Employment area accessed 
off Garstang Road but school 
and retail accessed via 
internal spine road

P
age 93



G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n Location of land uses - Concept C

This concept is a mixture 
between the two previous 
concepts, where the medical 
centre, school and village hall 
are sited close to one another 
to create some synergy of 
uses and are sited close to the 
central footpath link running 
through the site. This will 
ensure ease of access from the 
village centre to these uses. 
However, the employment area 
and retail convenience store 
are shown located to the north 
east corner of the site. This 
illustration has been paired 
with Green Infrastructure 
concept 3, although again it 
could be paired with any of the 
GI concepts.

Board 10

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field* *Dovecote Field

Potential Vehicular
Access

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential Vehicular
Access

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential internal 
road layout

New Footpath Links

Existing Hedges
Retained Where
Possible

Potential vehicular /
pedestrian/cycle 
access points

Dovecote Field**

Employment area and retail 
accessed via spine road rather 
than directly off Garstang Road

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

Existing hedgerow enhanced 
to provide landscape buffer 
(indicative)

Spine Road location illustrative 
but will be wide enough for a bus

Residential parcels will have 
additional landscaping not 
shown on masterplan concepts

North / south pedestrian link set in 
open space alongside hedgerow

Enhanced boundary 
landscaping (indicative)

Enhancement of existing PROW 
through site providing access to 
Village and Countryside and links 
would be available with the School, 
Village Hall and Medical Centre

Green buffer to
northern boundary

Some habitat B hedgerows 
may need to be removed 
but would be replaced 
elsewhere in the site

4747P
age 94



4848

G
re

at
 E

cc
le

st
on

 E
xt

en
si

on
 M

as
te

rp
la

n What happens next?
Before the Great Eccleston Extension Masterplan is progressed further we would like to know your thoughts 
on the different design principles and concepts referred to at this consultation event. Your views are valued 
and so it is important that as many people give us their comments as possible. Other stakeholders are also 
being consulted, with some of the key issues including:

• Are there any other principle constraints or opportunities which need to be taken into account?
• Is the Masterplan vision supported?
• Will the identified key development principles deliver the vision?
• What is the preferred Green Infrastructure Strategy? 
• What is the preferred location for the different land uses?

What will happen to your feedback?

All feedback received to this exhibition will be collected by Wyre Borough Council and held in accordance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Wyre Borough Council Privacy Notice. In providing your details 
you give consent to the Council to process your personal data for the specific purpose of developing the 
Great Eccleston Extension Masterplan (for instance to clarify comments made if necessary). These details 
will not be shared with any third party without your consent. You do not need to provide your personal details 
if you do not want to. 

Copies of your comments will be provided to De Pol Associates, with all personal details redacted. De Pol 
Associates will analyse comments received for the purposes of informing the production of the Masterplan. 
Any comments you make may be summarised in subsequent public documents, although this will not 
contain any personal details.

All comments received to this exhibition will be considered and used to help inform the final masterplan 
proposals for the development of this site.

We ask that any comments are sent to us before 

5 pm on 22nd January 2019.

We would like to thank you for attending this exhibition. 

Sending us your comments

There are a number of ways in which you can comment on the exhibition material and masterplan, including:

• Completing and leaving a comment form with the exhibition team here today;

• Posting comments to Planning Policy, Wyre Council, Civic Centre, Breck Road, Poulton-le-Fylde, FY6 7PU

• Emailing comments to Wyre Borough Council at (planning.policy@wyre.gov.uk)

• Completing an on-line electronic form available on the Council’s web site www.wyre.gov.uk/masterplans

The consultation material, an on-line form and an editable electronic copy of the comments form can be 
accessed at www.wyre.gov.uk/masterplans

Board 11

P
age 95



02PUBLIC CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

APPENDIX

P
age 96



02
PU

BL
IC

 C
O

N
SU

LT
AT

IO
N

 F
EE

D
BA

C
K

49

There were a number of ways feedback could sent with the 
details included on the exhibition material. These included:

 ■ Completing hard copy comment forms available at the Village 
Centre and on the Council’s web site, which could be posted 
to the Council or left at the Village Centre for collection;

 ■ emailing comments directly to the Council;

 ■ completing an on-line electronic form which was available on 
the Council’s web site.

 ■ A total of 31 responses were received.

7 responses were from the following statutory consultees and 
Council departments: Highways England; National Grid; Natural 
England; Sport England; United Utilities; Lancashire County 
Council Education; Fylde BC Head of Housing and Regeneration.

7 responses were from a County Councillor, the MP for Wyre and 
Preston North, Great Eccleston Parish Council, Copp CE Primary 
School; Greenhalgh and Thistleton Parish Council; St Michaels 
Flood Action Group (FLAG) and a ‘Right to Ride Representative 
of Cycling UK’.

The remaining 17 responses were from local residents living in 
Great Eccleston or the surrounding area. 

This appendix provides a summary of the consultation responses 
received and indicates how these have been treated in terms 
of developing the masterplan.  For full details of the responses 
received are available on the Wyre council web site at:

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1241/
masterplans

Please note that a number of the responses, including that 
received from Greenhalgh with Thistlethorn Parish Council, 
raised general objections to the principle of the development. 
These have not been summarised as the site is allocated for 
development in the adopted Local Plan and therefore the principle 
has been set.

A public consultation event was held at the Great Eccleston Village 
Centre on 11th December 2018 and 10th January 2019, where 
the exhibition boards attached at Appendix 1 were presented.

The Community were informed of the consultation event through 
posters and flyers sited throughout the village, together with 
notification in the local press and through the Parish Council’s 
‘inFocus’ community publication.

The consultation boards were available to view on the Council’s 
web site and at the Village Centre throughout the 6 week 
consultation period, which ran until 22nd January 2019. The 
consultation boards were also sent to the key stakeholders for 
comment.

Whilst all feedback was invited, the Community were specifically 
asked for their views on:

 ■ the constraints or opportunities which need to be taken into 
account;

 ■ the Masterplan vision;

 ■ the preferred Green Infrastructure strategy;

 ■ the preferred location for the different land uses;

 ■ the key development principles to be taken into account;

APPENDIX

P
age 97



50

 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Highways and Accessibility Two resident responses referred to the access point off West End / High 
Street being dangerous and suggested that access to this part of the site 
should be achieved from Copp Lane.

An access in this location serving 13 dwellings has been assessed by the Local Highway 
Authority as being acceptable in principle during their consideration of planning application 
18/00540/FULMAJ. To access this part of the site from within the main Masterplan area 
could necessitate the removal of established trees which define the site boundaries. An 
access in this location would also enable additional pedestrian and cycle links from the 
main Masterplan area to High Street. As such a secondary access is to be proposed in 
this general location, but the number of dwellings to be served is restricted and it will not 
provide vehicular access to the wider Masterplan area.

One local resident stated that there are no safe footpaths on Copp Lane, 
with another response drawing attention to the narrow nature of the 
village’s roads. A ‘Right to Ride’ representative for Cycling UK highlighted 
safety issues regarding paths along Copp Lane, suggesting that this 
could encourage future residents of the site to use car travel more. The 
representative suggested persuading the owner of the Dovecote field to 
allow the incorporation of a path along its western or eastern boundary 
with planting and enhanced landscaping to further improve the setting of 
the monument.

Footpaths on the northern side of Copp Lane can be provided where they fall within the 
masterplan area, with appropriate crossing points made available to the existing footpaths 
on the southern side of Copp Lane. There is already a commitment to widen these 
southern footpaths where they pass the Masterplan area as part of the Rowland Homes 
development. Whilst the existing footpaths are intermittent when approaching the village 
centre, this arrangement was not considered unacceptable when the development to the 
south of Copp Lane was approved on appeal. Moreover, the Masterplan has been designed 
to ensure that there are alternative pedestrian links through the centre of the site onto High
Street, where there are continuous footpaths to the village centre.

3 resident responses related to the internal road network, which included 
a suggestion for the implementation of a one-way system through the 
site, a reduced speed limit and pedestrian crossings throughout the site. 
Fylde Borough Council’s Head of Housing and a local resident suggested 
the inclusion of a pedestrian crossing from the site to Little Eccleston on 
the A586.

The central spine road must be two way for a development of this size and to reduce 
traffic movements through Great Eccleston centre, although one of the Masterplan design 
principles is for the spine road to be designed in a manner to reduce vehicle speeds. The 
location of any crossing points on or off-site is a detailed matter for the relevant planning 
application stage, although there is already a commitment for a crossing with two pedestrian 
refuge islands on the A586 as part of a development at Little Eccleston.

Sports England made general comments regarding the promotion of 
attractive pedestrian links and that a crescent design of internal roads 
would be positive design consideration as they limit dead-ends and 
support connectivity and pedestrian movement.

The Masterplan has been designed to promote attractive pedestrian links and permeability 
throughout the site, although the level of detail referred to by Sport England is a matter for 
the detailed application stage.

Highways England welcomed the opportunity for the proposed link road 
connecting development south of Copp Lane to the A586, which they 
envisage will help in easing the pressure on the A585 Thistleton Junction.

This has been incorporated into the Masterplan.

A ‘Right to Ride’ representative for Cycling UK highlighted the potential 
for cycle travel to other areas in the borough including Poulton, Kirkham 
and Warton, Garstang and Myercough College. Comments made by 
the representative identified issues and suggestions for off-site cycle 
routes from the site to each of these destinations. They also suggested 
a condition stating that should development of the caravan site off West 
End occur, there should be at least two points of future pedestrian access 
across this boundary, with similar provision should land to the south west 
also be developed in the future.

Any off-site highway improvements are matters to be considered at the detailed application 
stages and will need to be compliant with the NPPF and CIL, which includes being 
deliverable and viable.

The adjacent caravan site is not earmarked for development in the Local Plan and is 
sited outside the Masterplan area. . Any linkages that are deemed appropriate could be 
considered as part of the detailed planning of the community hub, although it is noted that 
there is already a significant link via the Public Right of Way that passes directly south of 
the caravan site.

P
age 98



5151

 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Surface Water and Foul Drainage Three local residents plus Cllr Salter and St Michaels Flood Action Group 
(FLAG) raised concerns regarding the potential for the development to 
cause or exasperate existing flooding and drainage issues. In particular 
concerns were raised regarding the floodwater attenuation measures 
and general concerns regarding the long-term impacts on surface water 
drainage; together with concerns about the potential impacts on the 
local sewage system both in Great Eccleston and St Michaels. FLAG 
specifically raised concerns regarding the overloaded sewerage system, 
suggesting that this has been subject to a number of pipe fractures 
along its length causing regular up surging of raw sewage into Rawcliffe 
Road, St Michaels. FLAG stated that in combination with others, that the 
development represents an opportunity to obtain funding contributions 
from developers to install new purpose-built sewage works at or near 
Great Eccleston and remove pressure on the existing system serving St 
Michaels, Churchtown, Garstang and the surrounding upstream area.

United Utilities (UU) referred to the lack of existing UU infrastructure in 
the area, both in terms of water and wastewater networks. UU noted 
that parts of the land within the allocation are located on the fringe of the 
existing water supply and sewage infrastructure networks which are of a 
size that reflect the greenfield location. UU confirmed a need to explore 
the capacity of current assets in the area to support the planned growth, 
suggesting co-ordinated approach to infrastructure.

In line with the Local Plan, the Masterplan requires a sustainable drainage system based 
on a surface water drainage hierarchy and discharge of residual surface water into the 
River Wyre via the existing watercourses, with on-site surface water storage to ensure 
that the volumes and peak flow rates of surface water leaving the developed site are equal 
to the Greenfield run-off rate for all events up to the 1 in 100 year storm (including a 30% 
allowance for climate change). As such there will be no worsening of impact on the local 
sewage system or flood risk as a result of surface water discharge.

With regards to foul, following the consultation feedback there has been a predevelopment 
inquiry and further meeting with UU who have confirmed that foul from the development can 
discharge to the 300mm combined sewer on Butts Lane, but that they would like a single 
pumping station serving the development. This has been incorporated into the Masterplan 
drainage strategy. UU will continue to be consulted as part of any planning applications 
relating to the Masterplan area. Ultimately, the site is allocated for development in the local 
plan and it is incumbent on applicants for planning permission to work with utility providers 
to deliver development.

In general, UU responded that they would look for the principles of the 
masterplan to identify the need for a comprehensive approach to guide 
delivery as separate applications come forward to ensure infrastructure 
requirements are met for the entire masterplan. UU state the importance 
for the document to make reference to a site wide infrastructure strategy 
at this early stage as such requirements can be diluted as a consequence 
of fragmented land ownership. UU raise the importance of a producing a 
proposed phasing and infrastructure schedule to be undertaken alongside 
the masterplan to ensure each development phase has unfettered access 
to available infrastructure, notably the proposed ponds to the west, and 
is not prevented access by third part land issues. UU recognise the 
importance that a following phase can proceed as the previous developer 
has been obliged to meet specific requirements contained in the schedule, 
including infrastructure, as part of such strategy.

In line with UU recommendations the Masterplan principles include the need for a  
comprehensive approach to drainage, including a single pumping station to the west of the 
site and utilisation of the existing water course features. The phasing of development will 
need to ensure that the necessary infrastructure for the wider Masterplan area is in place 
at an early stage of the development, although the surface water attenuation strategy has 
also been designed to ensure that the major development parcels, which are defined along 
land ownership grounds, are not affected by third party land issues. As noted above, close 
working with infrastructure providers will be required to deliver the local plan allocation.

 

P
age 99



5252

 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Habitat and Biodiversity Natural England suggest that reference should be made to why the policy 
potentially asks for a Habitat Regulation Assessment and bird surveys, so 
as to ensure that the land is not being utilised by SPA species at the time of 
the development. Should that be the case, additional mitigation measures 
would be required. They also state that references should be made to the 
surrounding functionally linked land, its importance to SPA species and 
how the site is linked to the designated sites. Natural England suggest 
that proposals could have a significant impact on these designated sites 
and land functionally linked to them (through disturbance and increased 
recreational pressure). As such NE suggest that this should be identified 
as a site constraint in the Masterplan and that it should refer to the need 
for possible mitigation land if it is found at project stage that there has 
been an increase in the use of the fields within the allocation by SPA/ 
Ramsar site species.

Whilst the allocation site is within 3km of Morecambe Bay European protected conservation 
site, none of the ecological assessments, which included bird surveys, identified the 
presence of SPA/ Ramsar site species at the site. As such there is no indication of the need 
for any mitigation measures in the design of the Masterplan relating to this particular matter. 
Nevertheless in line with local plan policies, any subsequent planning applications will need 
to be supported appropriate ecological assessments and should mitigation measures be 
identified as necessary these will need to be incorporated within the proposed development.

One resident identified potential loss of existing wildlife on the site as a 
consequence of the development.

One resident suggested that dwellings should be fitted with bird and bat 
boxes.

The Masterplan principles include the retention and enhancement of the identified Category 
A habit, as well as the Category B habitat where possible. Assessments have indicated that 
outside these identified habitats the site is of negligible to low ecological value. Overall the 
Masterplan objectives seek net biodiversity gain to be delivered where possible.  The detail 
of how this will be achieved is a matter for the detailed planning stage.

Design / Appearance / 
Landscaping

A number of residents raised concerns that the development would 
diminish the character of the village, with concerns that the style of the 
proposed dwellings would not be in keeping with the existing housing in 
the village.

The design and appearance of the housing is a matter for detailed planning application 
stage, however the masterplan objectives and design principles have been enhanced to 
reflect a desire for the new development to respect the current village in terms of design.

Some residents agreed with the constraints presented at the public 
consultation exhibition and recognised that the site is allocated, but 
suggested that as much as possible should be done to retain the rural feel 
of the area within the site, including buffering to the existing countryside 
and green areas to be spread throughout the site.

The Masterplan Green Infrastructure strategy has been enhanced to recognise the 
importance of sensitive boundaries in designing future schemes on this site.  The Masterplan 
green infrastructure strategy includes landscaped buffering along the western site boundary 
together with lower density development in this location to provide a sensitive transition 
between the development and adjacent countryside. The green infrastructure strategy also 
includes significant areas of poen space within the site.

One residents suggested the inclusion of a green buffer between the 
residential and employment elements.

This is included in the Masterplan.

Vision and Key Development 
Principles

One response suggested that the vision for the site did not appropriately 
show how the proposed development would be delivered.

The Vision is not part of the implementation element of the Masterplan.  The purpose of 
the Masterplan is to establish a spatial framework and supporting narrative that future 
development will be considered against, along with Local Plan policies.  

P
age 100



5353

 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Vision and Key Development 
Principles

United Utilities suggested replacing one of the key development principles 
with ‘’New development will be expected to follow the surface water 
hierarchy and incorporate exemplary Sustainable Drainage Methods. 
The expectation will be for only foul flows to communicate with the 
public sewer’. UU also suggested amending one of the key development 
principles to  ‘Opportunities should be taken to minimise energy and 
water consumption and reduce waste where possible. Where identified 
as necessary in consultation with infrastructure providers, applicants will 
be required to provide evidence and details of mitigating measures that 
consider the impact on surrounding infrastructure.’’ 

The masterplan requires a detailed drainage scheme to be submitted at the relevant planning 
application stage which reflects Local Plan policy CDMP2 and SA3/3. The Masterplan also 
confirms that the expectation is that only foul flows will communicate with the public sewer.

Natural England states that they would like to see an additional key 
development principle added which makes reference to the development 
improving the natural environment through biodiversity net gain, as well 
as the inclusion of sustainable urban drainage systems, new habitat 
creation and linking habitats through green corridors / wildlife network.

The Masterplan Green Infrastructure, Landscape and Biodiversity Strategy and the Drainage 
Strategy refer to including sustainable urban drainage systems, new habit creation and 
linking habitats through green corridors/wildlife networks, as well as delivering biodiversity 
enhancement.

Green Infrastructure The consultation exercises identified three main ways in which Green 
Infrastructure could be incorporated within the site. Concept 1 was 
networks of open space and natural / semi-natural greenspace strongly 
focused on the public right of way through the centre of the site; Concept 
2 was most of the open space being used to create a village green; and 
Concept 3 was a stronger focus on a larger green buffer along the northern 
boundary between the Great Eccleston and Little Eccleston. There were 
11 direct responses to this question, with six favouring concept 1; four 
favouring concept 3; and only one favouring concept 2.

Based on the feedback from the public consultation and the stakeholder meetings the 
preferred green infrastructure strategy carried forward into the Masterplan was Concept 
1, i.e. networks of open space and natural / semi-natural greenspace strongly focused on 
the public right of way through the centre of the site, but including usable areas of amenity 
open space.

Recreational space could distract from existing green space already 
serving the village and could contribute towards the demise of the village 
centre.

The Masterplan is required to provide green infrastructure within the development, although 
the green infrastructure strategy does avoid the creation of a single large village green.

There is a need for sympathetic consideration of the area behind existing 
properties located to the south east corner of the site by way of enhanced 
boundary landscaping.

The Masterplan includes the provision of landscaped buffering along sensitive boundaries, 
although the need to retain adequate amenity and privacy for existing properties will be a 
consideration for any subsequent planning application relating to the area.

General enhancement to the footpath through the centre of the site,
which should retain a rural character and act as a refuge for animals
and plants

The Masterplan proposes the enhancement of the existing PRoW, whilst retaining this 
central area as a wildlife corridor.

Additional screening between any development and the Dovecote land. This is incorporated in the Masterplan

Potentially a smaller village green. The preferred Green Infrastructure strategy does not allow for a village green although it 
does facilitate areas of usable amenity space.

One resident suggested that the Dovecote land could be used as public 
open space

The landowner has not taken part in this Masterplan process and the site referred to is to 
remain open land. Thus it is not possible to propose the use of this land for public open 
space, although the Masterplan does not preclude this from occurring at a future date 
should the landowner allow the land to be used for this purpose.

P
age 101



5454

 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Vision and Key Development 
Principles

Natural England commented that green space should be appropriate to 
provide space for everyone (i.e. not to exclude dog walker), and for open 
space to be utilised as effective mitigation for recreational disturbance on 
nearby functionally linked land.

The Masterplan principles require green space to be available for everyone.

Sport England recommended that a financial payment should be made 
to provide on-site and off-site sports facilities, including indoor facilities.

The Masterplan has been drafted in accordance with local plan policy on Green Infrastructure 
(GI) which supports-on site GI in preference to off-site provision.

Sport England recommend that the public right of way should be 
designed to preserve openness, promote natural surveillance, create a 
safe environment and ensure multiple access points. Comments from 
Sport England also suggest that the existing buffer between the site and 
the Dovecote Field creates a barrier between the two sections of the 
residential development, and they query whether more could be done 
to create active links between the southwest corner of the site and the 
proposed community facilities. Furthermore, they suggested promoting 
connections between the two residential zones to provide an attractive 
link between the site and existing village.

The Green Infrastructure strategy has been designed to preserve openness through the 
centre of the site in the location of the existing PRoW which is to be retained and enhanced. 
The Masterplan also promotes permeability through the site including frequent access 
points to and from the adjacent proposed housing and community hub to this central PRoW 
and proposed open space. The design principles include ensuring that the housing layout 
promotes natural surveillance over the areas of public spaces.

The landowner of the Dovecote land has chosen not to partake in the Masterplan process 
although the Masterplan does not preclude this land from being used for open space at 
a later date. However, the Masterplan has alternative pedestrian and cycle links to the 
community hub which are equally as accessible to the wider community.

The ‘Right to Ride’ representative for Cycling UK suggested that there 
should only be one spine road crossing of the PROW, but that there 
should be several crossings for pedestrians and cyclists.

This is reflected in the Masterplan.

Housing Mix There were 13 responses relating to the mix of housing, with a need for 
starter homes being identified three times, shared ownership affordable 
housing one time, social rent affordable housing two times, housing 
adaptable for the elderly nine times, self-build plots two times, 1 and 2 
bed smaller properties four times and family homes once.

There is insufficient response to draw any real conclusions from this feedback but the 
Masterplan requires planning applications to propose development in line with Local Plan 
policy requirements relating to the mix of housing and delivery of affordable housing.

A sheltered housing scheme for the elderly and possibly for younger 
disabled people
A mix of all housing types but no large block of any one type

Self-build to be conditioned so that it would be in keeping with the rest of 
the dwellings
Only bungalows in the fields immediately to the north and the west of the 
dovecote fields

Non Residential Uses The public consultation identified alternative ways in which the different 
non-residential land uses could be located within the site. Concept A was 
to locate the employment use and store to the north west corner of the 
site and to distribute the remaining non-residential uses either side of 
the PRoW, so that they benefit from this accessibility to the village but 
are not located adjacent to one another. Concept B was to locate all the 
non-residential uses together in one single location on the eastern site 
boundary adjacent to the retained and enhance PRoW. Concept C was 
to locate the employment area and convenience store to the north west 
corner of the site and locate the remaining non-residential uses together 
in one group to the east of the site adjacent to the PRoW.

There were 8 responses to this question, with 4 favouring concept B and 
4 favouring concept C.

Based on this feedback and the responses during the stakeholder meetings the preferred 
strategy for the Masterplan was a mixture of concepts B and C, i.e. the employment area 
located towards the north west corner of the site and all the other non-residential uses sited 
together to create a community hub on the eastern site boundary adjacent to the PRoW. 
This is reflected in the final Masterplan.

P
age 102



 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Non Residential Uses The public consultation suggested the possibility of a petrol station with 
convenience store being included within the Masterplan. The ‘Right 
to Ride’ representative for Cycling UK agreed with the idea of having 
such a use on the A586 frontage and three other responses agreed that 
such a use would be best served off the A586 nearer to Little Eccleston 
on the northern boundary. 7 responses stated that they did not want 
a convenience store/filling station for reasons including the potential 
negative consequences that this could have on existing services in the 
Village and that similar previous operations have closed in the area, with 
the assumption that this would be a generally uneconomical option.

The Masterplan does not make provision for a petrol station as this is not a requirement of 
Local Plan policy, although it does not preclude a planning application proposing such a 
use. Were this to occur then the merits or otherwise of that proposal would be considered 
at that time.

1 response suggested the School should be located off Copp Lane, 1 
responses suggested it should be centrally located and 1 suggested 
the school playground be located towards the northern edge of the site 
abutting a green buffer and 1 response said that the school should be 
located nowhere near the main road.

The Masterplan sites the school within the Community hub which is centrally located, 
adjacent to the PRoW and away from the main road. The wider preference was for the 
school to be sited towards the eastern boundary rather than off Copp Lane, which would 
also have sited the school close to the existing school on Copp Lane.

LCC Education did not express a preference for the location of the School 
and were happy with all concepts in this regard, however, it is understood 
that the final location would be subject to a feasibility assessment.

The Masterplan allows for some flexibility in the exact location of the school, which is a 
matter for the planning application stages.

One response suggested a preference for the health centre and other 
amenities to be located in the village centre only.

The adopted Local Plan requires the development to make provision for these
uses within the Masterplan area.

Two responses saw the specific benefit in having the health centre located 
close to the village hall, one of which specifically said this should take 
place within the northern section of the site and suggested that these 
services should have bus access.

The final design of the community hub is for detailed planning stage, however the comments 
are noted.

Despite being concerned with the scale of the development The Right 
Honourable Ben Wallace MP commends the Council for seeking to 
incorporate a school, health care centre, community facilities and 
business park within the masterplan area.

These uses are included within the Masterplan.

Sport England supported the concept of co-locating the community 
facilities although they stated that ’the location of the employment zone to 
the north west of the site away from the facilities as proposed in concept 
plans A and C, creates a divide from the remainder of the site. Where this 
zone is accessed via a branch from the spine road it appears to be cut off 
from the rest of the proposed development and there are no visible active 
transport links.

The employment area needs to have a frontage along Garstang Road and the preferred 
option taking all feedback into account was to split the employment area from the 
remaining non-residential uses. The Masterplan shows visible active transport links with 
the employment area.

The ‘Right to Ride’ representative for Cycling UK suggested that village 
facilities should be located as close to the existing village as possible and 
should therefore be grouped together with shared parking and reserved-
spaces for staff and disabled people. Furthermore, these should be 
accessed directly off the spine road, meaning that this should be moved as 
far east as possible on Copp Lane and Garstang Road which should also 
be suitable to accommodate bus routes. In addition, the representative 
suggested moving the location of the school to the ‘extreme east’ of the 
site.

The Masterplan has sited the community hub to the eastern boundary adjacent to the 
PRoW to ensure connectivity with the village centre. The Masterplan also ensures that 
the internal road network will be designed in a manner where bus services could be 
provided to the Community Hub and through the site connecting Garstang Road and Copp 
Lane. The development will be required to include adequate car parking in line with policy 
requirements, which is a matter for the planning application stage.

55

P
age 103



 FEEDBACK RESPONSE

Non Residential Uses Fylde Borough Council’s Head of Housing and Regeneration response 
provides support for the proposed development, particularly the provision 
of a new health centre. They also recognise that all concepts show 
communities facilities to be sustainability located and easily accessible 
by foot.

Noted.

The public consultation suggested the possibility of a petrol station with 
convenience store being included within the Masterplan. The ‘Right to 
Ride’ representative for Cycling UK agreed with the idea of having such 
a use on the A586 frontage and three other responses agreed that such 
a use would be best served off the A586 nearer to Little Eccleston on 
the northern boundary. Seven responses stated that they did not want 
a convenience store/filling station for reasons including the potential 
negative consequences that this could have on existing services in the 
Village and that similar previous operations have closed in the area, with 
the assumption that this would be a generally uneconomical option.

The Masterplan does not make provision for a petrol station as this is not a requirement of 
Local Plan policy, although it does not preclude a planning application proposing such a 
use. Were this to occur then the merits or otherwise of that proposal would be considered 
at that time.

Other One resident highlighted the need for an easement to the rear of the 
properties on Copp Lane to access existing septic tanks.

Any existing easement rights would have to be taken into account by the developers at the 
detail planning application stages, where neighbouring properties would be consulted at 
that stage as part of the planning application process.

One resident identified the need for the development to have adequate 
lighting

This is a detailed matter for the planning application stages.

One resident identified the possibility of including a ‘police house’ on the 
site.

There has been no request for a police house by the relevant Policy Constabulary.

One resident suggested the need for electrical charging points. This is a matter for the detailed planning application stages which will need to consider 
local plan policy on this matter.

A response was received from Great Eccleston Copp CE School which 
stated that they are currently under-subscribed and requested that 
proposals for a primary school are withdrawn due to the potential impact 
on the future of the existing schools in the village. Furthermore, 1 response 
suggested that there was no need for the school as there are already 2 
undersubscribed in the village.

The need for a new primary school has been identified by the Local Education Authority and 
is a requirement set out in the adopted Local Plan. This Masterplan is therefore required to 
make land available for a school, although its delivery is the responsibility of the education 
authority. They will have the power to delay its delivery if considered appropriate on the 
basis of existing primary schools being undersubscribed.

National Grid stated that it has no record of identified apparatus within the 
Masterplan area, including high voltage electricity assets, high-pressure 
gas pipelines, and gas distribution’s intermediate and high-pressure 
apparatus.

This is acknowledged in the Masterplan

1 commented that the constraints and opportunities of the site were 
not readily identifiable, with board 4 only acting as a summary without 
including any explanatory text detailing the constraints and opportunities.

The Masterplan is more detailed than the consultation boards.

1 response suggested that the development could impact the economic 
viability of farming the dovecote land and suggested that the monument’s 
setting would be damaged by development.

The site is allocated in the local plan and as such the principle of development is accepted. 
Histroric England have been a key stakeholder within the masterplan process and have 
raised no concerns regarding impact on the Dovecote. 

5656

P
age 104



Page intentionally blank

P
age 105



03ECOLOGY ADVICE

APPENDIX

P
age 106



03
EC

O
LO

G
Y 

AD
VI

C
E

57

APPENDIX

1. A series of ecological surveys, desktop survey, and ecological 
impact assessment, were carried out in respect of land situated off 
Copp Lane, Great Eccleston, where proposals are to develop the 
site for housing and other uses.

2. There are no historic records of any protected or otherwise 
important species and habitats occurring within or close enough to 
the site boundaries to be affected.

3. There are three ponds within 250m of the site boundaries, one of 
which occurs within the site boundaries, all of which are at least 
marginally suitable for use by great crested newts. Except for 
the habitat along the site margins, most of the site proposed for 
development comprises terrestrial habitat that is relatively poor in 
quality and unlikely to be used by great crested newts or other 
amphibians. The latter was confirmed during several survey visits 
using appropriate survey techniques.

4. There are no buildings and relatively few large mature trees given 
the size of the site. The trees of greatest significance are those 
occur along the existing footpath towards the centre and east of 
the site, most of which have moderate to high potential for bat 
roosting.There are occasional mature tree scattered elsewhere 
across the site including several dead or dying trees. There were 
no conclusive signs of roosting were found during the night-time 
surveys, but the central part of the site is well used for commuting 
and foraging by several species of bats.

5. Habitat of significant (moderate to high) ecological value, including 
Priority Habitats such as ponds, woodland, mature trees, intact 
hedgerow and other mature vegetation, that is linked into the wider 
wildlife corridor, has been classed as Category A habitat and shaded 
purple in Figure 7. Other habitat which has moderate ecological 
value but is of lesser quality in relative terms due to poor structure 
or fragmentation in respect of hedgerows, terrestrialisation or 
eutrophication in respect of ponds, and/or is isolated from the wider 
wildlife corridor but that could be feasibly restored and linked by 
appropriate landscaping, for example, is classed as Category B 
habitat and labelled orange.

6. Otherwise, the major part of the site, which is dominated by species-
poor improved grassland, is of very limited importance to bats 
though some of the hedgerows and stands of early-mature trees 
are used to a small extent by bats for foraging and commuting, 
though any such habitat of ecological value will be retained and 
enhanced where necessary by appropriate landscaping.

7. A number of breeding birds use some sections of hedgerow 
adjacent to the site and along the field boundaries, as well as the 
habitat associated with the pond, but most of this habitat will not 
be directly affected and landscaping proposals will result in an 
improvement of habitat structure thereby increasing the number 
of potential niches for birds in terms of both nesting and feeding.

8. No protected bird species such as barn owl were recorded though 
other Priority Species such as hedge sparrow and song thrush 
were recorded and will be allowed for in mitigation proposals. 
Ground-nesting and overwintering bird species such as lapwing 
and curlew have been recorded in small numbers on adjacent sites 
and occasional on the site proposed for development but never in 
significant numbers.

9. With the exception of the above there were no signs of any other 
protected or otherwise important species such as badger or water 
vole occurring on site or close to the site boundaries and any impact 
upon these or any other such species is considered highly unlikely.

10. Except for the on-site ponds, a drainage ditch to the west and 
centre of the site, and the areas of dense tree cover and more 
intact hedgerows, all of which will be retained and incorporated into 
the new landscape, there are no important habitats or vegetation 
communities occurring on site or close to the site boundaries that 
will be adversely affected by proposals.

11. It is reasonable to conclude that with adequate mitigation and the 
implementation of severalappropriate precautions in respect of 
bats and breeding birds there will be no negative ecological impact 
of any significance resulting from proposals to develop the site

12. With regard to Arboricultural issues, there are relatively few trees 
on site given the extent. The trees of highest value in arboricutural 
terms are those that are situated along the public right of way that 
crosses the centre of the site. The trees in this area are mostly 
mature and growing in a woodland type situation. Whilst there are 
few trees of individual arboricultural merit, this stand of trees has 
high value in terms of landscape and ecological value and will be 
retained as such.

13. Beyond the central part of the site, trees are scattered, situated 
mainly within hedgerows (or former hedgerows). Many of the larger, 
older trees are dead or dying and will require removal.Others are in 
fair to good overall condition and of moderate to high arboricultural 
and/or landscape value. None of the trees of moderate to high 
value will require removal or will be significantly impacted by 
development proposals, all of which will be incorporated into areas 
of public open space, formally landscaped areas or gardens.

14. Overall, there will be minimal arboricultural impact resulting from 
proposals to develop the site.

Great Eccleston Phase 3 Development

P
age 107



04LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL IMPACT 

APPENDIX

P
age 108



04
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
AN

D
 V

IS
U

AL
 IM

PA
C

T

58

APPENDIX

Landscape Summary

1. Impacts as a result of development on the 
site on both nationally defined and district 
level character areas, are considered to be 
negligible. The site exhibits characteristics 
found in both studies however the existing 
adjacent settlement edge and transport corridor 
to the north have a strong influence on the site.

2. Whilst there are limited features of particular 
landscape value on site, and even though 
development would result in a loss of openness, 
there is potential to introduce new landscape 
features within an GI framework, resulting in 
localised landscape benefits. There is potential 
to reinforce existing hedgerows and trees, 
integrating them into the layout.

3. The site and its immediate context cover a 
much smaller area compared to the county 
landscape character and, as a result, effects 
would be more apparent. Development would 
bring localised changes; however, the changes 
would not introduce elements that are out of 
character but rather a new arrangement of 
elements that are present in the context of the 
site.

4. There would be adverse effects associated 
with development, particularly for the site 
itself where the changes would be greatest. 
They represent a change in character for 
the site and a less marked effect for the 
context which already contains many of the 
characteristics/features that the development 
proposes however there will ultimately be 
some loss of grazed paddocks and arable 
land. Establishment of structural planting along 
key boundaries and retention of areas of open 
space within the development will assist in 
reducing overall effects.

Visual Summary

5. 7.5 Residents along Copp Lane will experience 
some views across the site from the rear of 
properties. There is some existing screening 
provided by vegetation within gardens, along 
field boundaries and by the woodland belt 
within the centre of the site. Additional boundary 
planting will provide further mitigation.

6. 7.6 Some dwellings on Little Eccleston‘s 
northern edge may experience views of the 
site however these will be in context with the 
existing development edge of Great Eccleston 
and the new development south of Copp Lane. 
The majority of dwellings at Little Eccleston will 
experience no views.

7. Users of the two footpaths that are within the site and its periphery 2-13 FP11 and 2-13 
FP26 will experience some views of proposed development. 2-13 FP11 traverses through 
the site and some views will be possible.The central woodland belt provides some existing 
mitigation. Footpath 2-13 FP26 experiences more broken views due to intervening 
vegetation along field boundaries to the south and the distance between the receptor and 
the sites southern boundary. Site boundaries could be improved to offer additional softening 
and reduced effects. The site is generally viewed in the context of Great Eccleston for both 
footpaths. Users of footpaths in the wider landscape may experience some views of the 
site however these would be glimpsed and generally view the site in the context of existing 
development. Landform and visual barriers to the north and east of the site further reduce 
opportunities for views from footpaths.

1. 7.8 Users of Copp Lane and Garstang Road will both experience some views as they 
abut the sites eastern and northern boundaries. Accesses will be taken from both of these 
routes and therefore some hedgerow removal will be required. The sites boundary with 
both roads features continuous hedgerow, restricting views across the site from road level 
except where existing field entrances allow glimpses across the site.

Conclusion

2. 7.9 The site is generally well contained in landscape and visual terms by the built form 
of Great Eccleston and surrounding topography, both natural and man-made. Visual 
effects are considered to be limited to short and medium distance receptors and effects 
reduce with viewing distance. There will be limited opportunities of views of the proposed 
development beyond the immediate context of the site. Overall, it is considered that a well-
considered development could be readily assimilated into the receiving landscape.

LVIA Figure 6: Visual appraisal plan ©FPCR

P
age 109



Page intentionally blank

P
age 110



P
age 111

lmilnes_1
Typewritten Text
dems/cab/cr/19/0412lh2 Appendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 

Councillor Michael Vincent, 
Planning and Economic 

Development Portfolio Holder 
and 

Marianne Hesketh 
Corporate Director 

Communities 

Cabinet 4 December 2019 

 

Masterplan: SA3/5 Land West of the A6, Garstang 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

To seek approval of the Masterplan for Local Plan allocation SA3/5 Land 
West of the A6, Garstang.   

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 

An approved Masterplan will be a material planning consideration in the 
consideration of planning applications on the site.   

3. Recommendations 
 

 3.1 
 

That the Masterplan for Land West of the A6, Garstang be approved. 

 3.2 That powers be delegated to the Head of Planning Services to make 
minor editorial amendments and corrections to the Masterplan prior to 
publication. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 

The adopted Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031) requires residential and mixed 
use site allocations proposing more than 50 dwellings to be brought 
forward in line with an approved Masterplan. To inform the Masterplan 
process the council has produced ‘Guidance on the Preparation of 
Masterplans’. This was approved by Cabinet on 5 September 2018 and 
was updated on 9 May 2019 (approval granted under delegated authority 
to the Portfolio Holder). It has been used by officers with landowners, 
developers and other interested parties to inform the development of 
Masterplans to date. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 7



 
 4.2 This report seeks approval for the Masterplan relating to Local Plan site 

allocation SA3/5 Land West of the A6, Garstang. The site is a mixed use 
allocation for 270 dwellings and 4.68 hectares of employment land. The 
allocation also requires the provision of a small convenience store.   
 

5. Key issues and proposals 
 

 5.1 
 
 

The Local Plan allocates Land West of the A6, Garstang to deliver 270 
dwellings and 4.68 hectares of employment land for B Use Classes. The 
allocation also requires the provision of a small convenience store of up 
to 280 square metres net sales area. The allocation notes that the whole 
site has outline planning permission for housing and employment 
(planning application number 14/00458) which was granted on appeal on 
17 April 2017. This extant permission proposed 270 dwellings and 4.68 
hectares of employment land (Use Classes B1 and B8) with the proposed 
main highway access via a signalised junction from the A6.   
 

 5.2 On 22 March 2017, the council resolved to grant outline planning 
permission (subject to condition and the completion of a Section 106 
legal agreement) for an alternative housing and employment scheme 
(planning application number 16/00241) covering the whole of the site.  
This alternative scheme proposed 269 dwellings and approximately 3.6 
hectares of employment land.  The scheme also proposed an alternative 
highway access to the site taken from the A6 via a roundabout formed as 
part of the reconfiguration of the road.  To date, the Section 106 legal 
agreement has not been signed and the planning permission has 
therefore not been issued.  This alternative application was also 
determined by the council against the then adopted Local Plan (1991-
2006), which was superseded in February 2019 by the adoption of the 
new Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031).  The alternative application which 
remains pending will therefore need to be reconsidered and determined 
by the council against the new Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031).   
 

 5.3  The Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031) allocates the site under policy SA3/5 
and lists a series of Key Development Considerations, of which the first is 
that: “The site is to be brought forward in line with a Masterplan to be 
produced covering the whole of the site. The Masterplan must be agreed 
by the local planning authority prior to the granting of planning permission 
for any part of the site”.  
 

 5.4 The applicant of the alternative scheme, Chippendale Ltd have indicated 
a desire to proceed with the pending planning application scheme for the 
site.  To accord with the new Local Plan policy requirements a 
Masterplan for the whole site is now required.  The pending planning 
application may also need to be revised to accord with the new Local 
Plan requirements to provide 270 dwellings and 4.68 hectares of 
employment land.   
 
 

Page 114



 5.5 In accordance with this Local Plan requirement, subsequent to the 
submission of planning application 16/0024/OUTMAJ, the applicant 
Chippendale Ltd has led on the development of a Masterplan for site 
SA3/5.   
 

 5.6 The Masterplan process has broadly followed that set out in the guidance 
referred to in this report. The guidance allows for a proportionate 
approach to be taken to the production of a Masterplan depending upon 
the scale and complexity of the development.  Due to the extant planning 
permission and the current pending application that the council have 
previously resolved to approve, the Masterplan for SA3/5 is simpler in 
structure, content and process compared to more complex mixed use 
allocations which do not benefit planning permission.   
 

 5.7 The Masterplan for the site has followed a logical approach to describing 
the policy and physical context, including an assessment of townscape 
character and the identification of constraints and opportunities. It 
describes a vision and series of key design principles that will be used to 
guide the detailed development of the site. The Masterplan framework 
includes two options that reflect the two alternative highway access 
arrangements proposed via the extant planning permission and pending 
planning application.  The Masterplan framework also demonstrates how 
both alternative options can deliver the policy requirements of the Local 
Plan Policy SA3/5, in terms of the delivery of 270 dwellings and 4.68 
hectares of employment land, alongside the sufficient provision of onsite 
green infrastructure.   
 

 5.8 Consultation with stakeholders and the public has been through formal 
submission of comments on the two planning applications referred to 
above which have been reflected in the Masterplan.  The draft 
Masterplan was also circulated and considered by the Planning Policy 
Working Group (members and officers) and the appropriate ward 
members for comment at a meeting held on 7 October 2019.  An 
additional two week key stakeholder consultation which included key 
infrastructure providers and Garstang Town Council was also held 
between 11 and 25 October 2019.   
 

 5.9 In response, the council received seven representations.  A summary of 
the representations together with a summary of how this feedback has 
been considered and where this has influenced the final Masterplan is 
included within appendix D of the final Masterplan. In summary, 
representations received typically sought minor text updates to improve 
clarity or elaborate on development considerations for the detailed design 
stage, which have been incorporated into the final Masterplan as 
appropriate.  Some of the representations received from Garstang Town 
Council have related to matters connected with the principle of 
development.  However the site is allocated in the adopted Local Plan 
and as such the principle is accepted.   
  

Page 115



 5.10 It is noted the purpose of a Masterplan is not to provide a detailed scheme 
for development. As such elements have to be seen as “indicative” or 
“illustrative”.  Nevertheless, the Masterplan framework establishes by way 
of a plan and narrative the location of the key uses and areas of land, 
general access and highway arrangements and the board location of the 
green infrastructure.  Key features of the Masterplan are: 
 

 The development of an employment area in the north-east of the site, 
close to the A6; 
 

 The main area of green infrastructure (GI) focused along the easement 
location that runs north-east/south-west and along the A6, with other 
areas of GI providing a separation between the employment and 
residential area; 

 

 The main site access to be taken from the A6 either via a signalised 
junction or via a roundabout formed as part of the reconfiguration of the 
A6; and     

 

 A recognition of the need to treat the edges of the development with 
sensitivity, particularly where the site abuts the countryside, with 
appropriate transition to the countryside and appropriately designed 
natural edge and lower density housing.   

 
 5.11 Overall, it is considered that the document provides a proportionate and 

appropriate response to the requirement for a Masterplan for site SA3/5.   
 

 5.12 It is noted that the Local Plan has been subject to a sustainability 
appraisal and equality impact assessment. Whilst the development of the 
allocated site subject to the Masterplan will not have significant 
implications on matters of sustainability, climate change and equalities 
these have been considered as part of the local plan process. 

 

Financial and legal implications 

Finance 
There are no financial implications arising directly from this 
report. 

Legal 
If approved, the Masterplan will be a material planning 
consideration in the consideration of planning applications 
on the site. 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

Page 116



risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity x  climate change x 

sustainability x  ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 

 
Processing Personal Data 

 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 

report author telephone no. email date 

Fiona Riley 01253 887235 fiona.riley@wyre.gov.uk 11/11/2019 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   

 
 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Masterplan for Land West of the A6, Garstang 
 
 
 
 
dem/cab/cr/19/0412fr2 

Page 117



 
    

  Page 1 of 26 

 

 

 

Masterplan 

 

For Land West of the A6, Garstang  

to support the  

Outline Planning Application  

for proposed mixed development  

 

 

 

 

         

 

 

 

for J. Chippendale Limited 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MCK Associates Limited 

48 Watling Street Road 

Fulwood  

Preston  

PR2 8BP 

01772 774510 

mck@mckassociates.co.uk 

P
age 118

mailto:mck@mckassociates.co.uk
lmilnes_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 2 of 26 

 

  Contents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

2.0 SITE CONTEXT 

3.0 CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES 

4.0 PLANNING POLICIES 

5.0 VISION AND AIMS 

6.0 MASTERPLAN  

7.0 DESIGN PRINICPLES 

8.0 CONCLUSIONS 

9.0 APPENDIX A – CONSTRAINTS PLAN 

10.0 APPENDIX B – MASTERPLAN 

11.0 APPENDIX C – ALTERNATIVE MASTERPLAN 

12.0 APPENDIX D – STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION 

3 

4 

6 

10 

12 

13 

16 

19 

 

Fig.1 (Right) - A6 - Preston / Lancaster 

new road looking south 

Fig.2 (Bottom) - A6 - Looking north from 

the old railway crossing point 

 (Road summit on the A6) 

P
age 119



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 3 of 26 

 

   Introduction 

 

 

1.1 This masterplan has been produced to provide a development 

framework for the site known as Land West of the A6, 

Garstang, which is allocated in the Wyre Local Plan under 

policy SA3/5 for mixed use development (housing and 

employment).  

 

1.2 The Local Plan policy for the site states that the site should be 

brought forward in line with a masterplan covering the whole 

site and that the masterplan must be agreed by the local 

planning authority prior to any permission being granted.  

 

1.3 The purpose of producing a masterplan is to put in place a 

development framework that will be used as a material 

consideration in determining any future planning applications 

on the site. It will ensure that the land is comprehensively 

developed and where a particular site is on the edge of a 

settlement, on a whole it relates and integrates with the existing 

settlement and provides an organic extension.  

 

1.4 The scope and context of this document has been informed by 

Guidance on the Preparation of Masterplans, approved by the 

council on 5
th

 September 2018.   

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                            
 

 

Fig.3 – Wider Context Plan 

P
age 120



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 4 of 26 

 

   Site Context  

 

 

2.1 LOCAL CONTEXT 

 

The site occupies a total of 16.64 hectares (41.12 acres). 

 

The site sits west of the main A6 Preston / Lancaster New 

Road and is bound by Croston Barn Lane to the north, the 

Lancaster Canal to the south and Nateby Crossing Lane to 

the west.  It is currently used as low quality agricultural land, 

being fragmented and crossed by numerous hedges and 

ditches, as well as being bisected by the former railway line / 

embankment.  

 

The comprehensive highway network which serves Garstang 

provides good access to and from the site from the 

surrounding wider area. The site is accessed off the A6 and 

located in a sustainable location with good public transport 

links close to the site to the nearby areas and local town centre.   

 

2.2 EXISTING TOWNSCAPE 

 

Outside the site boundary, there are several traditional rural 

dwellings houses and farm buildings located on the perimeter 

of the site. Garstang Marina sits to the west of the site on the 

Lancaster Canal, and is accessed by vehicular traffic via 

Nateby Crossing Lane. A further marina sits immediately to the 

south of Garstang Marina, being the Bridge House Complex, 

and which also offers facilities for holiday homes and touring 

caravans. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INDUSTRIAL 
CENTRE 

LIBRARY AND 
LEISURE CENTRE 

Fig.4 – Local Context Plan 

Fig.5 - Aerial photograph of existing site 
 

P
age 121



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 5 of 26 

 

                     Site Context continued...  

 

 

To the east of the site is the main A6 Preston / Lancaster New 

Road and the land beyond is occupied by family housing, 

which has slowly expanded from the town centre to this natural 

boundary, the ground levels here being lower than the main 

road. Properties range from single storey and dormer 

bungalows to two storey mews and semi-detached houses 

constructed of mainly brick and render. 

 

To the south of the site is the Lancaster Canal, and immediately 

opposite lies a recent residential development, Nateby Court. 

These new dwellings comprise predominantly detached 

dwellings, of 2 and 2.5 storeys, with private driveways. 

 

The north of the site is bounded by Croston Barn Lane, a 

country lane, serving a number of existing commercial uses as 

well as a small number of traditional dwelling houses. This lane 

connects to Nateby Crossing Lane to the west and the traffic 

light-controlled junction on the A6 / B5272 Cockerham Road. 

The parcel of open land on this northern area is allocated under 

the local policy, referenced as SA1/14, to deliver 260 units and 

a primary school.  

 

To the north-east, there is a triangle of land that is bounded by 

the A6 and Croston Barn Lane but falls outside of the site and 

is operated as a logging processing business. 

 

2.3 VIEWS IN / OUT OF THE SITE 

 

The site is bound by the A6 to the east with the main body of 

Garstang beyond. Nateby Crossing Lane is bound to the west 

with the existing marina complex and a caravan park further 

beyond. Some limited development to the south and a large 

area immediately to the north is currently largely open but allocated for residential development and a new 

primary school in the Local Plan. The site is considered to be relatively contained. 

 

It is acknowledged that the development proposed is of a major scale that would undoubtedly change the 

character of the immediate area, but viewed against this backdrop of the surrounding land uses, road 

network, and its location within the settlement boundary, as such, the development is considered to 

represent less of a clear intrusion into the wider views of the open countryside.  Appropriate design of the 

scheme at the detailed application stage can assist and mitigate.   

 

The site is screened to a degree by existing hedgerow and trees along the site’s boundary.  There are key 

views into the site, with viewpoints at the north and south extent of the A6; from Cathouse Bridge travelling 

along Nateby Crossing Lane; and at the junction of Nateby Crossing Lane and Croston Barn Lane.  There 

are also views and glimpses into the site through existing hedgerows and trees. 

 

The site has attractive views looking outwards towards the countryside on the far West and North too. 

 

2.4     LOCAL CHARACTER / VERNACULAR 

 

Garstang has grown organically over time with existing housing displaying a broad mix of architectural styles 

and ages.  The local architectural style varies from single storey bungalows to dormer bungalows and semi-

detached two storey properties. These properties are constructed mainly from a mixture of red or buff brick 

with white or pebble-dashed render and grey roof tiles. 

 

More recent developments have provided two and two and a half storey detached units also constructed 

from red brick and grey and red roof tiles. 

 

Residential developments typically include small front gardens with off road car parking. There is a mixture 

of boundary treatments which includes walls, fencing, hedgerows and soft landscaping. 

Fig.6 (Left) - Recent adjacent development at Nateby Court.           Fig.7 (Right) - Croston Barn Lane. 

 

P
age 122



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 6 of 26 

 

   Constraints & Opportunities 

 

 

 

3.1 Figure 8 (page 9) illustrates the main physical characteristics of 

the site and identifies the key development constraints and 

opportunities and the site’s relationship with the immediate 

surrounding and adjacent land-uses. The plan has drawn on 

the findings of supporting surveys and evidence that have been 

produced and submitted in support of the pending outline 

application. This analysis has informed the masterplan 

framework.  

 

The site benefits from access to public transport links, as well 

as local services. The plans will also provide an opportunity to 

deliver benefits for the wider community, as new homes will 

bring more trade for local businesses and could also act as a 

catalyst for further investment. The employment zone will 

create a number of employment opportunities for the region. 

 

The proposals have evolved through a detailed analysis of the 

site opportunities and constraints. Some of these topics 

include: 

 

3.2 SITE ACCESS & MOVEMENT  

  

Transport & Highways Report 

This Transport Assessment presents the existing traffic 

characteristics and infrastructure in the surrounding area of the 

development. The development, infrastructure improvements and 

measures are then presented. The traffic impact of the development 

has been assessed and it was found that the proposals and the 

additional traffic movements generated on to roads and junctions in 

the area would not cause any capacity or road safety problems and 

can be mitigated. 

 

This report concludes that the development is considered acceptable 

in terms of traffic impact and accessibility provision, and that there 

are no highway safety or capacity reasons why planning consent for 

the proposed development should not be granted. 

 

The main site access junction onto the A6 includes two options: a signalised junction or a roundabout access with 

the realignment of the A6.  The two proposed main site access options have been agreed 'in principle' with 

Lancashire County Council Highway Authority subject to detailed design and layout.    

 

A number of other highway improvement works and sustainability/accessibility improvements are also proposed  

and will require detailed design/ layout and approval of measures which should be addressed at the detailed design 

stage.   

 

          Pedestrian & Cycle Links 

There are currently no public right of ways running through the site although there is an existing public right of way to 

the North of the site on the East of Croston Barn House linking onto Croston Barn Lane. 

 

The design will propose new pedestrian/cycle links around the site and connect to this public right of way where 

possible. This will also create easy accessibility into and out of the site. The provision of a wide underpass of the 

realigned section of the A6 on the south west of the new roundabout (option 2) would also facilitate pedestrian and 

cycle movements between the site and Garstang. 

 

The proposed access has been subject to a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and all issues identified have been 

acknowledged and are to be addressed as part of the detailed design.   

 

3.3 TOPOGRAPHY / GROUND CONDITIONS 

 

Topography 

The existing ground levels across the site generally fall from north-west to south-east to the centre of the site, with 

levels around 26.0mAOD in the north-west corner of the site and reducing to 19.0mAOD at Nateby Bridge on the 

eastern boundary, on the line of the disused railway. To the south of the old railway line and on the western boundary 

of the site ground levels are around 22.5mAOD and similarly fall south-east to 19.0mAOD in the south-east corner of 

the site. There is also banking along the A6 where it bridges over the former railway line that bisects the site east-west.   

 

The proposed residential units and employment area will take into account the existing topography and build coherently 

with the ground gradient where possible.  

 

Ground Conditions 

A technical assessment was carried out to investigate the ground conditions and topography of Land West of A6, 

Garstang.  

 

This investigation has been undertaken to provide an initial risk assessment on the level of contamination present in 

accordance with the conceptual ground model. 

 

 

P
age 123



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 7 of 26 

 

  Constraints & Opportunities     

     continued… 

 

The assessment indicates that there should be no particular 

difficulties in excavating the strata indicated in the exploratory holes 

utilising an appropriate and suitable sized mechanical excavator. 

 

It is recommended that all ground excavations to greater than 1.20m 

depth, or for shallower excavations where groundwater is 

encountered above this level, are closely supported, especially where 

man entry is required. Alternatively, where space permits, the 

excavations might be battered back to an appropriate angle. 

 

Further detailed assessment, including a preliminary risk assessment 

and site investigation scheme will be required and considered as part 

of the site’s detailed design.   

 

 

3.4 ECOLOGY 

 

Tree Survey 

The findings of this survey identify locations of high-quality trees within 

the site, including sixteen trees on site covered by TPO. High quality 

trees and vegetations will be maintained wherever possible and 

incorporated into the scheme where appropriate. All hedges on site 

are currently low quality (category C) but will be retained where 

possible and enhanced to form part of the green network. 

 

During the design process, any removal of trees within the site will 

be compensated through planting new trees across the site.  

 

Further detailed assessment, including Tree Protection Plan, 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Method 

Statement would be required along with details of mitigation and 

new tree planning to be agreed at detailed design stage.   

 

 

 

 

Ecology Report 

In terms of Ecology, through the retention and protection of BAP habitats present within the site, in conjunction with 

ecological enhancement opportunities, it is envisaged that there will be an overall net increase in the nature 

conservation value of the site post development. 

 

The masterplan will incorporate the retention of UK BAP habitats (hedgerows, trees and new SuDs), with 

opportunities to enhance ecological connectivity and notable habitats through additional planting of trees and 

hedgerows and the creation of ponds and greenspaces. 

 

A biodiversity enhancement scheme will be required as part of the detailed design stage. 

 

3.5 FLOOD RISK & DRAINAGE  

 

The site is not within an area at risk of flooding, is not within 125 metres of a major watercourse and is not anticipated 

to increase the flood risk elsewhere. 

The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and has been shown to be at low risk of flooding from rivers, groundwater and 

sewers. Therefore, flood mitigation measures are not considered necessary for the proposed development. 

 

Some areas to the west of either side of the former railway line are identified as being susceptible to surface water 

flooding.   

 

The surface water management strategy provided for the outline scheme includes site drainage via SuDS and to 

existing watercourses, that will allow discharge to be restricted to current greenfield runoff rates.  The surface water 

management and drainage strategy will need to be revisited as required once development proposals are presented 

in more detail and should accord with the drainage hierarchy set out in the Local Plan Policy CDMP2.   

 

3.6 HERITAGE & ARCHAEOLOGY 

 

Archaeology and Heritage Assessments 

The Heritage Assessment concludes that the proximity of the application site to the Lancaster Canal and the listed 

Cathouse Bridge does not raise any concerns that the principle of development applied for would have a harmful 

impact on heritage considerations. 

 

Whilst the planning application deals with the principle of development the proximity of the designated and non-

designated heritage assets will require particular consideration in the design of the development within its sphere of 

influence. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 124



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 8 of 26 

 

              Constraints & Opportunities     

     continued… 

 

3.7 NOISE & AIR QUALITY  

 

Air Quality Assessment 

The assessment has been undertaken for submission as part of the 

outline planning application. The result of the assessment has shown 

that the development will result in a negligible impact of identified 

worse-case receptors and will not result in a breach of the national 

objective values for the identified pollutant. 

 

Noise 

A noise assessment was carried out with readings taken from the A6 

bridge over the canal and at the south west side of the site. The 

overall average LAeq levels were about 63dB and 52dB respectively. 

 

These levels are not unusual for roadside developments and within 

the normal range for mitigation of internal noise levels by suitable 

glazing. The window glazing specification may need to vary a little 

from standard 6/20/6mm thermal units for a few locations but it is not 

a serious issue.  

 

However, the measured levels do indicate that some form of solid 

noise mitigation barrier will probably be required alongside the A6 to 

protect the amenity spaces of some dwellings. The degree of 

protection (ie.: barrier height) can only be determined when the exact 

positions of houses are known. A 2m high noise barrier is likely to be 

adequate. It may also be that the commercial buildings will provide 

protection in many cases. A detailed assessment of the plans and a 

new specific noise survey will be necessary at the detailed design 

stage. However, there are no major factors that would preclude a 

solution that would bring traffic noise levels inside dwellings or in 

gardens down to an acceptable value in accordance with current 

guidelines. 

 

 
 

3.8  Any updates to the masterplan or future planning application within the masterplan area may need to be 

supported by up to date technical assessments where relevant.  The updated technical assessments will also 

need to have regard to any additional consented/allocated development within the area not considered at the 

time of the original assessment.  Further technical assessments may also be required as part of the detailed 

design of the masterplan site. 

 

3.9 Below lists a series of opportunities following from the findings and constraints identified in the 

reports/assessments. (Refer to Constraints Plan – Figure 8) 

 

1. Potential access point served off the A6 Preston Lancaster New Road, allowing direct access to the wider road 

network. 

2. Specified Employment Sector located at the north east of the site with road frontage along the A6, helps create 

an attractive and obvious viewpoint into the site from the A6. This will also attract more visitors into Garstang 

and improve the amenity features located here for both new and existing residents. 

3. Low density residential area situated adjacent to Nateby Crossing Lane to correlate with the rural fringe and 

agricultural fields. Potential for key views here to look out onto the countryside.  

4. Existing hedgerows and good quality landscaping will be retained and enhanced wherever possible to create 

green corridors to improve biodiversity and wildlife benefits.  

5. Existing water sources such as ditches will be retained wherever possible and enhanced to form part of the 

drainage strategy for the development.  

6. Existing high-quality trees (including TPOs) will be retained and used for landscaping within the development 

where possible.  

7. Potential views looking out towards the canal and the Cathouse Bridge Grade II listed structure.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 125



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 9 of 26 

 

     Constraints & Opportunities       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 

Fig.8 – Constraints Plan (refer full plan to Appendix A) 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

3 

P
age 126



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 10 of 26 

 

Planning Policies  

 

 

4.1 LOCAL PLANNING POLICY  

 

The Wyre Local Plan sets out the strategic framework for 

development in the Borough, the policies which will form the 

basis for determining planning applications and sets out how 

the borough will meet future housing and employment needs 

to 2031.  

 

The Wyre Local Plan site allocation policy SA3/5 allocates the 

site for mixed use development that includes the delivery of a 

minimum of 270 dwellings and 4.68 hectares of employment 

land (for B use classes). Policy SA3/5 sets out a number of key 

development considerations that should be taken into account 

in any proposals for the site. These include the need to:  

 

1. This site is to be brought forward in line with a masterplan to be 

produced covering the whole of the site. The masterplan must 

be agreed by the local planning authority prior to the granting of 

planning permission for any part of the site. 

 

2. The development should be supported by a landscape and 

green infrastructure framework incorporating structured tree 

planting, on-site open space to include formal and informal play 

and pedestrian and cycle connectivity within and where possible 

outside the site. A green link between the site and the town 

under the A6 should be provided. 

 

The provision of 270 dwellings in accordance with Local Plan 

policy HP9 Green Infrastructure in New Residential 

Developments requires the provision of 2.4 hectares of green 

infrastructure to be provide on site. 

3. The design of the development should provide an ‘organic’ extension to the village. It should utilise important 

key vistas into the adjoining open countryside and provide a rural transition zone between the development 

and the wider countryside. Particular attention should be given to the nature and quality of boundary 

treatments. 

 

4. The development should include a small convenience store of 280 sq.m net sales area. 

 

5. Residual surface water should drain to the River Wyre via Ains Pool and the private culvert to the south east 

and the canal. 

 

6. A financial contribution towards Primary Sustainable Transport which includes the improvement of specified 

junctions in the area and contributions to the A6 Barton to Garstang Sustainable Transport Strategy, and any 

future updates of the Strategy, will be required.  

 

7. The site does not have any nature conservation designations but Lancaster Canal Biological Heritage Site 

forms the southern boundary of the site. Potential ecological impacts should be considered due to the 

greenfield nature of the site and features such as hedgerows, trees, ponds and field drains. An appropriate 

landscape buffer will be required along the canal. 

 

8. Completion of appropriate ground investigation work to establish the extent of any ground contamination 

including the presence of landfill gas and whether any mitigation measures are required due to the presence 

of historic landfill (railway embankment and filled ponds). A watching brief during development of the site 

may be necessary. 

 

9. An overhead cable runs north/south towards the eastern boundary and two large diameter drains and a 

water main cross the site. Access strips will be required. 

 

10. The following should be taken into account in preparing the masterplan and planning application: 

a) A Public Right of Way (2-8-FP 10) runs northward from Croston Barn Lane at the north-eastern corner 

of the site. 

b) The site is located on principal and secondary aquifers within Source Protection Zone 3. 

c) Cathouse Bridge adjacent to the southern end of the site is a Grade II listed structure. 

d) Part of the site falls within designated Mineral Safeguarding Area within the Joint Lancashire Minerals 

and Waste Local Plan. 

e) A number of trees along Nateby Crossing Lane boundary and within the site are the subject of a Tree 

Preservation Order. 

P
age 127



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 11 of 26 

 

      Planning Policies continued… 

 

 

4.2     Other pertinent policies within the Local Plan include Policy HP2 

Housing Mix, which requires the residential development to 

provide an appropriate housing mix in terms of size, type and 

tenure to meet identified housing need and local market 

demand.   

 

Under HP2, at least 20% of the dwellings should be of a design 

suitable or adaptable for older people and people with 

restricted mobility.   

 

In accordance with Local Plan policy HP3 Affordable Housing, 

the residential development should also provide a minimum 

30% on-site affordable housing.   

 

4.3 These considerations will frame the design and masterplan 

framework to allow the development to meet the policy 

requirements set in the Local Plan. The extent of the Local Plan  

site allocation is illustrated in Figure 9. 

 

4.4 PLANNING HISTORY  

 

The Local Plan expects the site to be fully delivered within the 

plan period.  

 

The whole site has outline planning permission for housing and 

employment with an approved Illustrative Masterplan under the 

application reference: 14/00458/OULMAJ which was 

approved prior to the adoption of the Wyre Local Plan 2011-

2031. The outline application approved a scheme for the 

residential development of up to 270 dwellings, 4.68ha of land 

for employment (B1 and B8) uses, convenience store (up to 

375m2 sales area) and coffee shop (up to 235m2 sales 

area)’ The main vehicular access point to the site would be via a signalised junction from the A6.   

 

Currently, an alternative planning application is pending under the application reference: 16/00241/OULMAJ.  This 

application proposes an alternative vehicular access to the site taken from the A6 via a four arm roundabout 

formed as part of a reconfiguration of the road. The northern and southern arm would be the northern and southern 

branches of the reconfigured A6 and it is envisaged that the north western arm would serve the employment area 

and western arm serve the residential areas. 

 

This pending application cannot be granted 

permission until a masterplan produced in 

accordance with the Wyre Local Plan 

2011-2031 requirements has been 

produced which covers the whole site and 

has been agreed within the local planning 

authority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig.9 – Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031) 

Land West of A6, Garstang 

P
age 128



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 12 of 26 

 

Visions and Aims… 

 

5.1 Masterplan Vision 

To create an ‘’organic’’ extension to Garstang that is integrated 

into the existing fabric of the town and wider landscape in 

terms of its design and layout, including pedestrian and cycle 

connectivity to key local facilities.  The development will have a 

strong identity that responds positively to the local context.  It 

will be a “green“ place, that incorporates a range  of integrated 

landscaped and green spaces that will provide formal and 

informal recreation opportunities accessible to new and 

existing local residents. 

 

5.2 Masterplan Objectives 

 

The aim of the masterplan is to provide a framework for the 

delivery of a high quality and sustainable development that 

responds positively to the local context.  In so doing, the 

development should positively respond to the following 

objectives: 

1. Create a new sustainable neighbourhood which is integrated 

socially and physically with the existing town and promotes 

safe, healthy and active communities, maximising 

opportunities to enhance the quality of life for future and existing 

occupants. 

2. Create a development that respects and responds to its 

location with particular attention paid to the relationship to the 

existing built form, views through and over the site, the 

proximity with the Grade II listed Cathouse Bridge and the 

nature and quality of boundary treatments. 

3. Use the existing site characteristics, retaining important 

ecological and landscape features with the aim of establishing 

and preserving functional ecological habitats and networks which facilitate the movement of species and 

populations and protect the borough’s biodiversity. To provide a net biodiversity gain. 

4. Build a range of homes of different types, sizes and tenures to meet the needs of different sections of the 

borough’s communities in a varied, well designed and attractive environment. 

5. Deliver employment land (B Use Classes) that can accommodate the needs of different businesses to 

support the economy and facilitate job creation. 

6. Produce a high quality and safe public realm that includes landscaping and green infrastructure serving 

both the new residents and wider town. Delivering green infrastructure in a manner that it contributes to a 

well-designed and healthy living and working environment, including physical and functional connections 

with neighbouring green infrastructure. 

7. Create a movement network for pedestrians and cyclists that promotes safe connectivity with the existing 

built and natural environment and creates appropriate linkages within the masterplan area and surrounding 

neighbourhoods.    

8. Develop a highway infrastructure that is designed to ensure the safe movement of traffic and other road 

users, supports the A6 Corridor Highway Mitigation Strategy and is fully integrated with the movement 

network for pedestrians and cyclists.   

9. Ensure that flood risk, drainage and the provision of water infrastructure is appropriately managed 

throughout the lifetime of the development, including having regard to the local plan surface water drainage 

hierarchy, Key Development Consideration 5 of policy SA3/5 and appropriate mitigation. 

10. Avoid unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity of occupants and users of surrounding or nearby 

properties, whilst securing a good standard of amenity for the occupants and users of the proposed 

development. 

11. Deliver a small convenience store in order to provide for the ‘everyday’ shopping requirements of future and 

existing occupants.   

12. Encourage measures to address relevant issues arising from climate change and to minimise the use of 

resources, including energy consumption.   

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 129



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 13 of 26 

 

                 Masterplan 

 

 
6.1 MASTERPLAN FRAMEWORK 

 

A masterplan framework has been established for the site, 

having been informed by considering the site constraints & 

opportunities and the vision. The masterplan framework 

establishes a vision for the site and a number of key design 

and layout principles that will inform any future proposal 

schemes for the site.  

 

The masterplan framework includes two alternative 

masterplan options which are based upon alternative access 

arrangements that have taken into account the current outline 

planning permission and the pending outline scheme.    

 

Figure 10A and 10B shows the geographical representations 

of the two alternative masterplan framework options.  The two 

options include two alternative proposed access arrangements 

and both include: 

 

- a residential zone to deliver 270 units and 2.4 hectares of 

green infrastructure which is proposed on the western sector 

to provide key vistas looking in and out of the site and will also 

enable natural surveillance throughout the development along 

the rural roads 

- a employment zone to deliver 4.68 hectares of employment 

land (B use classes) is proposed in the north-east and will 

create a focal point from the A6 and make the new 

development easy to identify from afar, aiding with road 

navigation and attracting new visitors. 

- a convenience store located within but on the edge of the 

employment zone to provide convenient access for residents 

and employees. 

 

- To accommodate roundabout access and A6 realignment proposed under option two. An ecological 

enhanced zone is proposed on the east of the site, this will also merge the development harmoniously 

with its surroundings with a green fringe which promotes pedestrian access. 

 

6.2 Key design considerations have also been considered to respond to the Local Plan policy and site 

constraints and opportunities. This includes:- 

 

- Conducting several assessments and surveys such as ground investigations to redeem existing features 

and constraints of the site. These findings have formed the base framework for the approved outline plan 

and currently developed masterplan. (KDC 1 & 8) 

 

- The masterplan proposes direct access from Preston Lancaster New Road A6 with pedestrian and cycle 

connectivity links throughout the site leading to north, east and western boundaries of the site creating 

easy accessibility. This will provide links to formal and informal green spaces around the development 

for existing and new residents and also provide connectivity onto the existing public right of way (2-8-FP 

10) to the east of Croston Barn House and provide a green link between the site and the town under the 

A6. (KDC 2 & 10A) 

 

- In terms of ecology and existing vegetation, high quality trees (include trees under the Tree Preservation 

Order) and vegetation plus key hedgerow lines will be maintained and incorporated into the green network 

for the development. SuDs features will replace ditches and form part of the amenity green spaces to 

create new wildlife habitats and aid with surface run-off from excess ground water. This will be further 

emphasized with the new ecologically enhanced zone aligned on the eastern boundary as proposed as 

part of the roundabout access option. (KDC 2, 7 & 10E) 

 

P
age 130



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 14 of 26 

 

Masterplan continued… 

 
 

 

- This will also help create the sense of an organic extension to 

merge with the existing vernacular and provide attractive views 

around the new development looking out of the site over the 

countryside and townscape and for vehicles driving by the site 

too as focal units will be placed and orientated at key locations. 

(KDC 3) 

 

- As part of the employment zone, a new small convenience store 

(not exceeding 280 square metres net sales area) will be 

proposed with pedestrian access links through to the residential 

area for accessibility. This will encourage residents to walk and 

reduce the use of vehicles. (KDC 4) 

 

- Units proposed at the southern end will respect the Grade II 

Cathouse Bridge with an appropriate design and separation 

distance.  The units should be orientated to overlook the 

structure and the Lancaster Canal where possible with an 

appropriate landscape buffer required along the canal.  (KDC 7 

& 10C) 

 

- The proposed scheme will take into consideration existing 

overhead cables and provide access strips as required which 

are incorporated into the development’s design. The existing 

underground raw water easement and electricity cable will be 

proposed as accessible amenity green space and the trunk 

main access strips will be incorporated into the development’s 

design to allow access when necessary. This will create minimal 

impact to any units proposed nearby. (KDC 9)  

 

These key design drivers should be taken into account in the 

detailed design and layout of the future development.   

 

 

P
age 131



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 15 of 26 

 

Masterplan continued…  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 10B – Masterplan with roundabout (refer to Appendix C) Fig. 10A – Masterplan (refer to Appendix B) 

P
age 132



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 16 of 26 

 

Design principles 

 

7.1 The proposed scheme will be designed to comply with specific 

criteria’s depending on the proposed zones and nearby 

features. 

 

7.2 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

Key design principles to be taken into account in the layout and 

detailed design of any future proposals include: 

 

7.3 ACCESS CONSIDERATIONS  

The main access road into the development will enter the site 

from the A6.  The main access could then branch into two 

secondary access roads, the first serving employment zone and 

the second serving the residential zone. 

 

A range of vehicular, pedestrian and cycle routes to be provided 

in key access points to provide links going into and out of the 

development where possible. 

 

Pedestrian/cycle routes should provide direct links to amenity 

green spaces and meet with existing public footpaths where 

possible 

 

7.4 MOVEMENT HIERACHY  

The street pattern should have an organic form with gently 

curving streets reflecting the landscape setting and character 

of the surrounding area.  

 

A range of road widths varying from primary to tertiary access 

roads to private drives with appropriate pedestrian footpaths 

should be used where applicable. These routes should be 

overlooked and should provide pedestrian crossings at safe key 

locations. 

 

7.5 PARKING CONSIDERATIONS 

The site layout should provide a balanced approach to parking which employs a range of on-plot parking 

solutions including some to frontage, some to the side of properties and some integral. 

 

All parking should be provided close to, and visible from people's homes or employment, offering security 

and convenience.  Long rows of parking bays along residential street should be avoided and landscaping 

should be used to soften areas of parking and provide screening to parked vehicles. 

 

Where garages are provided as part of residential developments, these should form part of the street 

scene and maintain visual interest. Cycle storage shall be required and be provided for all new homes. 

 

7.6     DENSITY CONSIDERATIONS 

The gross site area is 16.64 hectares and this includes a gross employment area of 4.68 hectares.  The 

net developable area for the residential development (excluding land for the potential roundabout access 

option and Green Infrastructure) is 7.86 hectares.  It is considered that the lowest density housing should 

be concentrated along the site's frontage with Nateby Crossing Lane to provide a rural transition zone and 

reflect the rural characteristic of the existing lane.   It is suggested that the density should increase within 

the site to provide an appropriate dwelling mix that makes best use of the site.    

 

7.7     HOUSING MIX 

In accordance with Local Plan Policy HP2 Housing Mix, the residential development should provide an 

appropriate mix in terms of size, type and tenure to meet identified housing need and local market 

demand that accords with the most up-to-date Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and Rural 

Affordable Housing Needs Survey.  The Fylde Coast SHMA – Wyre Addendum 3 Supplementary Note 

prepared by Turley in May 2018 concludes a general need for the following housing mix in the borough 

i.e. 7% 1 bedroom; 31% 2 bedroom; 43% 3 bedroom and 18% 4 bedroom properties.  The note states the 

“individual mix of housing provided on a site by site basis will need to take account of local market 

evidence recognising different local market characteristics in different parts of the borough – and viability 

considerations, which will have an important influence on the appropriate mix.   

 

The future development of the site should also be in accordance with Local Plan Policy HP2 to provide at 

least 20% of the dwellings to be of a design suitable or adaptable living for older people and people with 

restricted mobility. 

 

P
age 133



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 17 of 26 

 

Design principles continued… 

 

 

The tenure mix in accordance with Local Plan Policy HP3 

Affordable Housing should also provide a minimum 30% on-

site affordable housing.   

Dwellings proposed on the site will range from detached or 

semi-detached units, mews or apartments. The scheme mix 

will be established at the planning application stage.   

 

7.8 SCALE & MASSING  

Dwellings proposed will range from single to three storey 

detached or semi-detached units, mews or apartments and 

should reflect the predominant scale of existing properties 

within the area.   

 

A mix of house types along the site's frontage with Nateby 

Crossing Lane should be provided to help create a more 

natural edge to the development and avoid uniformity in the 

size and spacing of dwellings.   

 

7.9 DESIGN 

Details of the proposed house types and elevations will be a 

matter for any future planning application. The design proposal 

will aim to provide a safe layout with a mix of housetypes to create 

an interesting streetscene, similar of that to the local vernacular 

that picks up on key local details to tie the new development back 

to the existing community while still providing a distinctive 

development that makes best use of the site. The development 

should preserve key views into the site and views out of the site 

towards the surrounding countryside.  Key vistas and focal points 

should be utilised in the structure of the development, utilising 

opportunities provided by the orientation and design of streets, 

public realm, green spaces, houses and other development 

types. Dwellings adjacent to the existing property/proposed 

highways will face onto the highway. Dwellings around the edge of the site will be outward facing. 

 

Similarly, where there is development overlooking the countryside, at key views into/out of the site or 

provided along the site's frontage, units will be orientated to look across these landscapes and views to 

create a more natural edge to the development with appropriate landscaping provided.    

 

The proposed building materials and colour palette should be carefully selected to respond to the local 

vernacular whilst providing appropriate variety across the development to add diversity and visual interest. 

 

7.10 LANDSCAPE & GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 

2.4 Ha of green infrastructure will be provided for the provision of 270 units. This will include accessible amenity 

green spaces, the appropriate provision of children and young people play space, the planting of new 

vegetation and trees to increase coverage over the whole site, along with the enhancement of existing trees 

and new SuDs features. The green infrastructure will also include the retention of existing high quality 

trees/vegetation and hedgerows where possible. Existing easements will be located under amenity green 

spaces to provide easy access and less disruption to dwellings where there are works to be carried out in the 

future. Units surrounding these spaces will be orientated to overlook these areas and provide natural 

surveillance to ensure a safe environment. There will also be appropriate boundary treatments to surround 

SuDs to support the site’s integration into the countryside and existing townscape, and to provide protection 

against main roads where appropriate.  

 

7.11 EMPLOYMENT 

          The development will provide 4.68 Ha of employment land to generate jobs and invite people into Garstang. 

This could include a range of units to meet different employment demands (B Use Classes and should not 

include external open storage). These units should look out onto the main routes and become focal points 

where possible to create key vistas. Adequate car parking and cycle provision will be provided plus a 

convenience store with pedestrian routes linking throughout to encourage walking. 

 

7.12 DRAINAGE 

The surface water management strategy provided for the outline scheme includes site drainage via SuDS 

and to existing watercourses via on site water discharge locations, that will allow discharge to be restricted 

to current greenfield run-off rates.   

 

The surface water management and drainage strategy will need to be revisited as required once 

development proposals are presented in more detail and should accord with the drainage hierarchy set out 

in the Local Plan Policy CDMP2.   

P
age 134



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 18 of 26 

 

             Design principles continued… 

 

 

7.13   DELIVERY AND PHASING 

 

The site is expected to be delivered via different constructions 

phases and be fully delivered within the Local Plan plan period 

(by 2031).   

 

If the site will be developed via individual development plots 

and/or over separate phases, unfettered access will be 

required and an infrastructure phasing strategy for the site will 

be required to ensure a co-ordinated approach to 

infrastructure delivery.  Early engagement with relevant 

infrastructure providers will also be necessary.   

 

If the residential aspect of the scheme will be developed via 

individual development plots and/or over separate phases, 

each development plot will be required to provide adequate 

green infrastructure to meet its own development 

requirements.   The green infrastructure provided should form 

part of the wider Green Infrastructure network for the whole site 

and should consider its integration with the individual 

development plots and/phases for the overall scheme as part 

of its design.     

 

The implementation of the housing and retail element of the 

scheme should contribute towards the overall viability of the site 

and provide any necessary cross funding required to deliver the 

employment aspect of the scheme.   

P
age 135



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 19 of 26 

 

Conclusions 

 

 

8.1 The masterplan sets a vision for the site along with an 

appropriate design framework which respects and take into 

consideration all existing features from the report findings and 

the local context surrounding the site.  

 

8.2 As described in the Masterplan chapter, the proposed 

Masterplan is designed to meet all the key development 

considerations and policy requirements to satisfy Local Plan 

Policy SA3/5 - Land West of the A6, Garstang. 

 

8.3 This document fully demonstrates the evolution of the 

Masterplan, meeting all policy requirements and the potential 

to deliver a highly satisfactory and attractive environment for 

new residents and the provision of new job opportunities. This  

masterplan provides key design principles to influence 

subsequent detailed design and site layouts of any future 

proposals at the site to ensure the masterplan vision is 

delivered.       

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Fig.11 - Visualization of pedestrian walkway under Nateby Bridge 

P
age 136



 
    

  Page 20 of 26 

 

 
Page 137



 
    

  Page 21 of 26 

 

 
Page 138



 
    

  Page 22 of 26 

 

 

  

Page 139



 
    

  Page 23 of 26 

 

 

APPENDIX D 
 
Stakeholder Consultation Feedback 
 
A two week stakeholder consultation on the draft masterplan was held between 11 and 25 October 2019, where the draft masterplan was considered by key stakeholders, including appropriate 
infrastructure providers and Garstang Town Council.   
 
7 responses were received from: Environment Agency; Environmental Protection; Garstang Town Council; Historic England; Natural England; Parks & Open Space; and United Utilities.   
A summary of the responses received have been summarised in this Appendix, together with a summary of how this feedback has been considered and where it has influenced the final 
masterplan.   
 
Wider public consultation on the draft masterplan was not undertaken as part of this process as consultation comments received through formal submission of comments on the planning 
application 14/00458 and 16/00241 have been reflected in the masterplan.   
 
Table 1: Summary of Consultation Comments and Response 
 

Organisations Summary of Consultation Comments Response Modification to Masterplan 

Environment 
Agency 

Provides commentary in relation to the key environmental issues and 
constraints on site that the developer will need to complete prior to the 
submission of a planning application.    
 
Former railway land bisect the site and potential for high polluting 
potential.  Planning application to include contaminated land 
assessment demonstrating risk posed by controlled waters by any 
contamination understood and can be remediated/managed by the 
development.   
 
Site located on principle aquifer and source protection zone 3.  Where 
necessary, planning application to include hydrogeological risk 
assessment to assess impact of proposed development on 
groundwater.   
 
SuDs to manage surface water management recommended.  Should 
establish if SuDs feasible, can be adopted and properly maintained 
without leading to other environmental problems.  Watercourses within 
site designated as ‘ordinary watercourses’ and consent from Lead 
Local Flood Authority may be required.   
 
Site in area served by public sewer, developer expected to connect all 
foul drainage to existing sewer network.   
 
Recommend biodiversity opportunities in and around development.  
Encourage culverts to be opened and improve/naturalisation/creation 
of new and existing watercourse.  Generally opposed to culverting 
other than for access purposes.   
 
Included reference to formal consultation comments submitted to 
previous planning application 14/00458 and 16/00241 – no objection 
subject to conditions.    
 

Masterplan includes references to environmental 
constraints on the site.   
 
The constraints and opportunities section refers to 
contamination assessment undertaken. Text to be 
inserted in masterplan (following Environmental 
Protection recommendation) that refers to the potential 
need to update technical assessments to support future 
planning applications or updates to the masterplan.  
Additional technical assessments may also be required.   
 
The masterplan refers to the surface water management 
strategy provided for the outline scheme which includes 
site drainage via SuDs.  The drainage strategy will need 
to be revisited once the detailed development proposal 
for the site are known.   
 
Reference to foul drainage and biodiversity is noted.  
The masterplan refers to the biodiversity benefit of 
SuDS features.   
 
 

n/a  

P
age 140



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 24 of 26 

 

Environmental 
Protection  

Previously reviewed and commented on both a noise and air quality 
assessment submitted in respects to existing planning permissions on 
this site, however it is likely that any future planning application within 
the master plan area will need to be supported by updated technical 
assessments that have regard to any additional consented / allocated 
development within the area not considered at the time of the original 
assessments. 
 

Any updates to the masterplan or future planning 
applications within the masterplan area may need to be 
supported by updated technical assessments.  This 
would include having regard to any additional 
consented/allocated development within the area not 
considered at the time of the original assessment.   

Commentary to be provided in 
constraints and opportunities section 
3 to refer to potential need for 
updated technical assessments to 
support updates to the masterplan or 
future planning application.   

Garstang 
Town Council 

Figure 1&2 - Pictures mislead the reader by failing to demonstrate the 
severity of the blind submit on the A6 just yards from the application 
site entrance/exit 

The pictures provide contextual view point looking into 
the site from the A6.   The constraint plan demonstrates 
the topographical gradient characteristics of the site.   
Text to be added to figure to provide further clarity.   

Add text to figure 2 to explain view 
taken from Old railway crossing point 
summit on the A6.   

Para 1.3 masterplan fails to meet requirement to integrate 
development with existing settlement and provide organic extension.   
  

Comment noted.  It is a Local Plan requirement that 
development provides an organic extension and the 
masterplan provides a framework, including key design 
principles to be considered for the detailed design.   

 

Para 2.1 should refer to SA1/14 to the north of site and SA3/5 provide 
600 dwellings west of the “natural boundary” of the A6.  It is a matter of 
debate where the new school should be located to serve these new 
development.  Garstang is not served by comprehensive highway 
network.  Misleading to suggest good public transport links close to 
site – have to cross A6.  A6 is at capacity and up to date traffic 
assessment should be undertaken to take account of the recent 
development and possible M6 Jct 33 relocation.   
 
Para 2.2 refers to traditional dwelling include Crossing Keepers 
Cottage.  Nateby Crossing Lane has the hallmarks of a Quiet lane and 
is a natural and valuable resource and should not be disturbed.  Note 
density along Lane is intended to mitigate.   
 
Para 2.3 - Difficult to compare site is located “within the settlement 
boundary” and any intrusions can be mitigated with from existing 
hedge rows.   
 
Para 2.4 – welcomes ambition to avoid car parking on pavements.   

The site is allocated in the Local Plan.   
 
Para 2.2 includes reference to the sites immediate 
context, including reference to SA1/14 housing led 
allocation with provision of a new primary school. There 
is no opportunity to relocate the school which is 
allocated in the Local Plan.   
 
The capacity of the A6 has been considered.  Financial 
contributions towards primary sustainable transport as 
part of the A6 Corridor Highway Mitigation Strategy will 
be required.  The site is located off the A6 with access to 
higher order settlements and access into Garstang.  
Garstang is a sustainable settlement, the site is located 
in the settlement boundary.  The site has access to 
public transport links and local services and the 
masterplan provides opportunities for improved 
connectivity.   
 
Masterplan at 2.2 refers to the several rural dwellings 
houses and farm buildings on the perimeter of the site. 
The characteristics of Nateby Crossing Lane is noted in 
the masterplan, the general design principles require 
development along the land to create a nature edge.   
 
2.3 refers to the existing sites is screened to a degree 
from existing hedgerows.  The design principles refer to 
further landscape/mitigation requirements.   
 

 

P
age 141



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 25 of 26 

 

 Para 3.2 – disingenuous to suggest traffic movements would not cause 
capacity problems.  Construction will impact on businesses and 
amenity.  Pedestrian tunnel unlikely to be used by car owners.   
 
Para 3.5 – Ains Pool that arises on the site has caused significant 
flooding at Churchtown.   
 
Para 3.6 – Development will overwhelm vernacular on Croston Barn 
Lane and Nateby Crossing lane regardless of mitigation measures.   
 
Para 3.7 - Solid noise baffle along the A6 is not compatible with the 
developers “Green” approach.  
 
Constraints and opportunities plan: 
(1) Potential access point off A6 is not understood 
(2) No evidence to support “Employment section helps and creates an 

attractive and obvious viewpoint which will attract more visitors to 
Garstang and improve amenity features” 

(4)  Hedgerows should also be replaced and enhanced 

Site is allocated in the Local Plan and highway capacity 
has been considered.   
 
Masterplan refers to surface water management 
strategy which will allow discharge to be restricted to 
current greenfield runoff rates.    
 
Masterplan refers to mitigation measures, including 
general design principle to require developer to create a 
natural edge.  The masterplan refers to particular 
consideration will be required at the detailed design 
stage.   
 
Constraints and opportunities plan provides a 
diagrammatic illustration of the findings of the evidence.  
(1) Indicates the primary site access opportunity.  The 
provision of employment as part of the mixed use 
development will provide employment opportunities.  
The design principles expand upon the opportunities 
section and refer to planting of new vegetation.  It is 
proposed to expand this section (Parks and Open Space 
recommendation) to refer to increased tree coverage 
over the whole site.   
 

 

4.1 Local Planning Policy/ Vision and aims 
Developer should explain how the plan provides an organic extension.  
It is a sweeping statement of ambition and no discussions have been 
taken place with town council.   
 

It is a Local Plan requirement that development provides 
an organic extension and the masterplan provides a 
framework, including key design principles to be 
considered for the detailed design.   

 

7.5 - Individual dwellings and street scene should avoid parking on the 
roadside and allow for parking within the curtilage of dwellings.   
 
7.12 - More technical evidence is required about the disposal of 
surface water.  SuDs must have long term ownership and 
responsibility clauses to be viable.   
 

The design principles refers to providing on-plot parking. 
The masterplan provides a framework.  The design 
principles requires the surface water management and 
drainage strategy to be revisited at detailed design 
stage.   

 

Historic 
England 

No comments Noted  

Natural 
England 

No comments Noted  

Parks and 
Open Space 
(WBC) 

Structured tree planting - the retention of existing trees is welcomed 
and it would be good if the framework also noted increasing tree 
coverage via planting across the development. 

 
Formal and informal play – reference should be added to provision of 
facilities.    
 
Pedestrian and cycle connectivity - Green link between the 
development and the town is welcomed.   
 

Comments noted.     
 
Expand landscape and green infrastructure paragraph 
within the design principle section to refer to new tree 
planting to increase coverage across the whole site; 
include reference to the provision of children and young 
people play space; expand reference to utilising key 
vista in the layout of the development and public realms; 
and expand the existing reference to boundary 

Commentary to be provided in 
section 7 design principles  to include 
reference to new tree planning to 
increase coverage over the whole 
site; provision of appropriate children 
and young people play space;  
expand reference to utilising key vista 
in the layout of the development and 
public realm; and wider reference to 

P
age 142



 

 
job ref: 13-070 - Masterplan    

  Page 26 of 26 

 

Utilising important key vistas - I can’t see specific reference in the 
framework in way of aims for public realm and layout of the 
development area. 

 
Nature and quality of boundary treatments: there is reference to an 
‘ecologically enhanced zone’ on the eastern boundary but there 
doesn’t appear to be principles relating to the boundary of the whole 
development. 
 

treatment to refer to appropriate treatment along all 
boundaries.   
 
 
 

boundary treatment principles for the 
whole site.     

United 
Utilities 

Site is located on the fringe of the existing water supply and sewerage 
network which is of a size that reflects greenfield location.  Delivery of 
the site over numerous phases, different landowners and different years 
is an additional challenge.  Early engagement and a co-ordinated 
approach in collaboration with United Utilities is required to support the 
planned growth.  Recommend infrastructure phasing strategy to be 
produced that proposes a holistic approach to new drainage 
infrastructure which ensures development is delivered in the most 
sustainable way.  Recommend text to be inserted at para 7.12 to ensure 
co-ordinated infrastructure approach.   
 
Support network of on-site green infrastructure (to include SuDs) 
together with new pedestrian/cycle links round the site. SuDs is 
requirement of national and local policy and could be expanded further 
in masterplan.   Important unfettered access between phases ensure 
each phase has access to a sustainable drainage option.   
 
Opportunities should be explored to utilise the road network for 
sustainable discharge of surface water and if properly planned, could be 
used for each phase.  Percolation testing to determine likelihood of 
infiltration to ensure SuDs can be delivered is key. 
 
Applicant should agree foul discharge rates with United Utilities.  
Recommend text to be inserted to ensure communication.     

 
Constraint plan refers to presence of existing sewer easement on site.  
The easement is connected to a raw water distribution and not a sewer.   
Pressurised treated water distribution main and easement also exists.   
Both pipelines require unrestricted access and United Utilities do not 
permit development over or in close proximity.   
 
United Utilities encourage the use of permeable paving to reduce 
surface water runoff.   
 

Comments noted.   
 
Comments on infrastructure and phasing are noted.  
Text at 7.13 delivery and phasing to be updated to refer 
to need for infrastructure phasing strategy where the site 
is developed via individual development plot or phases.  
Reference to be included to early engagement with 
infrastructure providers.   
 
The masterplan establishes a framework for the site and 
the internal road network will be determined at the 
detailed design stage.    
 
Comment related to raw water distribution and 
pressurised water main noted and constraints plan and 
commentary in masterplan to be updated to provide 
clarity.   Masterplan identifies raw water easement for 
green infrastructure and water main to be incorporated 
into development design layout.   
 
 
 
 

 

Commentary to be provided in section 
7 design principles to include 
reference to the need for infrastructure 
phasing strategy to provide co-
ordinated approach and ensure 
unfettered access  if the site will be 
developed via individual development 
plots and/or over separate phases.  
Include reference to early 
engagement with infrastructure 
providers.   
 
Update constraints plan and 
supporting text to correctly refer to raw 
water pipeline and not sewer.  Provide 
clarity on easement for green 
infrastructure or incorporated into 
development design.   
 
 

 

 
 

P
age 143

lmilnes_3
Typewritten Text
dem/cab/cr/19/0412fr2 Appendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of: Meeting Date 

Councillor Michael Vincent, 
Planning and Economic 

Development Portfolio Holder 
and  

Marianne Hesketh, 
Corporate Director 

Communities 

Cabinet 4 December 2019 

 

Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
 

The purpose of the report is to consider and recommend the content of 
the Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019. 
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 

Compliance with Section 113 of the Localism Act 2011 which requires the 
publication of an Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR). 
 

3. Recommendation/s 
 

 3.1 
 
 

That subject to the inclusion of any minor editorial alterations, the 
Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 as set out in Appendix 1 be 
approved by Cabinet and made available for public inspection. 
 

4. Background 
 

 4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 

The preparation of Annual Monitoring Reports ceased on 15 January 
2012 when section 113 of the Localism Act came into force. This 
removes the requirement for Annual Monitoring Reports to be made to 
the Secretary of State. However, councils are still required to prepare 
reports, now known as 'Authorities' Monitoring Reports' (AMR). The Act 
requires councils to publish this information direct to the public at least 
annually in the interests of transparency. 
 
The AMR is the main mechanism for assessing the performance and 
effects of the recently adopted Local Plan. It forms a critical evidence 
document for the new Local Plan for Wyre Council. 

Page 145

Agenda Item 8



 
 
4.3 
 
 
 

 
This is the 15th AMR for Wyre Council and the purpose is therefore as 
follows: 
 

 To monitor key characteristics of Wyre as a wider contextual 
setting for Local Plan monitoring; 

 To assess the planning policies of the Adopted Local Plan 2011-
2031 (Adopted February 2019), including their effectiveness, and 
the impacts they have on the Borough in order to establish a 
baseline for future monitoring; and 

 To consider progress in terms of preparation of any planning policy 
documents set out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS) and 
any ‘real time’ subsequent updates on the council’s website. 

 
5. Key issues and proposals 

 
 5.1 

 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
5.8 
 

The demographic structure of Wyre poses issues for the future. In 
particular, the ageing population, in-migration and projected population 
growth have implications for housing and provision of services. 
 
The 15th AMR should be used to establish a baseline of evidence as the 
Local Plan was adopted towards the end of the monitoring year. 
Therefore, policy conclusions should only be drawn once the plan has 
been implemented for at least one year. 
 
The Wyre Local Plan covers a 20 year period – 2011 to 2031 and was 
adopted 28 February 2019. Policy SP1 requires the delivery of a 
minimum of 9,200 dwellings within the plan period which translates to an 
annual requirement of 460 dwellings. 
 
Since 2011, there has been an additional 2,922 dwellings built. In the 
year 2018-2019, gross completions exceeded the annual requirement at 
546 dwellings. However, net completions were at 432 dwellings owing to 
demolitions. 
 
Out of the 432 net completions, 81 were affordable. This is below the 
annual required level of 134. The introduction of Housing Policy 3 
Affordable Housing, should see the number of affordable dwellings 
increase during the plan period. 
 
There was an additional 10,979 square meters of employment (Use 
Class B) floorspace developed in existing designated employment area, 
as allocated in the Local Plan. 
 
No planning applications were granted contrary to Environment Agency 
advice. 
 
There was a total of 19 Feed in Tariff installations in Wyre generating 
approximately 0.139 megawatts of renewable energy. 

 

Page 146



Financial and legal implications 

Finance 
There are no financial implications arising directly from this 
report. 

Legal 
This document is required to comply with Government 
guidance and legislation. 

 
 

Other risks/implications: checklist 
 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist 
officers on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There 
are no significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues 
marked with a x. 
 

risks/implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management x 

equality and diversity   climate change  

sustainability   ICT x 

health and safety x  data protection x 

 
Processing Personal Data 

 
In addition to considering data protection along with the other risks/ implications, the 
report author will need to decide if a ‘privacy impact assessment (PIA)’ is also 
required.  If the decision(s) recommended in this report will result in the collection 
and processing of personal data for the first time (i.e. purchase of a new system, a 
new working arrangement with a third party) a PIA will need to have been completed 
and signed off by Data Protection Officer before the decision is taken in compliance 
with the Data Protection Act 2018. 
 

report author telephone no. email date 

George Briscoe 01253 887302 George.briscoe@wyre.gov.uk 08/11/2019 

 
 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

None   

 
List of appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Draft Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
 
dems/cab/cr/19/0412gb1 

Page 147



APPENDIX 1 

1 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wyre Council  

Wyre Local Plan Evidence Base 
 

Authorities Monitoring Report 
2018-2019

Page 148



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blank Page 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



  

 Wyre Council 
 

3 

Disclaimer 

Alternative Formats 

If you would like this information in another language or format please contact Wyre Council 
on 01253 891000 

 

Copyright notice 

All maps and plans in this study report are reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with 
the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery 
Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction may lead to prosecution or civil 
proceedings. Wyre Borough Council Licence 100018720, 2019 

Page 150



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

4 

Table of contents 

1 Introduction .................................................................................................................. 8 

1.1 The Authorities Monitoring Report 8 

1.2 Wyre’s Development Plan 8 

1.3 Structure 8 

1.4 Limitations 9 

1.5 Other 10 

2 Contextual (Background) Information .......................................................................11 

2.1 Introduction 11 

2.2 Spatial Characteristics of Wyre 11 

2.3 Current Population 12 

2.4 Population Projections 12 

2.5 Population Density 13 

2.6 Migration and Natural Change 14 

2.7 Ethnic composition 15 

2.8 Index of Multiple Deprivation 15 

2.9 Conclusion 16 

3 Economic Growth (Objective 1) .................................................................................18 

3.1 Introduction 18 

3.2 PMI1 & SAI6/3 - Available employment land, by area (ha) 18 

3.3 PMI2 and PMI3- Amount of gross employment land (ha) and net floorspace (sqm) 
developed by type and with extant planning permission 18 

3.4 PMI4 - Amount of gross employment land (Ha) and net floorspace (sqm) lost to 
alternative uses (non B use class) 19 

3.5 PMI5 & SAI6/4 - Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most deprived for 
employment deprivation 20 

3.6 SAI6/5 – Employment land take up 20 

3.7 Indicator Analysis 20 

3.8 Policy Conclusions 21 

4 Infrastructure Provision (Objective 2) ........................................................................22 

4.1 Introduction 22 

4.2 PMI6 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL and/or S106 
towards education 22 

4.3 PMI7 & SAI2/1 - Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 10% 
nationally for education, skills and training deprivation 22 

4.4 SAI2/3 - % of working age residents with national vocational qualifications (NVQs)
 22 

4.5 SAI2/2 – Location and number of school places available 23 

4.6 SAI6/1 – Employment and unemployment 24 

4.7 SAI6/2 – Percentage of employment and occupation 24 

4.8 Indicator Analysis 25 

4.9 Policy Conclusions 25 

5 Housing (Objective 3)..................................................................................................26 

5.1 Introduction 26 

5.2 PMI8 - 5 year supply of deliverable housing 26 

5.3 PMI9 - Housing Trajectory 27 

Page 151



  

 Wyre Council 
 

5 

5.4 PMI10 & SAI4/1 - Net additional dwellings on each housing allocation 27 

5.5 PMI11 & SAI4/3 - Percentage and number of affordable homes, by type and 
settlement 28 

5.6 PMI12 - Percentage and number of dwellings providing housing for older people 
and people with restricted mobility 29 

5.7 PMI13 and SAI4/2 - Net additional dwellings, by size, type and tenure 29 

5.8 PMI14 & SAI4/6 - Amount of permanent and transit pitch provision for gypsies and 
travellers 29 

5.9 PMI15 & SAI4/7 - Amount of permanent plot provision for travelling show people 30 

5.10 PMI16 - Number of buildings converted in to Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs)
 30 

5.11 SAI4/5 - Percentage of vacant dwellings (C3) 30 

5.12 Indicator Analysis 30 

5.13 Policy Conclusions 31 

6 Town, District and Local Centres (Objective 4) .........................................................32 

6.1 Introduction 32 

6.2 PMI5 and SAI6/4 - Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most deprived for 
employment deprivation 32 

6.3 PMI17, PMI18 and SAI6/6 - Net additional retail floorspace developed and with 
extant planning permission 32 

6.4 PMI19 - Changes to defined primary and secondary shopping frontages 32 

6.5 PMI20 - Ground floor vacancy rates for Cleveleys, Fleetwood, Garstang, Poulton-le-
Fylde and Thornton 32 

6.6 Indicator Analysis 33 

6.7 Policy Conclusions 33 

7 Infrastructure Provision (Objective 5 and 6) .............................................................34 

7.1 Introduction 34 

7.2 PMI21 & SAI3/3 - Percentage of new dwellings approved within 1km of key services
 34 

7.3 PMI22 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL and/or 
S106 towards health care 34 

7.4 PMI23 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL and/or 
S106 towards other infrastructure 35 

7.5 PMI24 - Number of community facilities, by type and settlement 35 

7.6 PMI25 & SAI3/5 - Length of total and new dedicated pedestrian and cycle routes 35 

7.7 PMI26 - Number of developments receiving planning permission with agreed travel 
plan 35 

7.8 PMI27 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL and/or 
S106 towards highways 35 

7.9 PMI28 & SAI5/2 - Percentage and number of new dwellings built within 1km of a 
bus stop 36 

7.10 Indicator Analysis 36 

7.11 Policy Conclusions 37 

8 Natural Environment and Heritage Assets (Objective 7) ..........................................38 

8.1 Introduction 38 

8.2 PMI29 & SAI8/1 - Number and change in areas of biodiversity, geological and 
landscape importance 38 

Page 152



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

6 

8.3 PMI30 - Amount of new development within areas of biodiversity, geological and 
landscape importance 38 

8.4 PMI31 & SAI8/2 - Condition of SSSIs 39 

8.5 PMI32 & SAI8/3 - Number of Biological Heritage Sites (BHS) under active 
management 39 

8.6 PMI33 - Loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land 39 

8.7 PMI34 & SAI10/1 - Gain/Loss/Number of heritage assets 40 

8.8 PMI35 & SAI10/2 – Number of scheduled monuments and listed buildings 
considered to be at risk 40 

8.9 SAI8/4 – Areas of Ancient woodland 41 

8.10 Indicator Analysis 41 

8.11 Policy Conclusions 42 

9 Spatial Development (Objective 8) .............................................................................43 

9.1 Introduction 43 

9.2 PMI36 – Number of new developments (by type) in the Green Belt 43 

9.3 PMI37 - Number of new developments (by type) in the Countryside 43 

9.4 Indicator Analysis 43 

9.5 Policy Conclusions 44 

10 Green Infrastructure and Health (Objective 9)...........................................................45 

10.1 Introduction 45 

10.2 PMI38 & SAI5/3- Length of total and new dedicated public rights of way (PROW) 45 

10.3 PMI39 & SAI9/2 - Number of total and new green flag status parks 45 

10.4 PMI40 and SAI9/1 – Amount of Green Infrastructure lost to development (ha) 45 

10.5 PMI41  - Amount of new green infrastructure (including public open space) provided 
through new development 45 

10.6 PMI42 & SAI3/4 - Number of open space sites above 80% quality score 45 

10.7 PMI43 & SAI3/2 - Number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 10% most deprived 
for health deprivation 46 

10.8 PMI44 - Number of Health Impact Assessments (HIA) 46 

10.9 Life Expectancy 46 

10.10 SAI3/1 - Percentage of resident population who consider themselves to be in good 
health 46 

10.11 Indicator Analysis 47 

10.12 Policy Conclusions 47 

11 Climate Change (Objective 10) ...................................................................................48 

11.1 Introduction 48 

11.2 PMI45 - Per capita amount of C02 emissions in the LA area 48 

11.3 PMI46 – New renewable energy installations, by type (Feed in tariff in Mega Watts)
 49 

11.4 PMI47 & SAI12/3 – Number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) 49 

11.5 SAI12/1 – Local rail patronage 50 

11.6 SAI12/2 – Indicators used to monitor the implementation of the Local Transport Plan
 50 

11.7 Indicator Analysis 50 

11.8 Policy Conclusions 50 

12 Environmental Impact (Objective 11) .........................................................................52 

Page 153



  

 Wyre Council 
 

7 

12.1 Introduction 52 

12.2 PMI48 & SAI11/2 – Number of planning permissions granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice in areas at risk from flooding 52 

12.3 PMI49 – Number of planning permissions granted contrary to Environment Agency 
advice on water quality grounds 53 

12.4 PMI50 – Upgrading of flood defences to 1 in 200 year standard 53 

12.5 PMI51 – Number of planning permissions incorporating Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) 53 

12.6 PMI52 – Inappropriate development in the Coastal Change Management Area 
(CCMA) 53 

12.7 PMI53 – Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL and/or 
S106 towards flood prevention 53 

12.8 PMI54, SAI13/1 & SAI13/2 – Measure air pollutants within Air Quality Management 
Areas (AQMA) 54 

12.9 PMI55 – Number of total and new AQMAs designated in the Borough 54 

12.10 PMI56 & SAI11/3 – Bathing water quality 54 

12.11 PMI57 – Number of planning permissions granted contrary to HSE advice 54 

12.12 SAI11/1 – Rivers reaching Good Ecological Status (GES) 55 

12.13 Indicator Analysis 55 

12.14 Policy Conclusions 56 

13 Society (Objective 12) .................................................................................................57 

13.1 Introduction 57 

13.2 PMI58 & SAI1/1 - Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for crime deprivation 57 

13.3 PMI59 & SAI5/1 - Number of LSOAs in the bottom 10% most deprived for barriers 
to housing and services provision deprivation 57 

13.4 PMI60 & SAI4/4- Number and location of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 10% 
nationally for Living Environment deprivation 57 

13.5 PMI61 & SAI6/4 - Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most deprived for 
income deprivation 57 

13.6 PMI62 & SA1/2 - Crime rates per 1,000 of the population for key offences 57 

13.7 Indicators Analysis 58 

13.8 Policy Conclusions 58 

14 Progress against the Local Development Scheme (LDS) .........................................59 

15 Progress against the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) ...........................................60 

16 Duty to Co-operate ......................................................................................................63 

17 Neighbourhood Planning ............................................................................................66 

18 Self-build and custom build housing .........................................................................67 

19 Brownfield Register ....................................................................................................69 

Appendix A: Local Plan Policies .......................................................................................70 

Appendix B: Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMIs) .................................................71 

Appendix C: Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAIs) ..................................................79 

Appendix D: Glossary of terms and abbreviations ..........................................................85 

 

Page 154



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

8 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Authorities Monitoring Report  
 
1.1.1 The preparation of Annual Monitoring Reports ceased on 15 January 2012 when 
section 113 of the Localism Act came into force. This removes the requirement for annual 
monitoring reports to be made to the Secretary of state. However, councils are still required 
to prepare reports, known as ‘Authorities’ Monitoring Reports (AMR). This Act requires 
councils to publish this information direct to the public at least annually in the interests of 
transparency.  
 
1.1.2 As a legislative requirement under Regulation 34 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012, the AMR is the main mechanism for 
assessing the performance and effects of Wyre’s Development Plan (also includes the 
Lancashire Minerals and Waste Development Framework but monitored by Lancashire 
County Council and therefore not monitored in this report) The AMR also monitors 
performance against – and the timescales set out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
in relation to the review of the Local Plan and the preparation of other supplementary 
documents and guidance. 
 

1.1.3 This is the 15th AMR for Wyre Borough and covers the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 
2019. The purpose is as follows: 
 

 To monitor the key characteristics of Wyre as a wider contextual setting for Local 
Plan monitoring;  

 To assess the planning policies of the Adopted Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted 
February 2019), including their effectiveness, and the impacts they have on the 
Borough in order to establish a baseline for future monitoring; and  

 To consider progress in terms of preparation of any planning policy documents set 
out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS) and any ‘real time’ subsequent updates 
on the Council’s website. 

 

1.2 Wyre’s Development Plan  

1.2.1 The Development Plan for Wyre Council currently comprises the following documents:  

 Policies included within Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted February 2019) 

 The Lancashire Minerals and Waste Development Framework produced by 
Lancashire County Council.  
 

1.3 Structure 

1.3.1 In order to address these issues, the AMR is structured in the following manner.  

1.3.2 Chapter 1 outlines the key messages of this AMR and Wyre’s Development Plan. 
 
1.3.3 Chapter 2 monitors contextual information (e.g. population growth, age rates) for the 
district as a whole to review the baseline conditions in the borough to assess the extent that 
the local plan spatial strategy is being delivered, remains appropriate and is sustainable. 

1.3.4 Chapters 3 – 13 provide monitoring and analysis of the implementation of the Local 
Plan through the schedule of Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) and Sustainability 
Appraisal Indicators (SAI). These will provide an accurate indication of the performance 
against the Local Plan strategic objectives and the local plan policies having regard to a 
realistic assessment of the available sources to Wyre Council.  

Page 155



  

 Wyre Council 
 

9 

 
1.3.5 Chapter 14 reviews the progress made on preparing planning documents against the 
Local Development Scheme.  
 
1.3.6 Chapter 15 reviews the progress against the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 

1.3.7 Chapter 16 outlines the Council’s actions under the Duty to Cooperate requirements 
with neighbouring authorities.  
 
1.3.8 Chapter 17 outlines the latest position regarding Neighbourhood Plans. 
 
1.3.9 Chapter 18 outlines the latest position regarding Self-build and custom build housing. 

1.3.10 Chapter 19 the latest position regarding Wyre Council’s Brownfield Register. 

1.4 Limitations  

1.4.1 As part of the plan, monitor and manage approach, the indicators and targets will be 
reviewed throughout the plan period to assess their suitability and so they remain 
appropriate. Additional indicators may also be included in the AMR. It must be recognised 
that in relation to some indicators the impact of the local plan can only be determined after a 
number of years. 

1.4.2 It should also be noted that for some applications which require legal agreements 
under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the official approval date is the date 
on which the permission is issued after the S106 agreement is signed and is not the date that 
the application was approved by the Planning Committee. This process can sometimes take 
several months before final permission can be granted. It is at that point when an application 
is considered as approved that it is included in the relevant AMR. Monies will only come 
forward upon certain triggers that are enclosed within the S106 agreement.  
 
1.4.3 A number of gaps do still exist in monitoring information and additional monitoring may 
take place in the future to address this. Gaps may exist due to the adoption of the Local Plan 
taking place during the monitoring period. The plan was adopted on 28th February 2019. 

It should be noted that some of the sustainability appraisal indicators that were developed in 
the Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031) Sustainability Appraisal Report (Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal) August 2017 (SD005a1), have been amended 
and/or removed to best fit the monitoring required for the local plan. SAIs may have not been 
included in this AMR due to overlaps in the indicators.  New SAIs may be introduced during 
the plan period. 
 
1.4.4 It must be noted that some figures included in this document do not include permitted 
developments. It should therefore be assumed that some smaller developments (i.e. change 
of use) have also been developed and are not included in this document. 

1.4.5 Where there has been an application permitted which includes intensification of an 
existing employment site, i.e. an extension or additional floor to existing employment 
building, only net additional floorspace is recorded as the site area already exists and would 
be misrepresentative. Therefore, gross figures may be recorded as no take up or loss (0 
hectares). 

                                                
1 Local Plan (2011-2031) Examination Reference found at 
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/file/4738/sd005a_sustainability_appraisal_report_august_2017  

Page 156

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/downloads/file/4738/sd005a_sustainability_appraisal_report_august_2017


Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

10 

1.5 Other  

1.5.1 At the end of each chapter, there is an indicator analysis section. Below sets out the 
system used to determine performance. 

= Positive performance     

                

= Neither negative nor positive 

 

= Negative performance / Action may be required 

 

 

Page 157



  

 Wyre Council 
 

11 

2 Contextual (Background) Information 

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 As well as monitoring the objectives and local plan policies, the AMR also monitors 
contextual information (e.g. population growth, age rates) for the district as a whole to review 
the baseline conditions in the borough to assess the extent that the local plan spatial strategy 
is being delivered, remains appropriate and is sustainable.  

2.2 Spatial Characteristics of Wyre  
 
2.2.1 Wyre is a Lancashire coastal district bounded by the sea along parts of its western and 
northern boundaries. It shares a common land boundary with the City of Lancaster to the 
north, with the Boroughs of Ribble Valley, Preston and Fylde to the east and south 
respectively, and with Blackpool Unitary Authority along the remainder of its western 
boundary. 
 
2.2.2 Wyre itself is 
characterised by a distinct 
geographical polarity, with 
the urban areas concentrated 
in the west of the Borough, 
and an expanse of rural area 
to the East. 
 
2.2.3 The urban area west of 
the River Wyre is on a 
peninsula situated in 
Morecambe Bay, and is 
comprised of the coastal 
towns of Fleetwood, 
Thornton, Cleveleys, and to 
the south, slightly inland, the 
market town of Poulton-le-
Fylde. 
 
2.2.4 The main rural area 
settlements of Wyre are the 
market town of Garstang, 
Great Eccleston, Catterall, 
Knott End-on-Sea, Preesall 
and Hambleton. The rural 
area is itself characterised by 
a large area of low-lying 
countryside and farmland 
scattered with small villages 
and hamlets, and east of the 
M6, the Bowland Fells which 
is designated an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). 
 
 
 

FIGURE 2.1: WYRE COUNCIL  

Page 158



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

12 

2.3 Current Population 

2.3.1 The estimated population for Wyre (mid-2018) is 111,223, this compares with the 2011 
Census figure of 107,749 representing a 3.22% increase and an increase on the previous 
year from 110,426 – an increase of 0.7%. Population estimates are calculated through 
components on change against the previous year’s estimate. The components of change 
consist of the net difference of births/deaths and internal/international migration. In the last 
year, changes to special populations (home armed forces and the prison population) 
increased the overall population of Wyre by a further 8. 
 
2.3.2 Wyre’s population age structure is somewhat different in comparison to Lancashire-14 
(including Blackburn with Darwen and Blackpool), the North West and England. Figure 2.2 
illustrates how Wyre’s population structure (mid-2018 estimates) compares against 
Lancashire, the North West and England. Wyre has a larger proportion of residents over the 
age of 50 and lower proportions across all age groups under the age of 50. In comparison to 
the 2011 census, the age groups have changed slightly with the most notable decrease 
being in the 40-44 age group. All age groups over the age of 50 (except 60-64) have 
increased and are higher than the regional and national average. 

Figure 2.2: Population Structure, 2011 Census and Mid-2018 Estimates (ONS) 

 
 

2.4 Population Projections 

2.4.1 Table 2.1 shows the 2016-based population projection figures for Wyre, compared to 
regional and national figures. Wyre has a higher percentage rate of growth compared to 
Lancashire but a lower rate of growth compared to national figures. As can be seen, the rate 
of growth in Wyre is expected to peak in the short term (up to 2026), and then slowly reduce 
through to 2034. Wyre’s population is projected to increase to approx. 115,700 by the year 
2034 (7% greater than the 2011 census).  
 
 
 

 

 

Page 159



  

 Wyre Council 
 

13 

TABLE 2.1: LOCAL, REGIONAL AND NATIONAL POPULATION PROJECTIONS (ONS) 

Population projection (thousands) with % change 

 Wyre Lancashire North West England 

Year Population % Increase Population % Increase Population % Increase Population % Increase 

2018 110,700  1,201,500  7,279,000  55,997,700  

2020 111,600 0.81 1,207,600 0.51 7,333,500 0.75 56,704,700 1.26 

2022 112,400 0.72 1,213,000 0.45 7,381,700 0.66 57,344,200 1.13 

2024 113,100 0.62 1,217,900 0.40 7,425,500 0.59 57,937,200 1.03 

2026 113,800 0.62 1,222,500 0.38 7,466,900 0.56 58,505,600 0.98 

2028 114,300 0.44 1,226,400 0.32 7,505,200 0.51 59,043,500 0.92 

2030 114,800 0.44 1,229,300 0.24 7,540,000 0.46 59,548,800 0.86 

2032 115,300 0.44 1,231,700 0.20 7,571,400 0.42 60,023,800 0.80 

2034 115,700 0.35 1,233,200 0.12 7,600,100 0.38 60,473,800 0.75 

 

2.4.2 As shown in Figure 2.3, Wyre’s population is also projected to age considerably by the 
year 2034, especially residents in the age group over 75, which has seen a significant 
increase of approx. 5,600 (38%) between 2018 and 2034 (2016-based projections). The age 
group 65-74 is also expected to increase considerably by approx. 3,200 (20%). The 
projections also indicate that the age groups 0-14, 25-34 and 55-64 are all projected to 
decrease in population, especially the 45-54 age group which has a significant decrease of 
approx. 2,400 (15%). 

 

2.5 Population Density 

2.5.1 Table 2.2 illustrates that Wyre has a lower population density (mid-2018 estimates) 
compared to regional and national population densities. However, it must be noted that the 
population density in Wyre is unevenly distributed as illustrated in Figure 2.4. The majority of 
the population is concentrated in the urban areas of Fleetwood, Cleveleys, Thornton and 
Poulton-le-Fylde and also the market town of Garstang. 

 

Figure 2.3:  Projected Population by Age Group for Wyre (ONS) 

Page 160



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

14 

TABLE 2.2: POPULATION DENSITY OF WYRE, MID-2018 ESTIMATE (ONS) 

  Wyre Lancashire-12 North West England 

Population  111,223 1,210,053 7,292,093 55,977,178 

Area (sq. km.) 282 2,903 14,107 130,279 

Population per sq. km. 394 417 517 430 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

2.6 Migration and Natural Change 

2.6.1 Figure 2.5 illustrates the rate of international and internal-migrants and also the 
difference of natural change within Wyre since 2011 to 2018; - there was a total net gain 
1,444 in-migrants. Of that, 84% have moved from somewhere within the UK, and 16% from 
overseas.  

FIGURE 2.4: POPULATION BY WARD IN WYRE, MID-2017 ESTIMATE (ONS) 

Page 161



  

 Wyre Council 
 

15 

FIGURE 2.5: INTERNATIONAL AND INTERNAL MIGRATION AND NATURAL CHANGE IN WYRE, 2012-2018 (ONS) 

 

2.6.2 Whilst overall there had been a net gain through in-migration, when considered in 
conjunction with fertility and mortality rates, the rate of in-migration has some implications. 
During 2017-2018, there were 938 births in Wyre, and 1,593 deaths (ONS). 

 

2.7 Ethnic composition 

2.7.1 As Table 2.3 illustrates, Wyre has a much less ethnic diverse population when 
compared to Lancashire, the North West and England. The 2011 census indicated that Wyre 
had a higher proportion of white residents than in the North West and England. Although the 
ethnic diversity in Wyre was estimated to have increased by 2011, the white British 
population in Wyre remains at 12.8% higher than in England. All other groups in Wyre, had a 
lower proportion when compared both regionally and nationally. 

TABLE 2.3: ETHNIC COMPOSITION (%), 2011 CENSUS COMPARED WITH THE 2001 CENSUS (LCC) 

 
Ethnic Group Wyre Lancashire North West England 

2001 2011 2001 2011 2001 2011 2001 2011 

White 98.8 98.2 94.6 92.3 94.3 90.2 90.8 85.4 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group 0.4 0.6 0.7 1.1 1.0 1.6 1.4 2.3 

Asian/Asian British 0.4 0.9 4.2 6.1 3.5 6.2 4.7 7.8 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.7 1.4 2.4 3.5 

Other ethnic group 0.3 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.6 0.6 1.0 1.0 

 

2.8 Index of Multiple Deprivation 

2.8.1 The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is a measure of the relative deprivation of 
areas at the Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) level. The concept is based on the idea of 
seven distinct domains of deprivation, which are experienced by individuals living in a 

Page 162



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

16 

particular area. The IMD is a weighted aggregation index of the relative deprivation of a 
particular area. 

FIGURE 2.6: INDICES OF MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION (ALL IMD DOMAINS) FOR WYRE, LOWER SUPER 
 OUTPUT AREAS BY RANKING POSITION IN ENGLAND, 2015 (MHCLG) 

 

2.8.2 Spatially, there is an inequality between urban and rural parts of the borough, with the 
more deprived areas being found exclusively in the urban areas. Figure 2.6 shows that whilst 
much of Wyre ranks in the least deprived areas of England with some areas such as 
Garstang and parts of Poulton-le-Fylde, Thornton and Cleveleys ranking in the least deprived 
10%, a number of areas in Fleetwood are ranked amongst the most deprived 10% in 
England, notably Pharos and Mount. Jubilee in Cleveleys is also now ranked in the most 
deprived 10%. On 28th February 2019, the new Local Plan 2011-2031 was adopted. The 
Local Plan introduces new policies that will address the key issues facing the whole of Wyre, 
including areas facing deprivation. 

2.9 Conclusion 

2.9.1 This chapter has outlined the key demographic issues for Wyre in terms of population 
and also the need to monitor socio-cultural issues. 

2.9.2 Wyre’s population is projected to both increase and become considerably more aged 
over the coming years. This will have implications for the provision of housing and the 
necessary services. With the population ageing there will be a greater demand for local 
health services and service provision, and with large parts of the Borough being rural, there 
is the potential for greater need of transportation services. With the younger population 
projected to decrease, namely 15 to 34 year olds, this will bring new challenges that will have 
to be addressed especially in terms of retaining businesses and employment opportunities. 

2.9.3 In order to support the principles of sustainable development but also ensure that the 
development needs of the population of Wyre are met, a new settlement hierarchy was 
established as part of the new Local Plan. The new settlement hierarchy is broadly in the 
form of a traditional hierarchy where the highest populated areas are at the higher end of the 

Page 163



  

 Wyre Council 
 

17 

spectrum. As part of the Local Plan preparation, Wyre Council undertook a detailed 
settlement analysis to support the settlement hierarchy in the adopted Local Plan. 

2.9.4 The overreaching aim is to promote sustainable growth whilst balancing environmental, 
social and economic considerations and creating sustainable communities in both urban and 
rural Wyre.  

Page 164



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

18 

3 Economic Growth (Objective 1) 

3.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 1 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, 
EP1, EP2, EP3 and EP8. These are monitored using the following Performance Monitoring 
Indicators (PMI); PMI1, PMI2, PMI3, PMI4 and PMI5. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators 
(SAI) are also used where appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, 
PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C.  

Objective 1 states: 

‘To facilitate investment, job creation and sustainable economic growth in Wyre, supporting 
new and existing businesses across the Borough, the delivery of Hillhouse Technology EZ, 
farming and tourism development.’ 

3.1.1 Economic growth and performance are indicators of development, employment and 
industry policies implemented by Wyre Council. Sustainable economic growth and diversity is 
encouraged through national policy in order to enhance the vitality of urban centres, and 
facilitate diversification. As the term sustainable development suggests, the need or desire 
for growth must not be detrimental to quality of life and the environment.  

3.2 PMI1 & SAI6/3 - Available employment land, by area (ha) 

3.2.1 Table 3.1 illustrates the available employment land on allocated sites in Wyre. As can 
be seen, there is a total of 32.89ha of available employment land available on allocated sites 
in Wyre. 

Table 3.1: Available employment land on allocated sites 

Site 
Reference 

Site Name Hectares (ha) available 

SA2/1 Carrfield Works, Park Lane, Preesall Hill 0.34 

SA2/2 Riverside Industrial Park Extension, Catterall 3.42 

SA2/3 South of Goose Lane 1.00 

SA3/1 Fleetwood Dock and Marina, Fleetwood 7.5 

SA3/2 Joe Lane, Catterall 0.95 

SA3/3 Land West of Great Eccleston, Great Eccleston 1.00 

SA3/4 Forton Extension, Forton 1.00 

SA3/5 Land West of the A6, Garstang 4.68 

SA4 Hillhouse Technology Enterprise Zone, Thornton 13.00 

Total Employment land available on allocated sites 32.89 

  

3.2.2 In addition to this, there is also a total of 1.11ha of committed employment land on 
unallocated sites. Therefore the overall employment land available across Wyre totals 34ha. 

3.3 PMI2 and PMI3- Amount of gross employment land (ha) and net floorspace 
(sqm) developed by type and with extant planning permission 

3.3.1 Table 3.2 indicates there has been zero (0) take up on Allocated Sites. 

 

Page 165



  

 Wyre Council 
 

19 

Table 3.2: Gross employment land and net floorspace developed 

Allocation (employment 
area) 

Gross Take Up 
(Ha) 

Gross Take Up (Sqm) Total Net Take Up 
(sqm) B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 

- - - - - - - - 

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

3.3.2 Table 3.3 indicates the take up in Existing Employment Areas. A total take up of 
3.58ha. 

Table 3.3: Existing employment areas 

Existing Employment Area Gross Take 
Up (Ha) 

Gross Take Up (Sqm) Total Net 
Take Up 

(sqm) 
B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 

Red Marsh Industrial Estate (WY07) 0 64 0 0 375 0 439 

Poulton Industrial Estate (WY11) 0.32 0 0 0 1,422 0 980* 

Brockholes Way (WY24) 3.12 0 23 23 9,129 0 9,175 

Creamery Industrial Estate (WY25) 0.14 0 0 0 0 385 385 

Total  3.58 64 23  23  10,926  385 10,979 

*Net take up is smaller as there is also a loss within B use class. 

3.3.3 Table 3.4 indicates there has been zero (0) take up on Hillhouse Technology Enterprise 
Zone. 

Table 3.4: Hillhouse Technology Enterprise Zone 

Hillhouse Technology 
Enterprise Zone 

Gross Take Up 
(Ha) 

Gross Take Up (Sqm) Total Net Take Up 
(sqm) B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 

- - - - - - - - 

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

3.3.4 Table 3.5 indicates other take up in Wyre. 

Table 3.5: Other sites 

No. of Sites Gross Take Up (Ha) Gross Take Up (Sqm) Total Net Take Up (sqm) 

B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 

2 0 0 0 32 0 159 191 

 

3.3.5 Data for extant planning permissions will be available in future AMRs. 

3.4 PMI4 - Amount of gross employment land (Ha) and net floorspace (sqm) lost 
to alternative uses (non B use class) 

3.4.1 Table 3.6 indicates the amount of gross employment land (Ha) and net floorspace 
(sqm) lost to alternative uses (non B use class) for available data. 

Page 166



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

20 

3.4.2 There has been 0.1ha employment land lost to alternative uses and there has been 
1,475sqm lost to alternative uses. 

 

Table 3.6: Gross employment and net floorspace lost to alternative uses (non B use class) 

Application 
Number 

Reference 
(if 

applicable) 

Gross 
Loss 
(Ha) 

Net 
Gross 
Loss 
(Ha) 

Loss (gross sqm) Total 
Loss 
(net 
sqm) 

B1a B1b B1c B2 B8 

15/00962/FUL WY24 0 0 921 0 0 0 0 479 

17/01032/FUL WY11 0.01 0.01 0 0 0 0 348 348 

17/01093/FUL WY11 0.01 0.01 0 0 0 195 0 195 

16/00605/FUL   0.08 0.08 453 0 0 0 0 453 

 0.1 0.1 1,374 0 0 195 348 1,475 

  

3.5 PMI5 & SAI6/4 - Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most deprived 
for employment deprivation 

3.5.1 From 2015 data, there were a total number of four (4) wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for employment deprivation. 

3.6 SAI6/5 – Employment land take up 

3.6.1 Table 3.7 indicates the gross employment land take up. As can be seen, the total take 
up is at 16.19ha. The take up for 2018-19 is 3.58ha. 

Table 3.7: Employment land take up 

Year Allocated Sites Unallocated Sites* Total Take Up (Ha) 

Existing 
Employment Areas 

Other 

2011-12 2.74 0.02 2.76 

2012-13 0 1.75 1.75 

2013-14 0 0.4 0.4 

2014-15 0 0.8 0.8 

2015-16 0.84 0.35 0 1.19 

2016-17 0.23 1.07 1.05 2.35 

2017-18 0.46 0 2.9 3.36 

2018-19 0 3.58 0 3.58 

Total 4.27 11.92 16.19 

*Figures were only recorded on unallocated sites and not split between existing employment 
areas and other sites prior to 2015. 

3.7 Indicator Analysis 

3.7.1 Table 3.8 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where possible, 
comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the council. 

Page 167



  

 Wyre Council 
 

21 

Table 3.8: Economic Growth (Objective 1) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP1 
SP2 

 
EP1 
EP2 
EP3 
EP8 

PMI 1 
SAI 6/3 

Available employment land, by area (ha) 
 

Monitor 
availability 

 
34ha in Wyre 

n/a 
 

PMI 2 Amount of gross employment land (ha) 
and net floor space (sqm) developed, by 
type: 
a) on allocated employment sites 
(including mix use) 
b) in existing employment areas 
c) Hillhouse Technology Enterprise Zone 
d) Other 

43 hectares 
(over plan 

period) 

a) 0ha & 0sqm 
b) 3.58ha & 
10,979sqm 

c) 0ha & 0sqm 
d) 0ha & 191sqm 

 

PMI 3 Amount of gross employment land (ha) 
and net floor space (sqm) with extant 
planning permission, by type: 
a) on allocated employment sited 
(including mix use) 
b) in existing employment areas 
c) Hillhouse Technology Enterprise Zone 
d) Other 

To meet 
requirements 

Data not 
available 

n/a 

PMI 4 Amount of gross employment land (ha) 
and net floor space (sqm) lost to 
alternative uses (non B use class): 
a) on allocated employment sites 
(including mix use) 
b) in existing employment areas 
c) Hillhouse Technology Enterprise Zone 
d) Other 

No overall loss 

 
 

Data only 
available for 

whole of Wyre 
and has not been 

split. 
Therefore, 

a), b), c) & d) = 
0.1ha, 1,475sqm 

 

PMI 5 
SAI 6/4 

Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 
10% most deprived for employment 
deprivation 

Decrease over 
plan period 

4 Wards 
n/a 

SAI 6/5 Employment land take up 43ha over plan 
period 

3.58 ha 
 

 

3.8 Policy Conclusions 

3.8.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP and EP) are performing in terms of economic growth. Policies should be 
reviewed comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set and policies have been 
implemented for a minimum of one year. 

3.8.2 Wyre Council’s retail monitoring is currently under review and subject to change. More 
detail will be available in future AMRs.  

 

 

Page 168



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

22 

4 Infrastructure Provision (Objective 2) 

4.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 2 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1 and 
SP7. These are monitored using the following Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI); 
PMI6 and PMI7. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. 
The Local Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B 
and SAI’s in Appendix C. 

Objective 2 states: 

‘To support education and skill development to give local people the opportunity to access 
jobs.’ 

4.2 PMI6 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL 
and/or S106 towards education 

4.2.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new charge that local authorities have the 
power to levy on most types of development to fund infrastructure required to support new 
growth such as transport, education, health and open space facilities. CIL chargers are 
based on the size and types of development proposed and are calculated as a charge per 
square metre.  

4.2.2 Wyre council does not at present have an adopted CIL Charging Schedule. Therefore, 
there are currently no financial contributions through CIL within Wyre. 

4.2.3 As part of the consideration of a planning application, section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 enables local authorities to negotiate with developers certain 
works, restrictions, or contributions towards a range of infrastructure and services, such as 
community facilities, public open space, transport improvements and/or affordable housing. 

4.2.4 There were ten financial contributions during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
This totalled approximately £2,165,924.83 through S106 towards education. 

4.3 PMI7 & SAI2/1 - Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% nationally for education, skills and training deprivation 

4.3.1 From 2015 data, there were a total number of five (5) wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for education, skills and training deprivation. The wards, as per the 2011 
ward boundaries included; Pharos, Rossall, Mount, Park and Warren.  

4.4 SAI2/3 - % of working age residents with national vocational qualifications 
(NVQs) 

4.4.1 Table 4.1 illustrates the number and % of working age residents with NVQs during the 
time period January 2018 to December 2018. 

 

Table 4.1: Wyre Residents with National Vocational Qualifications (ONS) 

  Wyre (Number) Wyre (%) North West (%) Great Britain (%) 

NVQ4 and above 20,000 32.6 35.5 39.3 

NVQ3 and above 36,500 59.3 55.1 57.8 

Page 169



  

 Wyre Council 
 

23 

  Wyre (Number) Wyre (%) North West (%) Great Britain (%) 

NVQ2 and above 51,200 83.3 74.1 74.9 

NVQ1 and above 57,100 92.8 84.8 85.4 
It must be noted that numbers and percentage are for those aged 16-64. Percentage is a proportion of resident 
population of area aged 16-64. 

4.5 SAI2/2 – Location and number of school places available 

4.5.1 Figure 4.1 illustrates the location of primary, secondary and other schools, as well as 
identifying further and higher education establishments. 

Figure 4.1: Location of schools in Wyre 

 

4.5.2 The draft Lancashire “School Place Provision Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20”2 looks at 
current capacity within existing schools and shows the number of surplus school places 
across the Borough. Table 4.2 below summaries its findings. 

Table 4.2: Capacity in existing schools (LCC) 

Sub-Area Total on Roll Net Capacity Surplus Places 

Bleasdale, Calder and Claughton 72 161 89 

Fleetwood 2,115 2,310 195 

Garstang and surrounds 1,149 1,283 134 

Great Eccleston 164 261 97 

                                                
2 Draft Lancashire “School Place Provision Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/29 https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/strategies-
policies-plans/children-education-and-families/school-place-provision-strategy/ 

Page 170

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-plans/children-education-and-families/school-place-provision-strategy/
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-plans/children-education-and-families/school-place-provision-strategy/


Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

24 

Sub-Area Total on Roll Net Capacity Surplus Places 

Over Wyre 726 839 113 

Poulton-le-Fylde and Staining 1,694 1,690 -4 

Thornton/Cleveleys 1,610 1,900 290 

Secondary Schools 5,883 6,822 939 

 

4.6 SAI6/1 – Employment and unemployment 

4.6.1 Table 4.3 illustrates Wyre’s employment and unemployment figures between April 2018 
and March 2019. As can be seen, Wyre has a higher percentage (81.5%) of economically 
active people than both regional (76.9%) and national figures (78.7%). 

Table 4.3: Employment and unemployment in Wyre, North West and Great Britain, 2018-2019 
(ONS) 

  Wyre Wyre (%) North West 
(%) 

Great Britain 
(%) 

Economically Active* 53,200 81.5 76.9 78.7 

In employment* 51,900 79.4 73.8 75.4 

Employees* 43,400 66.7 64.4 64.4 

Self Employed* 8,500 12.7 9.2 10.7 

Unemployed 1,500 2.8 3.9 4.1 
                 *numbers are for those aged 16 and over, % are for those aged 16-64. 

4.7 SAI6/2 – Percentage of employment and occupation 

4.7.1 Table 4.4 illustrates Wyre’s employment by occupation between April 2018 and March 
2019. As can be seen, Wyre had a slightly higher percentage for all groups than the region 
and national figures. 

Table 4.4: Employment and occupations in Wyre, 2018-2019 (ONS) 

  Wyre Wyre (%) North West (%) Great 
Britain (%) 

Soc 2010 Major Group 1-3 25,200 48.6 44.2 46.8 

1) Managers, Directors and senior 
officials 

6,500 12.6 10.3 10.9 

2) Professional Occupations 10,900 21.0 19.8 20.9 

3) Associate Professional & Technical 7,800 15.1 13.9 14.8 

Soc 2010 Major Group 4-5 12,600 24.3 20.1 20.1 

4) Administrative & Secretarial  5,500 10.6 10.6 9.9 

5) Skilled Trades Occupations 7,100 13.7 9.5 10.1 

Soc 2010 Major Groups 6-7 10,000 19.3 18.0 16.5 

6) Caring, Leisure and other Service 
Occupations 

4,900 9.4 9.5 9.0 

7) Sales and Customer Service 5,100 9.9 8.5 7.4 

Soc 2010 Major Group 8-9 # # 17.7 16.6 

8) Process Plant & Machine Operatives # # 7.0 6.3 

Page 171



  

 Wyre Council 
 

25 

  Wyre Wyre (%) North West (%) Great 
Britain (%) 

9) Elementary Occupations # # 10.7 10.3 
# indicates data not available 

4.8 Indicator Analysis 

4.8.1 Table 4.5 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where possible, 
comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the council. 

 

Table 4.5: Infrastructure Provision (Objective 2) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP1 
SP7 

 

PMI 6 Number, type and amount of financial 
contributions through CIL and/or S106 
towards education 

Monitor 
contributions 

£2,165,924.83 n/a 

PMI 7  
SAI 2/1 

Number and distribution of wards 
with LSOAs in the bottom 10% 
nationally for education, skills and 
training deprivation 

Decrease 5 Wards n/a 

SAI2/3 % of working age residents with 
national vocational qualifications 
(NVQs) 

Monitor 
change 

57,100 n/a 

SAI2/2 Location and number of school places 
available 

Monitor 
change 

Surplus places available 
except in Poulton-le-

Fylde and Staining 
n/a 

SAI6/1 Employment and unemployment Monitor 
change 

In employment = 51,900 
Unemployed = 1,500 

n/a 

SAI6/2 Percentage of employment and 
occupation 

Monitor 
change 

See para 4.7.1 n/a 

 

4.9 Policy Conclusions 

4.9.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP) are performing in terms of infrastructure provisions. Policies should be 
reviewed comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set and policies have been 
implemented for a minimum of one year. 

4.9.2 The 2021 census will provide an updated release of key data that will be invaluable in 
terms of whether local people are being given the opportunities to access jobs.  

 

Page 172



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

26 

5 Housing (Objective 3) 

5.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 3 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, 
SP7, HP1, HP2, HP3, HP7, HP8 and HP10. These are monitored using the following 
Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI8, PMI9, PMI10, PMI11, PMI12, PMI13, 
PMI14, PMI15 and PMI16. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where 
appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in 
Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C. 

Objective 3 states: 

‘To help meet the needs of all Wyre’s population; provide choice in terms of type and tenure 
in both market and affordable sectors that meet the requirements of young people, families 
and older people.’ 

5.2 PMI8 - 5 year supply of deliverable housing 

5.2.1 In order to significantly boost the supply of housing, national planning policy requires 
that local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing 
requirements. 

5.2.2 National planning policy allows local authorities to confirm their annual five year 
housing land supply through the publication of an Annual Position Statement (APS). In line 
with the process established by National Planning Practice Guide (NPPG), the council 
submitted a draft APS for assessment to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) on 31 July 2019. 
Wyre Council is still pending a decision. 

5.2.3 The council has also updated the Housing Implementation Strategy (HIS) which sets 
out the Local Plan housing land position and trajectory. The HIS also confirms the five year 
land position. 

5.2.4 Local planning authorities are required to add an additional 5% buffer in order to ensure 
choice and competition in the market for land. Where there has been a record of persistent 
under delivery of housing, the buffer should increase to 20% to provide a realistic prospect of 
achieving the planned supply and to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 
Where the council is seeking to confirm the five year land position, a buffer of 10% is 
required. Furthermore, the shortfall (under supply/backlog) from previous years also needs to 
be included. 

5.2.5 There are two methods to address the shortfall of undelivered units from the early 
years of the plan period; the Sedgefield or Liverpool method. The Sedgefield addresses the 
shortfall within the first five years of the plan period. Alternatively, the Liverpool method 
addresses the shortfall over the whole plan period. The council considers that the Liverpool 
method, also used by the Local Plan Inspector, is the most appropriate way in which to 
address the current shortfall. 

5.2.6 The five year housing land supply calculation (at 31 March 2019) is set out in table 5.1. 

Page 173



  

 Wyre Council 
 

27 

Table 5.1: 5 year supply calculation 

 Number of dwellings 

A. Five year requirement (460 x 5) 2,300 

B. Completions since 1 April 2011 2,447 

C. Shortfall since 2011 (460 x 8) – B 1,233 

C. 1,233 ÷ 12 years remaining on plan period 102.75 

D. Annual requirement (102.75) x 5 years 513.75 

E. Five year requirement with shortfall (2,300 + 513.75) 2,813.75 

F. 10% buffer (E x 10%) 281.37 

F. Five year requirement with shortfall + 10% buffer 
(2,813.75 + 281.4) 

3,095.12 

G. Annual five year requirement (3,095.12 ÷ 5 years) 619 

H. Total supply deliverable in 5 years 3,520 

I. Supply in years (3,520 ÷ 619) 5.69 Years 

 

5.3 PMI9 - Housing Trajectory 

5.3.1 Figure 5.1 illustrates that there has been 2,922 net housing completions since 2011 
and 432 in the year 2018-2019. 

Figure 5.1: Housing Trajectory at 31st March 2019 

 

5.4 PMI10 & SAI4/1 - Net additional dwellings on each housing allocation 

5.4.1 The total net additional dwellings built in Wyre between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 
2019 was 2,922. In the year 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, gross completions exceeded the 
annual requirement at 546 dwellings, however, net completions were at 432 dwellings due to 
demolitions. 

Page 174



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

28 

5.4.2 Table 5.2 identifies net additional dwellings on each housing allocation as at 31 March 
2019. Future AMRs will also report extant planning permissions for allocations. 

Table 5.2: Net additional dwellings on housing allocations 

Site 
Ref 

Site Name Number of 
dwellings 
expected 

Total 
site 

capacity 

Dwellings 
completed 

as at 
31.03.19 

SA1/1 West of Broadway, Fleetwood 25 25 0 

SA1/2 Lambs Road/Raikes Road, Thornton 360 400 0 

SA1/3 Land between Fleetwood Rd North and Pheasant 
Wood, Thornton 

153 153 0 

SA1/4 South East Poulton, Poulton-le-Fylde 236 236 0 

SA1/5 Land at Garstang Road, Poulton-le-Fylde 516 516 31 

SA1/6 Land South of Blackpool Road, Poulton-le-Fylde 300 300 0 

SA1/7 South  Stalmine, Stalmine 180 180 17 

SA1/8 North of Garstang Road, Pilling 40 40 0 

SA1/9 North of Norcross Lane, Norcross 300 300 0 

SA1/10 Land at Arthurs Lane, Hambleton 165 165 0 

SA1/11 Inskip Extension, Inskip 85 85 9 

SA1/12 North of New Holly Hotel and Bodkin Cottage, 
Hollins Lane 

38 38 0 

SA1/13 Land East of Hollins Lane, Hollins Lane 51 51 0 

SA1/14 West of Cockerham Road, Garstang 260 260 0 

SA1/15 Land South of Prospect Farm, West of the A6, 
Garstang 

70 70 0 

SA1/16 South of Kepple Lane, Garstang 125 125 0 

SA1/17 Bowgreave House Farm, Bowgreave 27 27 12 

SA1/18 Garstang Road, Bowgreave 46 46 0 

SA1/19 Land South of Calder House Lane, Bowgreave 45 45 0 

SA1/20 Garstang Country Hotel and Golf Course, 
Bowgreave 

95 95 0 

SA1/21 Daniel Fold Farm, Daniel Fold Lane, Catterall 117 117 16 

SA1/22 Daniel Fold Farm Phase 2, Daniel Fold Lane, 
Catterall 

66 66 0 

SA1/23 Land off Garstang Road, Barton 72 72 0 

SA1/24 Land Rear of Shepherds Farm, Barton 34 34 0 

SA1/25 Land Rear of 867 Garstang Road, Barton 26 26 0 

 
Total 

3,432 3,472 85 

  

5.5 PMI11 & SAI4/3 - Percentage and number of affordable homes, by type and 
settlement 

5.5.1 The Government is committed to boosting housing supply and delivering a wide choice 
of homes to meet both market and affordable needs. Whilst the largest contribution to the 
housing land supply will be made by market housing, it is also important to meet the needs of 
people requiring affordable housing. 

Page 175



  

 Wyre Council 
 

29 

5.5.2 Housing evidence has consistently shown a significant need for affordable housing in 
the Borough. The 2017 SHMA Addendum III shows an annual need of 134 units in the first 
five years up to 2022 rising to 189 thereafter. It is important to provide high quality affordable 
housing contributing towards housing needs. Policy HP3 requires developments of 10 or 
more dwellings to provide affordable housing. The specific policy requirements have been 
informed by the Local Plan viability Study, to ensure that they are deliverable.   

5.5.3 Policy HP3 affordable housing states that affordable housing should be provided on-
site. Exceptionally where it has been demonstrated that on-site provision is not appropriate, a 
financial contribution of broadly equivalent value will be required to be paid to the Council to 
support the delivery of affordable housing elsewhere in the borough.  

5.5.4 The total number of affordable home completions in 2018-19 was 81. All affordable 
housing completions were located on larger market housing sites. 

5.5.5 Table 5.3 below, illustrates sites that have contributed to the affordable housing 
completions.  

Table 5.3: Sites contributing to affordable housing completions 

HM Ref. Number Location Total AH Completions Number of beds 

1 2 3 4 

1357A Garstang Rd East, Poulton 1     1   

1567A Kepple Lane, Garstang 22 6 11 5   

2577 South of Preston Rd. Inskip 7   4 3   

2683 Joe Lane/A6, Catterall 19   7 12   

2691A Copp Lane, Great Eccleston 2     2   

2700 East of Carr Head Lane, Poulton 30 8  12 10   

Total  81 14 34 33 0 

 

5.6 PMI12 - Percentage and number of dwellings providing housing for older 
people and people with restricted mobility 

5.6.1 By 2039, the population aged 65 or over in Wyre is projected to reach 40,000, the 
largest number of any Lancashire authority. It is therefore essential to provide housing for 
older people and people with restricted mobility. 

5.6.2 The Local Plan was adopted towards the end of the monitoring year, and consequently 
this indicator is currently being developed in line with the monitoring framework. This 
indicator will be introduced during the plan period as and when data becomes available. 

5.7 PMI13 and SAI4/2 - Net additional dwellings, by size, type and tenure 

5.7.1 The Local Plan was adopted towards the end of the monitoring year, and consequently 
this indicator is currently being developed in line with the monitoring framework. This 
indicator will be introduced during the plan period as and when data becomes available.  

5.8 PMI14 & SAI4/6 - Amount of permanent and transit pitch provision for 
gypsies and travellers 

5.8.1 No need has been identified in Wyre for Gypsy and other type of traveller 
accommodation. 

Page 176



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

30 

5.9 PMI15 & SAI4/7 - Amount of permanent plot provision for travelling show 
people 

5.9.1 Travelling show people have specific accommodation requirements. The evidence 
showed that the Local Plan needed to make provision for 20 plots to meet accommodation 
needs for Travelling Show People for the period up to 2031. Policy SA6 allocated land at 
North Garstang for travelling show people. 

5.9.2 This allocation, SA6, Land at Conway, West of the A6, Garstang, has 2.43 hectares 
available and has a capacity of 20 plots. 

5.10 PMI16 - Number of buildings converted in to Houses of Multiple 
Occupancy (HMOs) 

5.10.1 During the monitoring period, there was a conversion of one shop and two flats into 
one house of multiple occupancies.  

5.11 SAI4/5 - Percentage of vacant dwellings (C3) 

5.11.1 Table 5.4 illustrates as at October 2018, 139 homes in Wyre had been vacant for 
longer than 6 months, representing 1.8% of total dwelling stock. This is much lower when 
compared to Lancashire, 3.7% and England 2.6%. 

5.11.2 Wyre had 15 more vacant dwellings compared to 2017, which equates to a 1.6% 
change.  

Table 5.4: Vacant dwellings (C3) in Wyre, Lancashire, North West and England, 2018 (ONS) 

  Wyre Lancashire-12 North West England 

No. Longer 
than 6 

months 

% 
Dwellings 

Vacant 

No. Longer 
than 6 

months 

% 
Dwellings 

Vacant 

No. Longer 
than 6 

months 

% Dwellings 
Vacant 

No. Longer 
than 6 

months 

% 
Dwellings 

Vacant 

Empty 
Homes 

946 139 1.8 19,953 7,519 3.7 Data not 
available 

Data not 
available 

Data not available 634,453 216,186 2.6 

 

5.12 Indicator Analysis 

5.12.1 Table 5.5 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators where possible, 
comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the council. 

Table 5.5: Housing (Objective 3) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 
Output 

Performance 

SP1 
SP2 
SP7 

 
HP1 
HP2 
HP3 
HP4 
HP8 

HP10 

PMI 8  5 year supply of deliverable housing 100% as set out in 
the latest HIS 

5.69 years 
 

PMI 9 Housing Trajectory 
a)completions in previous years (since 
2011) 
b)completions in reporting year 
c)extant planning permission from 
current year (up to 2031) 
d)managed delivery target  

9,215 homes in 
the plan period 

(2011-2031) 
 

 
a) 2,447 

b) 432 (net) 
c) 566 

d) 6,332 

 

PMI 10  
SAI 4/1 

Net additional dwellings on each housing 
allocation 
a) completions since 2011 
b)with extant planning permission 

Monitor take up 
a) 85 
b) n/a 

n/a 

PMI 11 
SAI 4/3 

Percentage and number of affordable 
homes, by type and settlement 

Measure % 
against local plan 

Data not 
available 

n/a 

Page 177



  

 Wyre Council 
 

31 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 
Output 

Performance 

a)completed annually  
b) with extant planning permission 
c)financial contributions 

policy standards, 
by settlement 

PMI 12 Percentage and number of dwellings 
providing housing for older people and 
people with restricted mobility 

20% of 20+ 
dwellings 

Data not 
available 

n/a 

PMI 13  
SAI 4/2 

Net additional dwellings, by size, type 
and tenure 

Monitor change 
Data not 
available 

n/a 

PMI 14  
SAI 4/6 

Amount of permanent and transit pitch 
provision for gypsies and travellers 

Monitor take up 
No need 

identified 
 

PMI 15 
SAI 4/7 

Amount of permanent plot provision for 
travelling show people 

To meet locally 
identified need 

20 plots 
 

PMI 16 Number of buildings converted in to 
Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) 

Monitor take up 1 n/a 

SAI 4/5  Percentage of vacant dwellings (C3) 
Decrease 

1.8% (139 
dwellings) 

 

 

5.13 Policy Conclusions 

5.13.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP and HP) are performing in terms of housing. Policies should be reviewed 
comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set and policies have been implemented 
for a minimum of one year. 

5.13.2 For more detailed housing monitoring and information it is advised to review other 
evidence base documents which outline Wyre Council’s up to date housing position. Further 
information can be found here - 
https://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1059/housing_evidence 

 

 

 

Page 178

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200457/housing/1059/housing_evidence


Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

32 

6  Town, District and Local Centres (Objective 4) 

6.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 4 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP2, EP4, 
EP5, EP6, EP7 and EP8. These are monitored using the following Performance Monitoring 
Indicators (PMI); PMI 5, PMI17, PMI 18, PMI 19 and PMI 20. Sustainability Appraisal 
Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be viewed in 
Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C. 

Objective 4 states: 

‘To help meet the diverse needs for services and facilities, as close to where they arise as 
possible, and ensure thriving and vibrant town, district and local centres serving the local 
community and visitors.’ 

6.2 PMI5 and SAI6/4 - Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most 
deprived for employment deprivation 

6.2.1 From 2015 data, there were a total number of four (4) wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for employment deprivation.  

6.3 PMI17, PMI18 and SAI6/6 - Net additional retail floorspace developed and 
with extant planning permission 

6.3.1 The Local Plan was adopted towards the end of the monitoring year, and consequently 
this indicator is currently being developed in line with the monitoring framework. This 
indicator will be introduced during the plan period as and when data becomes available.  

6.4 PMI19 - Changes to defined primary and secondary shopping frontages 

6.4.1 As the plan was only introduced in February 2019, changes will only be determined 
once future retail monitoring takes place. Future AMRs will identify changes. 

6.5 PMI20 - Ground floor vacancy rates for Cleveleys, Fleetwood, Garstang, 
Poulton-le-Fylde and Thornton 

6.5.1 Table 6.1 compares town centre vacancy rates between January 2018 and January 
2019. As can be seen, there have been decreases in Cleveleys and Fleetwood. There has 
been a small increase in Garstang but a larger increase in Poulton-le-Fylde. There has been 
no change in Thornton. Wyre’s town centre vacancy average (7.73%) was lower than 
national average of 10.4% and increased by 0.64% between 2018 and 2019. 

Table 6.1: Ground floor vacancy rates in Wyre, 2018-2019 

Town Centre 2018 Vacancy 
Rate (%) 

January 2019 Vacancy Rate 
Difference 

Total Units Empty Vacancy Rate (%) 

Cleveleys 7.37 365 26 7.12 -0.25 

Fleetwood 16.79 258 40 15.50 -1.29 

Garstang 5.09 156 9 5.76 0.67 

Poulton-le-Fylde 2.38 170 11 6.47 4.09 

Thornton 3.80 105 4 3.80 0 

Average 7.09 N/A N/A 7.73 0.64 

 

Page 179



  

 Wyre Council 
 

33 

 

6.6 Indicator Analysis 

6.6.1 Table 6.2 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where possible, 
comparing data from previous year and where targets have been set out by the council. 

Table 6.2: Town, District and Local Centres (Objective 4) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator 
/ Target 

2018/19 
Output 

Performance 

SP2 
 

EP4 
EP5 
EP6 
EP7 
EP8 

PMI 5 
SAI 6/4 

Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most 
deprived for employment deprivation 

Decrease 
over plan 

period 
4 Wards n/a 

PMI 17 
SAI 6/6 

Net additional retail floorspace developed, by type: 
a)in town centres 
b)in primary shopping areas 
c)in district, local and neighbourhood centres 
d)other 

Monitor take 
up 

Data not 
available 

n/a 

PMI 18 
SAI 6/6 

Net additional retail floorspace with extant planning 
permission 
a)in town centres 
b)in primary shopping areas 
c)in district, local and neighbourhood centres 
d)other 

Monitor take 
up 

Data not 
available 

n/a 

PMI 19 Changes to defined primary and secondary shopping 
frontages 

Monitor 
change 

Data not 
available 

n/a 

PMI 20 Ground floor vacancy rates for Cleveleys, Fleetwood, 
Garstang, Poulton-le-Fylde and Thornton 

Monitor 
change 

Average = 
7.09 

n/a 

 

6.7 Policy Conclusions 

6.7.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP and EP) are performing in terms of helping to meet the diverse needs for 
services and facilities. Policies should be reviewed comprehensively in future AMRs when a 
baseline is set and policies have been implemented for a minimum of one year. 

6.7.2 Wyre Council’s retail monitoring is currently under review and subject to change. More 
detail will be available in future AMRs.  

 

Page 180



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

34 

7 Infrastructure Provision (Objective 5 and 6) 

7.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objectives 5 and 6 of the Local Plan is 
being implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, 
SP2, SP7, SP8, CDMP3, CDMP6 and EP11. These are monitored using the following 
Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI21, PMI22, PMI23, PMI24, PMI25, PMI26, 
PMI27, and PMI28. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where 
appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in 
Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C.  

Objective 5 states: 

‘To ensure that new developments are supported by essential infrastructure, services and 
facilities through collaborative working with partners and stakeholders.’ 
 
Objective 6 states: 
 
‘To improve connectivity between housing, employment, services and recreation areas by a 
range in transport choices; support the development of an efficient strategic and local 
highway network, safe walking and cycling routes and public transport services.’ 
 

7.2 PMI21 & SAI3/3 - Percentage of new dwellings approved within 1km of key 
services 

7.2.1 Key services include; General Practitioner (GP), primary school, secondary school, 
existing employment areas (EP2) and town, district, local and neighbourhood centres (EP4).  

7.2.2 48% of new dwellings approved are within 1km of a GP. 

7.2.3 76% of new dwellings approved are within 1km of a primary school. 

7.2.4 30% of new dwellings approved are within 1km of a secondary school. 

7.2.5 59% of new dwellings approved are within 1km of an existing employment area (EP2). 

7.2.6 56% of new dwellings approved are within 1km of town, district, local and 
neighbourhood centre3.  

7.3 PMI22 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL 
and/or S106 towards health care 

7.3.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that local authorities have the 
power to levy on most types of development to fund infrastructure required to support new 
growth such as transport, education, health and open space facilities. CIL chargers are 
based on the size and types of development proposed and are calculated as a charge per 
square metre.  

7.3.2 Wyre council does not at present have an adopted CIL Charging Schedule. Therefore, 
there are currently no financial contributions through CIL within Wyre. 

                                                
3 This data includes Catterall as a local centre as it has been developed during the plan period. 

Page 181



  

 Wyre Council 
 

35 

7.3.3 As part of the consideration of a planning application, section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 enables local authorities to negotiate with developers certain 
works, restrictions, or contributions towards a range of infrastructure and services, such as 
community facilities, public open space, transport improvements and/or affordable housing. 

7.3.4 There were no financial contributions during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
This totalled £0 through S106 towards health care.  

7.4 PMI23 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL 
and/or S106 towards other infrastructure 

7.4.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new charge that local authorities have the 
power to levy on most types of development to fund infrastructure required to support new 
growth such as transport, education, health and open space facilities. CIL chargers are 
based on the size and types of development proposed and are calculated as a charge per 
square metre.  

7.4.2 Wyre council does not at present have an adopted CIL Charging Schedule. Therefore, 
there are currently no financial contributions through CIL within Wyre. 

7.4.3 As part of the consideration of a planning application, section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 enables local authorities to negotiate with developers certain 
works, restrictions, or contributions towards a range of infrastructure and services, such as 
community facilities, public open space, transport improvements and/or affordable housing. 

7.4.4 There was one financial contribution during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
This totalled approximately £62,119 through S106 towards other infrastructure. 

7.5 PMI24 - Number of community facilities, by type and settlement 

7.5.1 The Local Plan was adopted towards the end of the monitoring year, and consequently 
this indicator is currently being developed in line with the monitoring framework. This 
indicator will be introduced during the plan period as and when data becomes available. 

7.6 PMI25 & SAI3/5 - Length of total and new dedicated pedestrian and cycle 
routes 

7.6.1 As of March 2015, there was a total of 19,189 meters (Lancashire County Council, 
2015) of dedicated cycle routes within the borough. No figures are available for the new 
dedicated cycle or pedestrian routes between 2015 and 2019.   

7.7 PMI26 - Number of developments receiving planning permission with 
agreed travel plan 

7.7.1 There were no developments receiving planning permission with an agreed travel plan. 

7.8 PMI27 - Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL 
and/or S106 towards highways 

7.8.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new charge that local authorities have the 
power to levy on most types of development to fund infrastructure required to support new 
growth such as transport, education, health and open space facilities. CIL chargers are 
based on the size and types of development proposed and are calculated as a charge per 
square metre.  

7.8.2 Wyre council does not at present have an adopted CIL Charging Schedule. Therefore, 
there are currently no financial contributions through CIL within Wyre. 

Page 182



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

36 

7.8.3 As part of the consideration of a planning application, section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 enables local authorities to negotiate with developers certain 
works, restrictions, or contributions towards a range of infrastructure and services, such as 
community facilities, public open space, transport improvements and/or affordable housing 

7.8.4 There were five financial contributions during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
This totalled approximately £494,000 through S106 towards highways.  

7.9 PMI28 & SAI5/2 - Percentage and number of new dwellings built within 1km 
of a bus stop 

7.9.1 During the monitoring period, 100% of new dwellings built were within 1km of a bus 
stop. 

7.10 Indicator Analysis 

7.10.1 Table 7.1 illustrates how local policies perform against indicators, where possible, 
comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the council. 

Table 7.1: Infrastructure Provision (Objective 5 and 6) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP2 
SP7 
SP8 

SP17 
 

CDMP3 
CDMP6 

 
EP11 

PMI 21 
SAI 3/3 

Percentage of new dwellings approved 
within 1km of key services 

Monitor take up 

GP = 48% 
Primary school = 

76% 
Secondary school = 

30% 
Existing 

employment area = 
59% 

Town, district, local 
and neighbourhood 

centre = 56% 

n/a 

PMI 22 Number, type and amount of financial 
contributions through CIL and/or S106 
towards health care 

Monitor 
contributions 

£0 n/a 

PMI 23 Number, type and amount of financial 
contributions through CIL and/or S106 
towards other infrastructure 

Monitor 
contributions 

£62,119 n/a 

PMI 24 Number of community facilities, by 
type and settlement 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning permission 
c)loss to alternative uses 

Monitor change Data not available n/a 

PMI 25  
SAI 3/5 

Length of total and new dedicated 
pedestrian and cycle routes 

Increase Data not available n/a 

PMI 26 Number of developments receiving 
planning permission with agreed travel 
plan 

No target 0 n/a 

PMI 27 Number, type and amount of financial 
contributions through CIL and/or S106 
towards highways 

Monitor 
contributions 

£494,000 n/a 

PMI 28  
SAI 5/2 

Percentage and number of new 
dwellings built within 1km of a bus stop 

Monitor take up 100% n/a 

 

Page 183



  

 Wyre Council 
 

37 

7.11 Policy Conclusions 

7.11.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP, CDMP and EP) are performing in terms of infrastructure provision. Policies 
should be reviewed comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set and policies 
have been implemented for a minimum of one year. 

7.11.2 It can be established that new developments are supported by essential infrastructure. 
100% of new dwellings built were within 1km of bus stops. It is also positive that 76% and 
59% of new dwellings approved are within 1km of a primary school and existing employment 
areas respectively.   

Page 184



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

38 

8 Natural Environment and Heritage Assets (Objective 7) 

8.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 7 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, 
SP5, SP7, CDMP4 and CDMP5. These are monitored using the following Performance 
Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI29, PMI30, PMI31, PMI32, PMI33, PMI34 and PMI35. 
Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. The Local Plan 
policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in 
Appendix C.  

Objective 7 states: 

‘To protect and enhance Wyre’s natural and heritage assets and amenity creating a high 
quality built and natural environment including through high quality design that respects, and 
where appropriate, improves the character of the locality and surrounding landscape.’ 

8.2 PMI29 & SAI8/1 - Number and change in areas of biodiversity, geological 
and landscape importance 

8.2.1 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) are valuable landscapes, and it is in the 
interest of the nation to protect and safeguard them. The Countryside and Rights of way Act 
2000 legislates for AONBs, ensuring their protection. Wyre contains approximately 5,078 
hectares of the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

8.2.2 Wyre remains to have approximately 6,297 hectares of land designated as a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). This is distributed amongst five SSSI sites, which are 
wholly or partially within Wyre. 

8.2.3 Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) are strictly protected sites designated under the 
EC Habitats Directive. Wyre remains to have approximately 4,058 hectares of SACs which 
covers Morecambe Bay. 

8.2.4 Special Protection Areas (SPAs) are strictly protected sites classified in accordance 
with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. Wyre has approximately 6,229 hectares of SPAs 
which also covers Morecambe Bay, Duddon Estuary and Bowland Fells. 

8.2.5 There are four Local Geodiversity Sites (LGSs) covering 616 hectares, which are 
wholly or partially in Wyre. Three of these are rivers or river sections, whilst the fourth is a 
railway cutting. 

8.2.6 There are 67 Biological Heritage Sites (BHS) covering 3,259 hectares, which are wholly 
or partially in Wyre.  

8.3 PMI30 - Amount of new development within areas of biodiversity, geological 
and landscape importance 

8.3.1 There has been no new development in the AONB. 

8.3.2 There has been no new development in a SSSI. 

8.3.3 There has been no new development in a SAC. 

8.3.4 There has been no new development in a SPA.  

Page 185



  

 Wyre Council 
 

39 

8.3.5 There has been no new development in a LGS. 

8.3.6 There has been no new development in a BHS. 

8.4 PMI31 & SAI8/2 - Condition of SSSIs 

8.4.1 Natural England assesses SSSI’s to measure the quality of their habitats and species 
and to assess if the appropriate management is being carried out. If an SSSI is found to be in 
a favourable or recovering condition, it means that its habitats and species are being 
conserved by appropriate management. If an SSSI is found to be in an unfavourable 
condition, this means there is a current lack of appropriate management, or that there are 
damaging impacts (which may be out of the control of the owner) which need to be 
addressed. The Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has a target to 
get 95% of SSSIs into a favourable or recovering position.  

8.4.2 Wyre estuary, Lune estuary and Rough Hey Wood SSSI have been assessed as being 
100% in favourable condition. Bowland Fells SSSI (85%) and Winmarleigh Moss SSSI (84%) 
have been assessed as being in favourable or recovering condition. 15% of Bowland Fells 
SSSI is now assessed as being in an unfavourable declining condition However, it must be 
taken into account that both, Bowland Fells and Winmarleigh Moss cross into neighbouring 
authorities. Nonetheless, SSSIs as a whole across Wyre (Including the sites that cross 
boundaries) have declined to 93.8% and therefore do not meet the required 95% target set 
out by DEFRA. Sites wholly within Wyre do meet the 95% target. 

8.5 PMI32 & SAI8/3 - Number of Biological Heritage Sites (BHS) under active 
management 

8.5.1 In Lancashire there are at present over 1,100 Biological Heritage Sites (BHSs) covering 
25,000 hectares, which represents 8% of the County’s area. BHSs contain valuable habitats 
such as woodland, species-rich grassland, swamp and salt marsh. There are also ‘artificial’ 
habitats including, railway embankments and the length of the Lancaster canal which runs 
through Wyre. 

8.5.2  Previous monitoring has indicated, there were 67 BHSs under active management 
partially within Wyre Borough covering 3,259 hectares. During 2018, these sites expired and 
therefore need to be re-assessed. 

8.6 PMI33 - Loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land 

8.6.1 Agricultural land is classified into five grades. Grade one is best quality and grade five 
is poorest quality. Table 8.1 shows the varying land classifications across Wyre and also 
shows non-agricultural and urban classifications.  

8.6.2 There has been an increase of 1ha to grade 3 land, and a loss of 1ha to urban land 
classification.  

Table 8.1: Agricultural land classification in Wyre, 2018-2019 

Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) 2018-2019  
Area (Ha) 

Grade 1 0 

Grade 2 8367 

Grade 3 12089 

Grade 4 2532 

Grade 5 2963 

Non Agricultural  60 

Urban 2291 

Page 186



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

40 

 

8.7 PMI34 & SAI10/1 - Gain/Loss/Number of heritage assets 

8.7.1 In Wyre there are seven conservation areas; Calder Vale, Churchtown, Dolphinholme, 
Fleetwood, Garstang, Poulton-le-Fylde, and Scorton. Conservation areas recognise a 
broader character than individual listed buildings, as all features within a Conservation area 
are part of its character.  

8.7.2 There are seven scheduled monuments in Wyre – three near Bleasdale within the 
Forest of Bowland AONB, two in Garstang, one near Catterall and one in Great Eccleston. 

8.7.3 As at 31st March 2018, Historic England identified 304 listings4 of listed buildings in 
Wyre. Of these, two were grade 1, 7 were grade 2*, and 295 were grade 2. 

8.7.4 There remains two Grade 2 Registered Historic Parks and Gardens in Wyre – The 
Mount and the Memorial Park at Fleetwood. 

8.7.5 Table 8.2 illustrates the number of heritage assets in sub-categories across Wyre and 
the change in number from the previous monitoring year. 

Table 8.2: Heritage Assets in Wyre, 2019 

Heritage Assets Total Number Gain / Loss / No 
change 

Conservation areas 7 No change 

Scheduled monuments 7 No change 

Listed buildings 304 +1 

Parks and gardens 2 No change 

 

8.8 PMI35 & SAI10/2 – Number of scheduled monuments and listed buildings 
considered to be at risk 

8.8.1 Wyre has one listed building and two grade 2 listed buildings that are considered to be 
at risk by English Heritage5. 

8.8.2 Church of St Luke, Church Lane, Winmarleigh is a grade 2 listed building that is 
considered to be at risk due to damage to the extensive internal stencil decoration that has 
been caused by water ingress. There are also significant settlement cracks to the north east 
corner of the chancel and the chapel and organ chamber are beneath pitched roofs with the 
adjacent valley gutters being complex. The condition is rated as poor and remains as a 
priority C case - slow decay, no solution agreed.  

8.8.3 Sacred Heart Catholic Church, Heys Street, Thornton Cleveleys is also a grade 2 listed 
building which is considered to be at risk due to suspected inclusion of now corroding iron 
locating dowels within the base of tracery mullions that is causing widespread failure. The 
condition is rated as poor and remains as a priority A case - immediate risk of further 
deterioration or loss of fabric, no solution agreed. 

8.8.4 Bleasdale Circle enclosed Bronze Age urnfield, Bleasdale Circle is a scheduled 
monument that is deemed to be at risk. The condition is generally unsatisfactory with major 

                                                
4 Some listings include more than one listed building, i.e. a terraced street with individual listed buildings is included as one 
listing.  

5 English Heritage Risk Register lists those sites most at risk of being lost through neglect, decay or inappropriate development. 

Page 187



  

 Wyre Council 
 

41 

localised problems, with the vulnerability due to scrub/tree growth. The monument is 
declining. 

8.9 SAI8/4 – Areas of Ancient woodland 

8.9.1 Ancient Woodlands are areas which have had woodland cover and have been 
relatively undisturbed by human activity over hundreds of years. They have evolved into 
complex communities of trees, plants, fungi, microorganisms and insects. It is essential to 
protect and enhance these areas of biodiversity as these areas cover just 2% of the UK.  

8.9.2 There is a total of 19 ancient woodlands in Wyre. 

8.10 Indicator Analysis 

8.10.1 Table 8.3 illustrates local plan policies perform against indicators, where possible, 
comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the council.  

Table 8.3: Natural Environment and Heritage Assets (Objective 7) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / Target 2018/19 
Output 

Performance 

SP1 
SP2 
SP5 
SP7 

 
CDMP4 
CDMP5 

PMI 29  
SAI 8/1 

Number and change in areas of 
biodiversity, geological and landscape 
importance 

No loss (ha) 

AONB = 
5,078ha 

SSSI = 
6,297ha 

SAC = 
4,058ha 

SPA = 
6,229ha 

LGS = 616ha 
BHS = 

3,259ha 

 

PMI 30  Amount of new development within 
areas of biodiversity, geological and 
landscape importance 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning permission 

No development unless 
justified 

a) 0 
b) 0 

 

PMI 31  
SAI 8/2 

Condition of SSSIs 95% of SSSIs in 
favourable or 

recovering condition 
93.8% 

 

PMI 32 
SAI 8/3 

Number of Biological Heritage Sites (BHS) 
under active management 

Monitor over plan 
period 

n/a 
n/a 

PMI 33 Loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land 

Grade 2 = 8,367ha 
Grade 3 = 12,088ha 
Grade 4 = 2532ha 
Grade 5 = 2,963 

NA = 60 
Urban = 2,292 

Grade 2 = 
8,367ha 

Grade 3 = 
12,089ha 
Grade 4 = 
2,532ha 

Grade 5 = 
2,963 

NA = 60 
Urban = 

2,291 

 

PMI 34  
SAI 10/1 

Gain/Loss/Number of heritage assets 
a) conservation areas 
b) scheduled monuments 
c) listed buildings 
d) parks and gardens 

2017-18 = 
a)7 
b)7 

c)303 
d)2 

2018-19 = 
a)7 
b)7 

c)304 
d)2 

 

PMI 35 
SAI 10/2 

Number of scheduled monuments and 
listed buildings considered to be at risk 

No increase 3 
n/a 

SAI 8/4 Areas of Ancient woodland No loss 19 n/a 

Page 188



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

42 

8.11 Policy Conclusions 

8.11.1 As is evident from the natural environment and herniate assets chapter, through the 
implementation of indicators, the policies (SP and CDMP) are overall performing successfully 
and meeting the objectives set out.  

8.11.2 There has been no losses to areas of biodiversity, geological and landscape 
importance, nor has there been any new development in these areas. The condition of the 
SSSIs remains healthy, although does not score green due to not meeting national 
requirements.  

8.11.3 Wyre has one new listed building and there are 3 scheduled monuments and listed 
buildings considered to be at risk. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189



  

 Wyre Council 
 

43 

9 Spatial Development (Objective 8) 

9.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objectives 8 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, 
SP3, SP4, HP4, HP5, HP6, HP7 and EP8. These are monitored using the following 
Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI36 and PMI37. Sustainability Appraisal 
Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be viewed in 
Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C. 

Objective 8 states: 

“To protect the separate identity of individual settlements.” 

9.2 PMI36 – Number of new developments (by type) in the Green Belt 

9.2.1 There have been no new completions in the Green Belt. 

9.2.2 In the monitoring year, there have been 6 granted planning permissions granted in the 
green belt. This equates to 0.9% of all planning applications granted in the monitoring year. 

9.2.3 Of the granted permissions, 4 for residential purposes, 1 retail and 1 leisure. 

9.3 PMI37 - Number of new developments (by type) in the Countryside 

9.3.1 There were 238 completed development in the Countryside. This equates to 48% of all 
completions in the monitoring year. 

9.3.2 In the monitoring year, there were 181 developments granted planning permission in 
the countryside. This equates to 29% of all planning applications granted in the monitoring 
year. 

9.3.3 Of the granted permissions, 91% for residential purposes, 3% retail, 2% leisure and 4% 
employment. 

9.4 Indicator Analysis 

9.4.1 Table 9.1 illustrates local plan policies perform against indicators, where possible, 
comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the council. 

Table 9.1: Spatial Development (Objective 8) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP1 
SP2 
SP3 
SP4 

 
HP4 
HP5 
HP6 
HP7 

 
EP8 

PMI 36 Number of new developments (by type) 
in the Green Belt 
a) completed annually  
b) with extant planning permission 

No development 
unless justified 

a) None (0) 
b) 6 

 

PMI 37  Number of new developments (by type) 
in the Countryside 
a) completed annually  
b) with extant planning permission 

No development 
unless justified 

a) 238 
b) 181 

 

 

Page 190



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

44 

9.5 Policy Conclusions 

9.5.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP, HP and EP) are performing in terms of spatial development. Policies should 
be reviewed comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set and policies have been 
implemented for a minimum of one year. 

9.5.2 There has been no new completions in the green belt. This is essentially important as 
the green belt is used to prevent merging of neighbouring settlements and to protect the 
special character of a settlement.  

9.5.3 There has been boundless development in countryside areas. The open and rural 
character of the countryside is intrinsic to the identity of and ‘sense of place’ in Wyre. It 
should be noted that PMI 37 performance is misrepresented as the local plan was introduced 
near the end of the monitoring year – and so policies had not been adopted.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 191



  

 Wyre Council 
 

45 

10 Green Infrastructure and Health (Objective 9) 

10.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 9 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, 
SP7, SP8, CDMP3, CDMP4, CDMP6 and HP9. These are monitored using the following 
Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI 38, PMI39, PMI40, PMI41, PMI42, PMI43 and 
PMI44. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. The Local 
Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in 
Appendix C. 

Objective 9 states: 

‘To achieve a healthy environment with accessible high quality green infrastructure with 
opportunities for active recreation that contributes to the improvement in the general health 
and well-being of the population and promotes healthy lifestyle choices.’ 

10.2 PMI38 & SAI5/3- Length of total and new dedicated public rights of way 
(PROW) 

10.2.1 As at 31 March 2019, Wyre had approximately 1055 PROWs in total. This figure 
includes bridleways, footpaths, byways open to all traffic, and public path order applications. 
The total number of PROWs in Wyre equates to a total combined length of over 400Km’s.  

10.2.2 This includes over 370km’s of footpaths and over 26km’s of bridleways. New 
dedicated PROWs will be monitored in future AMRs. 

10.3 PMI39 & SAI9/2 - Number of total and new green flag status parks 

10.3.1 Green flags are awarded by The Green Flag Reward® scheme to well managed parks 
and green spaces that have attained the benchmark standard for the management of 
recreational outdoor spaces across the United Kingdom.  

10.3.2 Wyre has a total of four parks that have been recognised as meeting this requirement. 
Memorial Park, Fleetwood is classified as a Green Heritage Site and holds a Green Flag 
award. Elsewhere, Wyre Estuary Country Park (Stanah Picnic Site), Hawthorne Park and 
Vicarage Park have been awarded Green Flag status.  

10.4 PMI40 and SAI9/1 – Amount of Green Infrastructure lost to development 
(ha) 

10.4.1 There has been no loss of green infrastructure due to development in 2018-19. 

10.5 PMI41  - Amount of new green infrastructure (including public open 
space) provided through new development 

10.5.1 There has been no new green infrastructure provided through new development in 
2018-19. 

10.6 PMI42 & SAI3/4 - Number of open space sites above 80% quality score 

10.6.1 The Wyre Open Space Audit and Needs Assessment Evidence Base is an important 
part of the evidence base for the Wyre Green Infrastructure Strategy. It was first produced in 
2007, updated in 2010 and again in 2013 as part of the Wyre Green Infrastructure Strategy. 
It is recommended that the evidence base is updated every three to five years. This is an 
area that will need addressing in future monitoring years. 

Page 192



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

46 

10.7 PMI43 & SAI3/2 - Number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 10% most 
deprived for health deprivation 

10.7.1 From 2015 data, there were a total number of seven (7) wards with LSOAs in the 
bottom 10% most deprived for health deprivation.  

10.8 PMI44 - Number of Health Impact Assessments (HIA) 

10.8.1 There have been zero Health Impact Assessments. 

10.9 Life Expectancy  

10.9.1 At the age of 65, Wyre has some of the longest life expectancy averages in 
Lancashire for both men and women. Table 10.1 illustrates life expectancy averages for 
males and females against regional and national averages. 

TABLE 10.1 LIFE EXPECTANCY AT 65 YEARS, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY, 2014 – 2017 (PHE) 

 Wyre (%) Lancashire (%) North West (%) England and Wales 
(%) 

 Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female 

2014-2016 83.6 86.0 84.4 85.6 83.0 85.2 83.8 86.1 

2015-2017 78.9 82.4 78.6 82.2 78.2 81.8 79.6 81.8 

 

10.9.2 There are dramatic differences in life expectancy across the borough and these 
generally correlate with areas of high deprivation. Life expectancy across both male and 
females in Wyre has decreased, but it should be noted that this is the case nationally too.  
 
10.9.3 The 2011 census identified that 11.7% of the population in Wyre have their day to day 
activities restricted by some form of limiting long-term illness. This was the highest in the 
Lancashire and is higher than regional and national figures, as shown in table 10.2. 

TABLE 10.2: LIMITING LONG-TERM ILLNESS, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY, 2011 CENSUS 

Wyre (%) Lancashire (%) North West (%) England and Wales 
(%) 

11.7 9.8 10.3 8.5 

 

10.10 SAI3/1 - Percentage of resident population who consider themselves to 
be in good health  

10.10.1 The 2011 census identified that 43.2% of people in Wyre rated their health as 'very 
good’ which is lower than regional and national figures, as shown in table 10.3. At the other 
end of the scale, 7.2% of people reported their health as 'bad' or 'very bad', one of the worst 
rates in the Lancashire. Where identified, Wyre residents reported that stress has one of the 
biggest negative impacts in terms of their health and wellbeing, followed by lack of physical 
activity and money. 

10.10.2 76.8% of residents in Wyre consider themselves to be in at least good health. 

TABLE 10.3: SELF-REPORTED HEALTH, REGIONALLY AND NATIONALLY, 2011 CENSUS 

 Very good 
(%) 

Good 
(%) 

Fair (%) Bad (%) Very bad (%) 

Wyre 43.2 33.6 16 5.5 1.7 

Lancashire  45.9 33.7 14.1 4.9 1.4 

Page 193



  

 Wyre Council 
 

47 

 Very good 
(%) 

Good 
(%) 

Fair (%) Bad (%) Very bad (%) 

North West 46.5 32.8 13.9 5.3 1.5 

England and Wales 47.1 34.1 13.2 4.3 1.3 

 

10.11 Indicator Analysis 

10.11.1 Table 10.4 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where 
possible, comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the 
council. 

Table 10.4: Green Infrastructure and Health (Objective 9) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP1 
SP2 
SP7 
SP8 

 
CDMP3 
CDMP4 
CDMP6 

 
HP9 

PMI 38  
SAI 5/3  

Length of total and new dedicated public 
rights of way (PROW) 

Increase 
Approx. 1055 
Over 400km’s 

n/a 

PMI 39  
SAI 9/2 

Number of total and new green flag 
status parks 

Increase 4 
n/a 

PMI 40  
SAI 9/1 

Amount of Green Infrastructure lost to 
development (ha) 

No loss (ha) None (0) 
 

PMI 41 Amount of new green infrastructure 
(including public open space) provided 
through new development 
a)on site 
b)off-site contributions through CIL 
and/or S106 agreements 

Monitor 
provision/contrib

utions 

a)None (0) 
b)Unknown 

n/a 

PMI 42 
SAI 3/4 

Number of open space sites above 80% 
quality score 

Increase Data not available 
n/a 

PMI 43 
SAI 3/2 

Number of wards with LSOAs in the 
bottom 10% most deprived for health 
deprivation 

Decrease 7 
n/a 

PMI 44 Number of Health Impact Assessments 
(HIA) 

Monitor take up None (0) 
n/a 

SAI 3/1 Percentage of resident population who 
consider themselves to be in good health 

Increase 76.6% 
 

 

10.12 Policy Conclusions 

10.12.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP, CDMP and HP) are performing in terms of the green infrastructure and 
health. Policies should be reviewed comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set 
and policies have been implemented for a minimum of one year. 

10.12.2 There has been no green infrastructure lost to new development and the percentage 
of resident population that considers themselves to be in good health is higher than regional 
figures. This is essential in achieving a healthy environment where people have access to 
high quality green infrastructure. 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

48 

11 Climate Change (Objective 10) 

11.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 10 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully monitors the performance of policies SP2, CDMP1, 
CDMP6 and EP12. These are monitored using the following Performance Monitoring 
Indicators (PMI); PMI45, PMI46 and PMI47. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also 
used where appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be 
viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C.  

Objective 10 states: 

‘To respond to the challenge of climate change encouraging best use of resources and 
assets minimising wastage and ensuring the Borough adapts to climate change.’ 

11.2 PMI45 - Per capita amount of C02 emissions in the LA area 

11.2.1 In responding to climate change, there is a need to understand and adapt to the 
impacts this change is likely to have on the environment and to seek ways in which carbon 
emissions can be reduced. Ensuring that adaptation and mitigation measures do not 
adversely affect natural beauty and maximising opportunities to improve environmental 
resilience, such as improving habitat condition and enhancing connectivity, are a priority. 

11.2.2 Table 11.1 illustrates that the largest estimated source of carbon emissions in Wyre in 
2016 and 2017, was the transport sector. Per capita, carbon emissions are similar to the rest 
of Lancashire and have decreased on the previous year. 

Table 11.1: Carbon Emissions Estimates at Local, Regional and National Level, 2016-2017 
(BEIS) 

  Year Industry and 
Commercial 

Total (kt) 

Domestic 
Total (kt) 

Transport 
Total (kt) 

Land Use 
Change 

and 
Forestry 

(kt) 

Total (kt)* Per Capita 
(t) 

Wyre 2016 222 189 226 22 659 6 

2017 215 176 221 22 639 5.7 

Change (%) -3 -7 -2 -1 -3 -5 

Lancashire-12 2016 2,692 2,020 2,652 79 7,443 6.2 

2017 2,599 1,946 2,599 77 7,221 6 

Change (%) -3 -4 -2 -3 -3 -3 

North West 2016 15,032 11,512 13,969 -188 40,595 5.6 

2017 14,879 10,978 13,741 -199 39,399 5.4 

Change (%) -1 -5 -2 6 -3 -4 

England 2016 107,987 85,675 106,968 -4944 295,686 5.4 

2017 102,047 80,782 107,178 -5086 284,921 5.1 

Change (%) -6 -6 0 3 -4 -6 

 

Page 195



  

 Wyre Council 
 

49 

11.3 PMI46 – New renewable energy installations, by type (Feed in tariff in 
Mega Watts) 

11.3.1 Table 11.2 illustrates there were 19 feed in tariff domestic installations in Wyre during 
the year 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019. This equated to approximately 0.139MW. This is a 
small decrease overall when compared to the previous year where there was a total installed 
capacity of 0.309MW. 

11.3.2 Although there were three less domestic photovoltaic installations than the previous 
year (22), the capacity has seen a small increase in capacity from approximately 0.099MW to 
0.139MW. 

11.3.3 There have been no new commercial, industrial or community renewable energy 
installations.  

Table 11.2: Feed in Tariff Installations in Wyre, 2018-2019 (OFGEM) 

Technology Photovoltaic Wind Total 
Installations 

Total Capacity 
(MW) 

Installations Capacity (MW) Installations Capacity (MW) 

Domestic 19 0.139 0 0 19 0.139 

Commercial 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Industrial 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Community 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 19 0.139 0 0 19 0.139 

 

11.4 PMI47 & SAI12/3 – Number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) 

11.4.1 As at 31 March 2019, Wyre had 13 charge points publicly available.  

11.4.2 Lancashire county council (LCC) is looking to work in a partnership with a BP 
Chargemaster to provide several locations where drivers of electric vehicles can charge 
when they are in the Lancashire Area.  

11.4.3 LCC is installing two different types of charging units. These include 50kWh rapid 
charging points which allow most vehicles to take full charge in less than an hour and 7kWh 
charge points that are more suited to dwell times of 2 hours or longer. The mix of these units 
is dependent upon location, power supply and demand.  

11.4.4 Proposed locations where LCC intend to introduce charging stations across Wyre 
include; 

 Blackpool Old Road, Poulton-le-Fylde (to be introduced June 2019) 

 North Albert Street, Fleetwood (to be introduced June 2019) 

 Victoria Road West, Cleveleys (to be introduced May 2019) 

11.4.5 Wyre will be looking to implement more EVCP’s in the near future. 

 

Page 196



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

50 

11.5 SAI12/1 – Local rail patronage 

11.5.1 Wyre remains to have one operating train station – Poulton-le-Fylde. The train station 
is an integral part of the community which acts as a direct link between the West Coast 
Mainline at Preston, through to Blackpool. In the period 2017 to 2018, Poulton-le-Fylde 
station saw a total of 423,230 passengers. This is however a 23% decline on the previous 
year where there was a total of 550,292 passengers. 

11.5.2 The significant fall in passenger numbers could have been due to the electrification of 
the rail patronage between Preston and Kirkham & Wesham. The Blackpool North to 
Kirkham section was closed for nearly 4 months between November 2017 and March 2018 – 
this could have had a significant effect on rail usage during January, February and March 
2018. Changes in services/timetables could also be a reason for the decline. 

11.6 SAI12/2 – Indicators used to monitor the implementation of the Local 
Transport Plan 

11.6.1 Indicators currently being used to monitor the implementation of the local transport 
plan that relate to climate change are not applicable. New monitors may be introduced with 
the review of the Local transport plan, and so if then applicable, these indicators may be 
introduced.  

11.7 Indicator Analysis 

11.7.1 Table 11.3 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where 
possible, comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the 
council. 

Table 11.3: Climate Change (Objective 10) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP2 
 

CDMP1 
CDMP6 

 
EP12 

PMI 45 Per capita amount of C02 emissions in 
the LA area 

 
<6.1(t) 

 
2017 = 5.7(t) 

 

PMI 46 New renewable energy installations, by 
type (Feed in tariff in Mega Watts) 

2017/18 = 
Installations = 22 

Capacity 
=0.099MW 

Installations = 19 
Capacity 

=0.139MW 

 

PMI 47 
SAI 12/3 

Number of Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points (EVCP) 

Increase 13 
 

SAI 12/1 Local rail patronage 
 

550,292 423,230 
 

SAI 12/2 Indicators used to monitor the 
implementation of the Local Transport 
Plan 

To be developed n/a 
n/a 

 

11.8 Policy Conclusions 

11.8.1 As is evident from the climate change chapter, through the implementation of 
indicators, the policies (SP, CDMP and EP) are overall performing successfully and meeting 
the objectives set out 

11.8.2 In the 2017-18 AMR reference to The ‘Renewable Energy Target Setting and Policy 
Development’ study produced by SQW revealed that Wyre has a potential renewable energy 
capacity of 1227MW by 2030 (1,155MW by 2020), which equates to 11% of the total capacity 
identified for Lancashire. The study further identifies commercial scale wind is likely to 

Page 197



  

 Wyre Council 
 

51 

provide a significant proportion of the renewable energy deployment across Wyre – although 
for this monitoring year that has been no commercial take up.  

11.8.3  It is evident that Wyre as an authority is progressing in terms of reducing climate 
change. C02 emissions in the local authority area have decreasing, whilst there has been a 
large emphasis put upon the introduction of electric vehicle charging points. Although there 
has been less renewable energy installations, the domestic capacity has seen a slight 
increase. Although rail usage has decreased, it was likely to have been due to the 
engineering and so it is expected to increase in future years. 

Page 198



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

52 

12 Environmental Impact (Objective 11) 

12.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 11 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, SP4, 
SP7, CDMP1, CDMP2 and CDMP4. These are monitored using the following Performance 
Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI48, PMI49, PMI50, PMI51, PMI52, PMI53, PMI54, PMI55, 
PMI56 and PMI57. Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. 
The Local Plan policies can be viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B 
and SAI’s in Appendix C. 

Objective 11 states: 

‘To minimise environmental impact including flood risk and pollution and where necessary 
ensure appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures.’ 

12.2 PMI48 & SAI11/2 – Number of planning permissions granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice in areas at risk from flooding 

12.2.1 With much of Wyre relatively low-lying, coastal and riparian land, the risk of coastal 
and river flooding is considerable, with much of the coastal area to the west and north of the 
borough and land around the River Wyre classified as Flood Zone 3 by the Environment 
Agency (EA) as shown in Figure 12.1 below. 

 

12.2.2 In the year 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, there were initially 48 planning applications 
objected by the EA. 47 were objected due to the developments being at risk of flooding or 
would increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. 

Figure 12.1: EA Designated Flood Zone 2 & 3 in Wyre (EA) 

Page 199



  

 Wyre Council 
 

53 

12.2.3 Of the 46 initially objected, 25 of these objections were withdrawn based on revised 
submissions and/or conditions imposed.12 of which were withdrawn by the applicant. 10 
were refused.  

12.2.4 There were zero new planning permissions granted contrary to Environment Agency 
advice in areas at risk from flooding. At the time of writing, 12 decisions were still pending 
decision/consideration. 

12.3 PMI49 – Number of planning permissions granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice on water quality grounds 

12.3.1 In the year 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, there were initially 48 planning applications 
objected by the EA. 1 was objected on the grounds that the development would adversely 
affect water quality. However, the original objection was withdrawn based on revised 
submission and/or conditions imposed.  

12.3.2 There have been zero new planning permissions granted contrary to Environment 
Agency advice on water quality grounds.   

12.4 PMI50 – Upgrading of flood defences to 1 in 200 year standard 

12.4.1 The upgrading of flood defences located from Rossall Hospital to Fleetwood Golf 
Course were completed June 2018. The anticipated completion for this scheme was 2018.  

12.4.2 There has been no progress in upgrading of the flood defences located at Fleetwood 
Docks to Hillhouse. The site is within the future capital programme and will be monitored 
accordingly. Wyre will be working in partnership with the Environment Agency and 
Associated British Ports. The anticipated completion for this scheme is 2021. This scheme is 
yet to commence. 

12.4.3 Flood defences located at Hillhouse to Stannah are yet to be upgraded. The site is not 
within the future capital programme but circumstantial changes could occur and so will be 
monitored accordingly. The anticipated completion for this scheme is 2021. Therefore, this 
scheme is yet to commence. 

12.5 PMI51 – Number of planning permissions incorporating Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

12.5.1 This data is not available for this monitoring period. 

12.6 PMI52 – Inappropriate development in the Coastal Change Management 
Area (CCMA) 

12.6.1 There has been zero (0) inappropriate development in the CCMA.  

12.7 PMI53 – Number, type and amount of financial contributions through CIL 
and/or S106 towards flood prevention 

12.7.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new charge that local authorities have 
the power to levy on most types of development to fund infrastructure required to support 
new growth such as transport, education, health and open space facilities. CIL chargers are 
based on the size and types of development proposed and are calculated as a charge per 
square metre.  

12.7.2 Wyre council does not at present have an adopted CIL Charging Schedule.  Therefore 
there are currently no financial contributions through CIL within Wyre. 

Page 200



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

54 

12.7.3  As part of the consideration of a planning application, section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 enables local authorities to negotiate with developers certain 
works, restrictions, or contributions towards a range of infrastructure and services, such as 
community facilities, public open space, transport improvements and/or affordable housing 

12.7.4 There were no financial contributions during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
This totalled £0 through CIL and/or S106 towards flood prevention.  

12.8 PMI54, SAI13/1 & SAI13/2 – Measure air pollutants within Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMA) 

12.8.1 Wyre has one Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), which was introduced in 2009. 
This is an area encompassing Chapel Street, in Poulton-le-Fylde, along with the junctions 
with Higher Green/Queens Square, and Breck Road/Vicarage Road/Ball Street.  

12.8.2 The pollutant measured within this AQMA is Nitrogen dioxide (N02) with an air quality 
objective of 40µg/m3 (measured as annual mean).  

12.8.3 The 2018 data is encouraging as the highest recorded value was 32.48ug/m3 – in 
exceedance of the national objective in 2012. This is an indication that the Air Quality Action 
Plan 2011 is providing positive impact.   

12.9 PMI55 – Number of total and new AQMAs designated in the Borough 

12.9.1 There have been no new AQMAs designated in the borough. Therefore, there 
remains to have one AQMA designated. 

12.10 PMI56 & SAI11/3 – Bathing water quality 

12.10.1 The Environment Agency takes up to twenty water samples at each of England’s 
designated bathing waters during the bathing water season between May and September 
each year. A classification for each bathing water is calculated annually based on samples 
from the previous four years. These classifications are, from best to worst: 

 Excellent – the highest cleanest seas 
 Good – generally good water quality  
 Sufficient – the water meets minimum standards 
 Poor – the water has not met the minimum standards. Work is planned to improve 

bathing waters not yet reaching Sufficient.  
 

12.10.2 In Wyre, there are two designated bathing waters; Cleveleys and Fleetwood. Table 
12.1 illustrates the latest bathing water quality compared to the previous year. 

Table 12.1: Bathing Water Quality in Wyre, 2017-2018 (EA) 

 

 

 

12.11 PMI57 – Number of planning permissions granted contrary to HSE advice 

12.11.1 There have been zero (o) new planning permissions granted contrary to HSE advice. 

Designated Bathing Water 2017 Classification 2018 Classification 

Cleveleys Good Good 

Fleetwood Good Good 

Page 201



  

 Wyre Council 
 

55 

12.12 SAI11/1 – Rivers reaching Good Ecological Status (GES) 

12.12.1 Since 2009, standards of river water have been measured according to standards 
set in the Water Framework Directive (WFD). The quality of river water is important for 
aquatic life. Unlike bathing water quality, which has direct health implications for humans, 
river water quality is less critical for most residents of Lancashire.  

12.12.2 Ecological Status is classified in all Water Bodies, expressed in terms of five classes 
(high, good, moderate, poor and bad). These classes are established on the basis of specific 
criteria and boundaries defined against biological, physico-chemical and hydromorphological 
elements.  

12.12.3 Biological assessment – uses numeric measures of communities of plants and 
animals (for example, fish and rooted plants). Physico-chemical assessment – looks at 
elements such as temperature and the level of nutrients, which support the biology. 
Hydromorphological quality looks at water flow, sediment composition and movement, 
continuity (in rivers) and the structure of physical habitat.  

12.12.4 The Environment Agency is aiming to achieve ‘good status’ in at least 60% of waters 
by 2021 and in as many waters as possible by 2027.  

12.12.5 In 2016, Wyre had 18% of rivers reached good status. 59% reached moderate 
status. 76% reached good/moderate status. 2016 results can be seen in table 12.2.  

Table 12.2: Rivers reaching Good Ecological Status in Wyre Operational Catchments, 2016 (EA) 

Operational 
Catchment 

River/Watercourse  Ecological 
Status* 

Chemical 
Status 

Overall Status 

Brook and Trib 
  
  
  

Barton (Westfield) Brook Poor Good Poor 

Brock Good Good Good 

New Draught Brook Poor Good Poor 

Woodplumpton Brook Poor Good Poor 

Fleetwood 
Peninsula Trib 

  
  
  

Hillylaid Pool - Main Dyke Moderate Good Moderate 

Hillylaid Pool - Tidal Wyre Moderate Good Moderate 

Lords Brook Poor Good Poor 

Thistleton Brook Moderate Good Moderate 

Wyre and 
Calder 

  
  
  
  
  

Calder (Wyre) Moderate Good Moderate 

Marshaw Wyre Good Good Good 

Tarnbrook Wyre Moderate Good Moderate 

Wyre - conf R Brock to tidal Moderate Good Moderate 

Wyre - Upper Good Good Good 

Wyre DS Grizedale Brook confl Moderate Good Moderate 

Lune Cocker Lune Moderate Good Moderate 

Pilling Water Moderate Good Moderate 

Ridgy Pool Moderate Good Moderate 
*Ecological status takes into consideration biological quality elements, hydromorphological elements, physico-chemical 
elements and specific pollutants. 

12.13 Indicator Analysis 

12.13.1 Table 12.3 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where 
possible, comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the 
council. 

Page 202



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

56 

Table 12.3: Environmental Impact (Objective 11) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 Output Performance 

SP1 
SP2 
SP4 
SP7 

 
CDMP1 
CDMP2 
CDMP4 

  

PMI 48 
SAI 11/2 

Number of planning permissions granted 
contrary to Environment Agency advice 
in areas at risk from flooding 

None (0) None (0)  

PMI 49 Number of planning permissions granted 
contrary to Environment Agency advice 
on water quality grounds 

None (0) None (0)  

PMI 50 Upgrading of flood defences to 1 in 200 
year standard 
1) Rossall hospital to Fleetwood Golf 
Course 
2) Fleetwood Docks to Hillhouse 
3) Hillhouse to Stannah 

Anticipated 
completion date  

1)2018 
2)2021 
3)2021 

 
 

1)2018 
2)Yet to 

commence 
3)Yet to 

commence 

 

PMI 51 Number of planning permissions 
incorporating Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) 

Monitor 
improvement 

Data not available n/a 

PMI 52 Inappropriate development in the 
Coastal Change Management Area 
(CCMA) 
a) completed annually  
b)with extant planning permission 

Monitor take up a)None (0) 
b)None (0) 

 

PMI 53 Number, type and amount of financial 
contributions through CIL and/or S106 
towards flood prevention 

Monitor 
contributions 

£0 n/a 

PMI 54 
SAI 13/1 
SAI 13/2 

Measure air pollutants within Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMA) 

<40 ug/m3 32.48ug/m3  

PMI 55 Number of total and new AQMAs 
designated in the Borough 

Monitor change Remains 1 AQMA 
No new (0) 

 

PMI 56 
SAI 11/3 

Bathing water quality 2017 = good 2018 = good  

PMI 57 Number of planning permissions granted 
contrary to HSE advice 

None (0) None (0)  

SAI 11/1 Rivers reaching Good Ecological Status 
(GES) 

60% of Rivers to 
be Improve to 

'Good' status by 
2021 

Good = 21%  

 

12.14 Policy Conclusions 

12.14.1 As is evident from the environmental impact chapter, through the implementation of 
indicators, the policies (SP and CDMP) are overall performing successfully and meeting the 
objectives set out.  

12.14.2 The borough has a rich resource of environmental assets which provide significant 
economic, social and environmental benefits. It is important that growth proposed in the 
Local Plan does not adversely impact on the quality of the existing assets.  

12.14.3 Bathing water quality remains good and there has been no development granted 
contrary to the advice from the Environment Agency on flood risk or water quality grounds, 
satisfying the policy objectives. 

 

Page 203



  

 Wyre Council 
 

57 

13 Society (Objective 12) 

13.1 Introduction 

This chapter provides an accurate indication that objective 12 of the Local Plan is being 
implemented correctly and successfully and monitors the performance of policies SP1, SP2, 
CDMP1, CDMP3 and CDMP6. These are monitored using the following Performance 
Monitoring Indicators (PMI); PMI58, PMI59, PMI60, PMI61 and PMI62. Sustainability 
Appraisal Indicators (SAI) are also used where appropriate. The Local Plan policies can be 
viewed in Appendix A, PMI’s can be viewed in Appendix B and SAI’s in Appendix C.  

Objective 12 states: 

“To provide the basis to work with partners and stakeholders to make Wyre an attractive 
place to live, work, do business and visit as an integral part of the Fylde Coast sub-region.” 

13.2 PMI58 & SAI1/1 - Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs in the 
bottom 10% most deprived for crime deprivation 

13.2.1 From 2015 data, there were a total number of three (3) wards with LSOAs in the 
bottom 10% most deprived for crime deprivation. The wards, as per the 2011 ward 
boundaries included; Mount, Pharos and Rossall. 

13.3 PMI59 & SAI5/1 - Number of LSOAs in the bottom 10% most deprived for 
barriers to housing and services provision deprivation 

13.3.1 From 2015 data, there were zero (0) LSOAs in the bottom 10% most deprived for 
barriers to housing and services provision deprivation. 

13.4 PMI60 & SAI4/4- Number and location of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% nationally for Living Environment deprivation 

13.4.1 From 2015 data, there were a total of three (3) wards with LSOAs in the bottom 10% 
nationally for living environment deprivation. The wards, as per the 2011 ward boundaries 
included; Pharos, Rossall and Tithebarn. 

13.5 PMI61 & SAI6/4 - Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% most 
deprived for income deprivation 

13.5.1 From 2015 data, there were six (6) wards in the bottom 10% most deprived for income 
deprivation.  

13.6 PMI62 & SA1/2 - Crime rates per 1,000 of the population for key offences 

13.6.1 Table 13.1 contains data showing recorded crime rates for seven key offences in 
Wyre during the year 2017 compared to 2018. 

TABLE 13.1: RECORDED CRIME FOR KEY OFFENCE IN WYRE, DECEMBER 2017 - DECEMBER 2018 (ONS)6 

Incident Recorded 
Jan-Dec 

2017 

Recorded 
Jan-Dec 

2018 

Per 1,000 population 
(mid-2018) 

% Change  

Violence against the person 1,911 3,561 32.0 86 

Sexual offences 220 254 2.3 15 

Robbery 31 24 0.2 -23 

                                                
6 Previous data has been discontinued by ONS and so this has enforced a methodology change in data comparison for this 
AMR. 

Page 204



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

58 

Incident Recorded 
Jan-Dec 

2017 

Recorded 
Jan-Dec 

2018 

Per 1,000 population 
(mid-2018) 

% Change  

Theft Offences 2,072 2,102 18.9 1 

Criminal damage and arson 907 696 6.3 -23 

Other crimes against society 424 839 7.5 98 

Vehicle offences 608 923 8.3 52 

Total recorded crime - excluding fraud 6,173 8,399 75.5 36 

 
13.6.2 As can be seen, total recorded crime has increased significantly from the previous 
year. Notable increases in violence against the person and other crimes against society 
which include weapon possession and public order offences.  

 

13.7 Indicators Analysis 

13.7.1 Table 13.2 illustrates how local plan policies perform against indicators, where 
possible, comparing data from the previous year and where targets have been set out by the 
council.  

Table 12.2: Society (Objective 12) Indicator Performance Analysis 

Policies Indicator Description Comparator / 
Target 

2018/19 
Output 

Performance 

SP1 
SP2 

 
CDMP1 
CDMP3 
CDMP6 

PMI 58 
SAI 1/1 

Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs in 
the bottom 10% most deprived for crime 
deprivation 

Decrease 3 n/a 

PMI 59  
SAI 5/1 

Number of LSOAs in the bottom 10% most 
deprived for barriers to housing and services 
provision deprivation 

Decrease None (0)  

PMI 60  
SAI 4/4 

Number and location of wards with LSOAs in the 
bottom 10% nationally for Living Environment 
deprivation 

Decrease 3 n/a 

PMI 61  
SAI 6/4 

Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% 
most deprived for income deprivation 

Decrease 6 n/a 

PMI 62 
SAI 1/2 

Crime rates per 1,000 of the population for key 
offences 

2017=6,173 2018=8,399  

 

13.8 Policy Conclusions 

13.8.1 At this moment in time, it is not evident (due to a lack of baseline data) as to whether 
the policies (SP and CDMP) are performing within society. Policies should be reviewed 
comprehensively in future AMRs when a baseline is set and policies have been implemented 
for a minimum of one year. 

13.8.2 It can be established that crime rates in Wyre have significantly exceeded the 
previous year. A 36% increase is concerning, however, it must be noted that there has been 
a change in data collection due to previous data no longer being available. This data is 
concerning as it could have significant negative effects on residents and businesses too. 

13.8.3 Wyre remains to be an integral part of the Fylde Coast sub-region, and will continue to 
remain an attractive place to live and work due to the low number of wards in the lowest 10% 
for deprivation. 

 

 

Page 205



  

 Wyre Council 
 

59 

14 Progress against the Local Development Scheme (LDS) 

 

14.1.1 Government legislation and guidance sets out the procedure for the statutory stages 
that councils should follow and undertake when preparing and reviewing their adopted 
development plan documents. The legislation does not include specifics on how councils 
should carry out the early stages of the preparation and consultation. The council sets out 
how it intends to consult in its Statement of Community Involvement. 

14.1.2 Amendments to that legislation, including the publication of the Town and Country 
(Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017, set out that Councils must 
review certain documents within a five year period from adoption. This monitoring report and 
subsequent reports could therefore act as substantial triggers for some of those reviews. 

14.1.3 On the 28 February 2019 Wyre Council adopted the Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031. 
Wyre’s new local plan sets out a vision for growth and development of the entire borough to 
2031, including where new homes, employment and shops will be located as well as which 
areas will be protected. The adopted Local Plan includes Policy LPR1 which commits the 
council to commence in 2019 an immediate partial review to address the shortfall in meeting 
the housing objectively assessed need identified in the Plan. Policy requires an update of 
housing need and a review of transport and highways issues. 

14.1.4 Following the adoption of the local plan, the current Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) is considered to have expired. The council will prepare a revised LDS in 2019-2020 
which will set out the programmes for review of the adopted Local Plan. The revised LDS will 
set out the scope and timetable for the review of the Local Plan. 

14.1.5 The council will also review its Statement Community Involvement (SCI) in 2019-
2020. 

 

 

Page 206



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

60 

15 Progress against the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 

 

15.1.1 The IDP is a supporting document to the Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031. The IDP sets 
out what level of new or improved infrastructure will be required to deliver the growth 
proposed in the Wyre Local Plan. 

15.1.2 An important part of creating sustainable communities is ensuring that the necessary 
supporting infrastructure is provided. The IDP identifies physical, social and environmental 
infrastructure. 

15.1.3 Physical infrastructure includes, transport, utilities, electricity, gas, water, waste water 
and drainage and telecommunications. Social infrastructure includes, health, educational 
facilities, emergency services, cemeteries, libraries and community facilities. Environmental 
infrastructure includes, green infrastructure, sport, open space and recreating, flood defence 
attenuation and waste management and minerals production. 

15.1.4 In terms of the IDP content, it is not appropriate to include every scheme or project 
planned by every infrastructure provider or service operator in the Borough. For this reason 
Table 15.1 illustrates an update on the IDP for infrastructure that has been categorised as 
critical.  

Table 15.1: IDP update on critical projects 

Infrastructure 
Category 

Project Comment / Position 

Transport 

Transport Skippool to windy harbour junction 
improvements (Bypass) 

On schedule  
Highways England 

Transport Victoria road junction improvements No change. Only due post 2025. 
Highways England 

Transport Norcross Road/Fleetwood Road junction 
improvements 

Underway. Highways England 

Transport Thistleton Road/Mile Road junction 
improvements 

No change. Only due post 2025. 
Highways England 

Transport M55 junction 3 improvements Underway. Highways England 

Transport A6 Barton to Garstang Sustainable Transport 
Strategy 

Ongoing – aligned with 
development coming forward 

Transport Wider Improvement of A6 Preston Lancaster 
New Road/Croston Barn Road/Green Lane 
West/B5272 Cockerham Road/Croston Road 
Signalised Junction 

Ongoing – Part of A6 Strategy 

Transport Improvement of Moss Lane/Longmoor Lane 
Priority Junction 

Part of A6 Strategy 

Transport Improvement of A6/A586, 'The Avenue' 
priority junction 

Part of A6 Strategy 

Transport A6/M55 Jct. 1, Westbound off Slip 
Improvement. Additional lane on westbound 
off slip 

Part of A6 Strategy 

Transport A6/M55Jct. 1, Eastbound off Slip 
Improvement. Additional lane on eastbound 
off slip 

Part of A6 Strategy 

Page 207



  

 Wyre Council 
 

61 

Transport Improvements to Hardhorn Road with 
Highcross Road/Beech Drive junction 

Part of the Poulton Mitigation 
Strategy 

Transport Improvements to Hardhorn Road/Garstang 
Road East 

Part of the Poulton Mitigation 
Strategy 

Transport Improvements to Garstang Road East and 
junction with Lower Green 

Part of the Poulton Mitigation 
Strategy 

Transport Traffic management measures, sustainability 
town centre car park and town centre changes 
in Poulton-le-Fylde 

Part of the Poulton Mitigation 
Strategy 

Transport Access road to residential allocation in 
Thornton 

Requirement of SA1/2 
Masterplan 

Education 

Education Additional primary school places in Thornton – 
new school 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process / 
Masterplan process 

Education Additional primary school places in Poulton – 
new school 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process / 
Masterplan process 

Education Additional primary school places in 
Hambleton/Stalmine – new school/extension 
to existing school (as required) 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process 

Education Additional primary school places in Great 
Eccleston – new school 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process / 
Masterplan process 

Education Additional primary school places in Inskip – 
extension to existing school 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process  

Education Additional primary school places in Forton - 
Extension to existing school 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process / 
Masterplan process 

Education Additional primary school places in Garstang – 
new school 

School places to be considered 
as part of the planning process / 
Masterplan process 

Education Additional secondary school places - expansion 
of existing schools 

School places to be considered 
through the planning process as 
advised by Lancashire County 
Council Education 

Healthcare 

Healthcare Expansion to GP practices in Thornton and/or 
Poulton as necessary 

Contributions paid to CCG as 
appropriate 

Healthcare Relocation of Great Eccleston GP surgery To be considered as part of the 
planning process / Masterplan 
process 

Healthcare Expansion to GP practice in Garstang as 
necessary 

The priority for the CCG is to 
improve the Health Centre at 
Garstang 

Healthcare Establish GP branch surgery at Forton as 
necessary 

The priority for the CCG is to 
improve the Health Centre at 
Garstang 

Flood Risk Management 

Flood Risk 
Management 

Upgrade/replace with duckbill flap 
Horsebridge Dyke 

Works completed summer 2019 

Page 208



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

62 

Flood Risk 
Management 

Upgrade/replace with duckbill flap Main Dyke Not on current EA programme 

Flood Risk 
Management 

Install new top hung flap valve at Yoad Pool 
outfall 

Not on current EA programme 

Flood Risk 
Management 

Install new top hung flap valve at Wardleys 
Creek outfall 

Works complete, site will be 
reassessed when the Hambleton 
Tidal Scheme commences 

Flood Risk 
Management 

Construction of new outfall and installation of 
duckbill flap Ramper Pot 

Not on current EA programme 

Flood Risk 
Management 

Management and maintenance of local water 
courses (various locations) 

Environment Agency 

Community Facilities 

Community 
Facilities 

Neighbourhood Centre including 
community/village hall, Forton 

To be considered as part of the 
planning process / Masterplan 
process 

Community 
Facilities 

Local convenience stores (various locations) Retail Monitoring is currently 
under review 

Community 
Facilities 

Community/village hall, including small local 
convenience store, Great Eccleston 

To be considered as part of the 
planning process / Masterplan 
process 

 

15.1.5 With regards to those non critical infrastructure projects, and also categories including 
telecoms, energy, water and wastewater, emergency services and cemeteries – the council 
is considering methodology to be implemented in order to monitor the progress. This is due 
to these services coming forward by the relevant service provider as and when they are 
required. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 209



  

 Wyre Council 
 

63 

16 Duty to Co-operate 

 

16.1.1 The Localism Act (2011) imposes a duty on councils to co-operate with other councils 
and bodies on planning issues that cross administrative boundaries. Paragraph 25 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) outlines: 

“Strategic Policy-making authorities should collaborate to identify the relevant 
strategic matters which they need to address in their plans.” 

16.1.2 Those strategic priorities identified as requiring cross boundary cooperation include: 

 Housing (including affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and other 
commercial development. 

 Infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste management, water 
supply, wastewater, flood risk and coastal change management, and the provision of 
minerals and energy (including heat). 

 Community facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure) 

 Conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment, 
including landscapes and green infrastructure, and planning measures to address 
climate change mitigation and adaptation. 

16.1.3 NPPF Paragraph 27 states that: 

“In order to demonstrate effective and on-going joint working, strategic policy-making 
authorities should prepare and maintain one or more statements of common ground, 
documenting the cross boundary matters being addressed and progress in cooperating to 
address these.” 

16.1.4 The duty seeks to ensure that all of the bodies involved in planning and development 
work cohesively on issues that are bigger than local significance. 

16.1.5 Figure 16.1 illustrates neighbouring local authorities to Wyre. Other bodies most 
relevant to Wyre include: 

 Highways England; 

 Environment Agency; 

 English Heritage; 

 Natural England ; 

 Wyre and Fylde Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 Lancashire County Council as Local Highway Authority, Local Education Authority 
and Local Lead Flood Authority; 

 Marine Management Organisation. 

 

Page 210



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

64 

Figure 16.1 – Neighbouring Authorities to Wyre Council 

 

 

16.1.6 Local authorities are also required to have regard to Local Enterprise Partnerships 
and Local Nature Partnerships. Those of relevance to Wyre are: 

 Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnership; 

 Lancashire Local Nature Partnership; and 

 Morecambe Bay Local Nature Partnership. 

 

16.1.7 The Town and Country (Local Plan) (England) Regulations 2012 require the Duty to 
Cooperate to be monitored as part of the AMR. The council submitted a Statement of 
compliance with the Duty to cooperate as part of the Local Plan examination. The Local 
Inspector was satisfied that the council has met the legal requirement to co-operate. 

16.1.8 The Duty to cooperate is on-going and the council are engaged in ongoing 
collaborative working under Duty to Co-operate with adjoining local authorities and other 
bodies. In particular the council is engaging in duty to cooperate meeting in the following 
ways: 

16.1.9  The council are currently fulfilling the Duty to Cooperate in the following ways: 

 Under the Fylde Coast Memorandum of Understanding between Blackpool, Fylde 
and Wyre councils and Lancashire County Council, the council has continued to have 
regular meetings with Fylde and Blackpool councils and Lancashire County Council in 
relation to cross boundary matters. 

 Through the operation of various stakeholder and topic based working groups such 
as the Making Space for Water, Wyre Flood Forum and Forest of Bowland AONB 
Partnership Group. 

Page 211



  

 Wyre Council 
 

65 

 Officers from the council’s Planning Policy team attend meeting with LCC Highways 
and Education Authorities, the Fylde & Wyre CCG and Highways England as required 
to discuss strategic matters. 

 Council officers also attend the Lancashire Planning Policy Officers Group and 
Lancashire Economic Development Officer Group. The groups, are made up of 
representatives from each of the planning policy and economic development teams 
across Lancashire and the County Council and meet quarterly to discuss various 
strategic issues. 

 

 

Page 212



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

66 

17 Neighbourhood Planning 

 

17.1.1 Neighbourhood planning gives town and parish councils or newly formed 
neighbourhood forums the opportunity to prepare, with the community they represent, a 
planning document to shape the future of the places where they live and work. 
Neighbourhood planning allows communities to set planning policies through a 
neighbourhood development plan or grant planning permission through a neighbourhood 
development order. A neighbourhood plan cannot be used to prevent or stifle development.  

At the start of the neighbourhood planning process, the neighbourhood area which the 
community intend to produce a plan for has to be formally agreed. An adopted 
neighbourhood plan forms part of the authority’s development plan. 

17.1.2 The neighbourhood planning regulations set out the detailed process for the 
preparation of neighbourhood plans.  

17.1.3 As can be seen in Table 17.1, at 31st March 2019, there remains to be three approved 
neighbourhood plans in Wyre with no new neighbourhood areas in Wyre with no new plans 
submitted for the monitoring year 2018-19. None of the neighbourhood plans have yet 
proceeded to draft stage.  

Table 17.1: Neighbourhood plan statuses at 31st March 2019 

Neighbourhood Plan Neighbourhood area applicants Status 

Dolphinholme Neighbourhood 
Plan 

Nether Wyresdale and Ellel Parish 
Council 

Approved – 1 February 2017 

Barton Village Neighbourhood 
Area 

Barton and Myerscough and 
Bilsborrow Parish Council 

Approved – 8 September 2017 

Garstang Neighbourhood Plan Garstang Town Council Approved - 28 February 2018 

 

17.1.4 More information is available on the council’s website using the link below. 

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1084/neighbourhood_planning 

 

Page 213

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1098/dolphinholme_neighbourhood_plan
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1098/dolphinholme_neighbourhood_plan
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1140/barton_village_neighbourhood_plan
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1140/barton_village_neighbourhood_plan
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1205/garstang_neighbourhood_plan
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1084/neighbourhood_planning


  

 Wyre Council 
 

67 

18 Self-build and custom build housing 

 

18.1.1 The Government wants to enable more people to build their own home and Local 
Planning Authorities in England and Wales are required under the Self-build and Custom 
House building Act 2015 (c.17) to keep a register of individuals and associations of 
individuals seeking to acquire land to build a home. 

18.1.2 In keeping a register, Wyre Council is under no obligation to find or provide registered 
individuals with self-build or custom build plots. The register is not a public document and is 
treated as confidential. However, the council does publish headline data (i.e. location, type 
and/or demand) from the register. The council will use the register to inform policies in the 
review of the Local Plan.  

18.1.3 As can be seen in Table 18.1, at 31st March 2019, Wyre had four individuals 
registered. This is an increase of two from the previous monitoring year, 2017-2018. 

Table 18.1: Self-build Register at 31st March 2019 

Registered 
individual/associations 

Type of build Preferred area(s) Type of dwelling Bedrooms 

Individual (single plot)* Self-build one off home Barton, 
Myerscough or 
Garstang 

Detached with 
large garden 

5 

Individual (single plot) Self-build one off home, 

Kit or package home, or 

Developer built one-off 
home 

Fleetwood, 
Thornton, 
Cleveleys or 
Poulton-le-Fylde 

Detached with 
small garden 

4 

Individual (single plot), or 

Plot on a larger scheme  

Self-build one off home, 
or 

Kit or package home 

Barton, 

Bilsborrow, 

Garstang, 

Great Eccleston, 

Hambleton, 

Knott End, 

Myerscough, 

Out Rawcliffe, 

Piling, 

Poulton-le-Fylde, 

Preesall, 

Scorton, 

St Michaels or  

Stalmine 

Detached or 
Bungalow with 
large garden 

4 

Individual (single plot) Contractor built one-off 
home 
Developer built one-off 
home 

 

Forton Detached with 
small garden or 
balcony 

3 or 4 

*Please note, the applicant is not seeking the average size building plot but a smallholding to keep animals. 

18.1.4 At 31st March 2019, there was extant planning permission for 89 new build dwellings 
on single dwelling plots. 

Page 214



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

68 

18.1.5 Please note that approvals for conversions, changes of use, mobile/park homes, 
blocks of flats and sheltered housing units (where known) were excluded from the figures, as 
were any dwellings which were already under construction. 

18.1.6 Further information is available on the Councils website using the link below. 

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1012/self-
build_and_custom_build_housing 

 

 

Page 215

http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1012/self-build_and_custom_build_housing
http://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1012/self-build_and_custom_build_housing


  

 Wyre Council 
 

69 

19 Brownfield Register 

 

19.1.1 The government wants to maximise the number of new homes built on brownfield 
(previously developed) land and has therefore made a commitment to introduce local 
brownfield registers through the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) 
Regulations 2017. 

19.1.2 The councils register (provided in a standard format set nationally) provides publicly 
available information on brownfield sites that are suitable for housing. The council has used 
its latest Housing Land Monitoring Report and the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) which included a ‘Call for sites’ exercise to identify potential residential 
sites on brownfield land in the borough. 

There are 28 sites on the register, covering 748 dwellings. The register is available using the 
link below. 

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1194/brownfield_land_register  

19.1.3 A Map of the brownfield sites included on the register can also be viewed on an 
interactive map available using the link below. 

https://wyre.maps.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?webmap=4c83fbb760684f3a9985c
3932e913fde 

19.1.4 The sites that have been identified are considered to be suitable, available, 
achievable and potentially capable of supporting more than five dwellings.  

 

Page 216

https://www.wyre.gov.uk/info/200317/planning_policy/1194/brownfield_land_register
https://wyre.maps.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?webmap=4c83fbb760684f3a9985c3932e913fde
https://wyre.maps.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?webmap=4c83fbb760684f3a9985c3932e913fde


Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-2019 
   

70 

Appendix A: Schedule of Local Plan Policies 

Strategic Policies (SP) 
 
SP1 – Development Strategy 
SP2 – Sustainable Development 
SP3 – Green Belt 
SP4 – Countryside Areas 
SP5 – Forest of Bowland AONB 
SP6 – Viability 
SP7 – Infrastructure provision & Developer contributions 
SP8 – Health and wellbeing  
 

Core Development Management Policies (CDMP) 
 
CDMP1 – Environmental protection 
CDMP2 – Flood Risk and Surface water management  
CDMP3 – Design 
CDMP4 – Environmental Assets 
CDMP5 – Historic Environment 
CDMP6 – Accessibility and Transport 
 

Housing Policies (HP) 
 
HP1 – Housing Land Supply 
HP2 – Housing Mix 
HP3 – Affordable Housing 
HP4 – Rural Exceptions 
HP5 – Residential Curtilages 
HP6 – Replacement dwellings in the countryside  
HP7 – Rural workers accommodation in the countryside 
HP8 – Accommodation for Gypsy, travellers and travelling show people  
HP9 – Green Infrastructure in new residential developments 
HP10 – Houses in multiple occupation  
 

Economy Policies (EP) 
 
EP1 – Employment Land Supply 
EP2 – Existing Employment Areas 
EP3 – Existing Employment sites  
EP4 – Town, District, Local and Neighbourhood centres 
EP5 – Main Town Centre uses 
EP6 – Development in defined primary and secondary frontages 
EP7 – Local convenience stores 
EP8 – Rural Economy  
EP9 – Holiday accommodation  
EP10 – Equestrian Development 
EP11 – Protection of community facilities 
EP12 – Renewable Energy  
EP13 – Telecommunications  
EP14 – Outdoor advertisements and directional signs  
EP15 – Security Shutters

Page 217



 

71 
 

Appendix B: Schedule of Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMIs)  

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

Objective 1 

PMI1 
Available employment land, by 
area (ha) 

No target, monitor availability 1 
  

1 

PMI2 

Amount of gross employment 
land (Ha) and net floorspace 
(smq) developed, by type: 
a) on allocated employment 
sites (including mix use) 
b) in existing employment areas 
c) Hillhouse Technology 
Enterprise Zone 
d) other   

43 hectares 1, 2 
  

1, 2, 3, 8 

PMI3 

Amount of gross employment 
land (Ha) and net floorspace 
(sqm) with extant planning 
permission, by type: 
a) on allocated employment 
sites (including mix use) 
b) in existing employment areas 
c) Hillhouse Technology 
Enterprise Zone 
d) other   

To meet requirements  1, 2 
  

1,2, 3, 8 

PMI4 

Amount of gross employment 
land (Ha) and net floorspace 
(sqm) lost to alternative uses 
(non B use class): 
a) on allocated employment 
sites (including mix use) 
b) in existing employment areas 
c) Hillhouse Technology 
Enterprise Zone (regarding 
employment sites only) 
d) other   

No overall loss 
   

1, 2, 3 

P
age 218



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

72 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI5 
Number of wards with LSOAs in 
bottom 10%  most deprived for 
employment deprivation 

Decrease over plan period 1, 2 
   

Objective 2 

PMI6 

Number, type and amount of 
financial contributions through 
CIL and/or S106 towards 
education 

No Target. Monitor contributions 7 
   

PMI7 

Number and distribution of 
wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10%  nationally for education, 
skills and training deprivation 

Decrease over plan period 1 
   

Objective 3 

PMI8 
5 year supply of deliverable 
housing 

100% as set out in the latest HIS 
  

1 
 

PMI9 

Housing Trajectory: 
a) completions in previous 
years (since 2011) 
b) completions in reporting year 
c) extant planning permission 
from current year (up to 2031) 
d) managed delivery target 

Meet local minimum target of 
providing  9,285 net new homes 
2011-2031 (464 per annum) 

1 
 

1 
 

PMI10 

Net additional dwellings on 
each housing allocation 
a) completions since 2011 
b) with extant planning 
permission 

Monitor take up against the housing 
trajectory as set out in the latest HIS 

1 
 

1 
 

PMI11 

% and amount of affordable 
homes, by type and settlement: 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning 
permission 
c) financial contributions 

Measure % against Local Plan Policy 
Standards, by settlement 

1, 2, 7 
 

3, 7 
 

PMI12 

Percentage and number of 
major developments providing 
housing for older people and 
people with restricted mobility 

20% of 20+ dwellings 1, 2 
 

2 
 

P
age 219



   Wyre Council 
 

73 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI13 

Net additional dwellings, by 
size, type and tenure: 
a) in current year 
b) with extant planning 
permission 

Monitor take up/change 
  

2 
 

PMI14 
Amount of permanent and 
transit pitch provision for 
gypsies and travellers 

Monitor take up 1, 2 
 

8 
 

PMI15 
Amount of permanent plot 
provision for travelling 
showpeople 

To meet locally identified need (GTAA 
as minimum) 

1, 2 
 

8 
 

PMI16 
Number of buildings converted 
in to Houses of Multiple 
Occupancy (HMOs) 

Monitor take up 
  

10 
 

Objective 4 

PMI17 

Net additional retail floorspace 
developed, by type: 
a) in town centres 
b) in primary shopping areas 
c) in district, local and 
neighbourhood centres 
d) other 

No Target. Monitor take up 2 
  

4, 5, 6, 7, 8 

PMI18 

Net additional retail floorspace 
with extant planning permission, 
by type: 
a) in town centres 
b) in primary shopping areas 
c) in district, local and 
neighbourhood centres 
d) other 

No Target. Monitor take up 2 
  

4, 5, 6, 7, 8 

PMI19 
Changes to defined primary and 
secondary shopping frontages 

Monitor change 
   

6 

PMI20 

Ground floor vacancy rates for 
Cleveleys, Fleetwood, 
Garstang, Poulton and 
Thornton 

No Target. Monitor change 2 
  

4 

Objective 5 

P
age 220



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

74 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI21 
Percentage of new dwellings 
approved within 1km of key 
services 

Monitor take up 2 
   

PMI22 

Number, type and amount of 
financial contributions through 
CIL and/or S106 towards health 
care 

No Target. Monitor contributions 7 
   

PMI23 

Number, type and amount of 
financial contributions through 
CIL and/or S106 towards other 
infrastructure 

No Target. Monitor contributions 7 
   

PMI24 

Number of community facilities, 
by type and settlement: 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning 
permission 
c) loss to alternative uses 

No target. Monitor change 
   

11 

Objective 6 

PMI25 
Length of total and new 
dedicated pedestrian and cycle 
routes 

Increase  2, 7, 8 3, 6 
  

PMI26 
No. of developments receiving 
planning permission with 
agreed travel plan 

No target 
 

6 
  

PMI27 

Number, type  and amount of 
financial contributions through 
CIL and/or S106 towards 
highways 

No Target. Monitor contributions 1, 7 6 
  

PMI28 
Percentage and number of new 
dwellings built within 1km of a 
bus stop  

Monitor take up 2 6 
  

Objective 7 

PMI29 

Number and change in areas of 
biodiversity, geological and 
landscape importance (i.e. loss 
or additions (ha) of AONB, 
SSSIs, GHS, BHS etc.) 

No Loss (ha) 1, 2, 5 4 
  

P
age 221



   Wyre Council 
 

75 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI30 

Amount of new development 
within areas of  biodiversity, 
geological and landscape 
importance: 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning 
permission 

No development unless justified 1,2, 5, 7 4 
  

PMI31 Condition of SSSIs 
95% of SSSIs in favourable or 
recovering condition 

1, 2 4 
  

PMI32 
Number of Biological Heritage 
Sites (BHS) under active 
management. 

Monitor over plan period 1, 2 4 
  

PMI33 
Loss of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land* 

No target. Monitor loss 1, 2 4 
  

PMI34 

Gain/Loss/Number of: 
a) conservation Areas 
b) scheduled monuments 
c) listed buildings 
d) parks and Gardens 

Monitor Change  
 

5 
  

PMI35 
Number of scheduled 
monuments and listed buildings 
considered to be at risk 

No increase 
 

5 
  

Objective 8 

PMI36 

Number of new developments 
(by type) in the Green Belt: 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning 
permission 

No development unless justified 2, 3 
   

PMI37 

Number of  new developments 
(by type) in the Countryside: 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning 
permission 

No development, unless justified 1, 2, 4 
 

4, 5, 6, 7 8 

Objective 9 

P
age 222



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

76 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI38 
Length of total and new 
dedicated public rights of way 
(PROW) 

Increase  2, 7, 8 3, 4, 6 
  

PMI39 
Number of total and new green 
flag status parks 

Increase over plan period 1, 2 4 
  

PMI40 
Amount of Green Infrastructure 
lost to development (ha) 

No Loss (ha) 1, 2 4 9 
 

PMI41 

Amount of new green 
infrastructure (including public 
open space) provided through 
new development: 
a) on-site 
b) off-site contributions through 
CIL and/or S106 agreements 

Monitor provision/contributions 
against Local Plan Policy Standards 

1, 7,8 3, 4 9 
 

PMI42 
Number of open space sites 
above 80% quality score 

Increase over plan period 1, 2 3, 4 9 
 

PMI43 
Number of wards with LSOAs in 
the bottom 10%  most deprived 
for health deprivation 

Decrease over plan period 1, 2, 8 
   

PMI44 
Number of Health Impact 
Assessments (HIA)  

Monitor take up 8 
   

Objective 10 

PMI45 
Per capita amount of CO2 
emissions in the LA area 

No target, monitor change 
   

12 

PMI46 
New renewable energy 
installations, by type (Feed in 
tariff in MW) 

Increase 2 
  

12 

PMI47 
Number of Electric Vehicle 
Recharging Points 

Increase over plan period 2 1, 6 
 

12 

Objective 11 

PMI48 

Number of planning 
permissions granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice in 
areas at risk from flooding 

None (0) 2 2 
  

P
age 223



   Wyre Council 
 

77 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI49 

Number of planning 
permissions granted contrary to 
Environment Agency advice on 
water quality grounds 

None (0) 2 2 
  

PMI50 

Upgrading of flood defences to 
1 in 200 year standard at: 
1) Rossall Hospital to 
Fleetwood Golf Course 
2) Fleetwood Docks to 
Hillhouse 
3) Hillhouse to Stanah 

Anticipated Completion by 
1) 2018 
2) 2021 
3) 2021  

2, 7 2 
  

PMI51 
Number of planning 
permissions incorporating 
SuDS 

No Target. Monitor improvement 2, 7 2 
  

PMI52 

Inappropriate development in 
the Coastal Change 
Management Area: 
a) completed annually 
b) with extant planning 
permission 

Monitor take up 4 
   

PMI53 

Number, type and amount of 
financial contributions through 
CIL and/or S106 towards flood 
prevention 

No Target. Monitor contributions 7 2 
  

PMI54 
Measure air pollutants within Air 
Quality Management Areas 
(AQMA) 

 Monitor change 1 1 
  

PMI55 
Number of total and new 
AQMAs designated in the 
Borough 

 Monitor change 
 

1 
  

PMI56 Bathing water quality Improve to 'Excellent' rating 1 4 
  

PMI57 
Number of planning 
permissions granted contrary to 
HSE advice  

None (0) 
 

1 
  

Objective 12 

P
age 224



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

78 

Performance Monitoring Indicators (PMI) Target /Outcomes 
Strategic 
Policies (SP) 

Core Development 
Management Policies 
(CDMP) 

Housing (HP) Economy (EP) 

PMI58 

Number and distribution of 
wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for crime 
deprivation. 

Decrease over plan period 1 3 
  

PMI59 

Number of LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for barriers 
to housing and services 
provision deprivation. 

Decrease over plan period 1, 2 6 
  

PMI60 

Number and location of wards 
with LSOAs in the bottom 10% 
 nationally for Living 
Environment deprivation 

Decrease over plan period 1, 2 1 
  

PMI61 
Number of wards with LSOAs in 
bottom 10%  most deprived for 
income deprivation 

Decrease over plan period 1 
   

PMI62 
Crime rates per 1,000 of the 
population for key offences. 

Decrease over plan period 
 

3 
  

 

P
age 225



   Wyre Council 
 

79 

Appendix C: Schedule of Sustainability Appraisal Indicators (SAI) 

 

SAI Ref Objective Sustainability Appraisal Indicator 
Target - to be refined and developed further to best fit 
monitoring of the local plan 

SAI1/1 
To reduce crime, disorder and fear 
of crime 

Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs 
in the bottom 10% most deprived for crime 
deprivation. 

Reduce the number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
30% most deprived 

SAI1/2 
To reduce crime, disorder and fear 
of crime 

Crime rates per 1,000 of the population for key 
offences. 

Reduce the number of crimes per 1,000 population 

SAI2/1 
To improve levels of educational 
attainment for all age groups and 
all sectors of society 

Number and distribution of wards with LSOAs 
in the bottom 10% nationally for education, 
skills and training deprivation 

Ensure sufficient school places are available to meet the 
needs of new development 

SAI2/2 
To improve levels of educational 
attainment for all age groups and 
all sectors of society 

Location and number of school places available 
Ensure sufficient school places are available to meet the 
needs of new development 

SAI2/3 
To improve levels of educational 
attainment for all age groups and 
all sectors of society 

% of working age residents with national 
vocational qualifications (NVQs) 

Ensure sufficient school places are available to meet the 
needs of new development 

SAI3/1 
To improve physical and mental 
health and wellbeing for all and 
reduce health inequalities 

Percentage of resident population who 
consider themselves to be in good health 

Reduce the number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for health deprivation 

SAI3/2 
To improve physical and mental 
health and wellbeing for all and 
reduce health inequalities 

Number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for health deprivation 

Reduce the number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for health deprivation 

SAI3/3 
To improve physical and mental 
health and wellbeing for all and 
reduce health inequalities 

Percentage of new dwellings within 1km of key 
services 

Reduce the number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% most deprived for health deprivation 

P
age 226



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

80 

SAI Ref Objective Sustainability Appraisal Indicator 
Target - to be refined and developed further to best fit 
monitoring of the local plan 

SAI3/4 
To improve physical and mental 
health and wellbeing for all and 
reduce health inequalities 

Number of open space sites within 80% quality 
score. 

 Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI3/5 
To improve physical and mental 
health and wellbeing for all and 
reduce health inequalities 

Length of new dedicated pedestrian and cycle 
routes 

 Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI4/1 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

Net additional dwellings on each housing 
allocation 

Annual dwelling completions against requirement 
target of 460 per annum. 

SAI4/2 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

Net additional dwellings by size, type and 
tenure 

Number of homes within developments of 11 or more 
designed to specifically accommodate or adaptable for 
older people 

SAI4/3 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

% and number of affordable homes by type and 
settlement 

Number of market housing schemes of 10 or more 
dwellings that provide 30% affordable homes 

SAI4/4 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

Number and location of wards with LSOAs in 
the bottom 10% nationally for Living 
Environment deprivation 

Reduce number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% for 
living environment deprivation 

SAI4/5 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

Percentage of vacant dwellings (C3) Decrease number of vacant dwellings 

SAI4/6 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

Amount of permanent and transit pitch 
provision for gypsies, travellers and travelling 
showpeople. 

 Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI4/7 
To ensure housing provision meets 
local needs 

Amount of permanent plot provision for 
travelling showpeople 

 Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

P
age 227



   Wyre Council 
 

81 

SAI Ref Objective Sustainability Appraisal Indicator 
Target - to be refined and developed further to best fit 
monitoring of the local plan 

SAI5/1 
To improve sustainable access to 
basic goods, services and amenities 
for all groups] 

Number of LSOAs in the bottom 10% most 
deprived for barriers to housing and services 
provision. 

Reduce number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% for 
barriers to housing and services provision 

SAI5/2 
To improve sustainable access to 
basic goods, services and amenities 
for all groups] 

Percentage and number of new dwellings built 
within 1km of a bus stop 

 Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI5/3 
To improve sustainable access to 
basic goods, services and amenities 
for all groups] 

Length of Public Rights of Way (PROW) No loss of PROW 

SAI6/1 
To encourage sustainable economic 
growth, inclusion and business 
development across the borough 

Economic activity rate  Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI6/2 
To encourage sustainable economic 
growth, inclusion and business 
development across the borough 

Percentage of employment and occupation   Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI6/3 
To encourage sustainable economic 
growth, inclusion and business 
development across the borough 

Available of employment land  Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI6/4 
To encourage sustainable economic 
growth, inclusion and business 
development across the borough 

Number of wards with LSOAs in bottom 10% 
most deprived for employment deprivation and 
income deprivation 

To reduce number of wards with LSOAs in the bottom 
10% for employment and income deprivation. 

SAI6/5 
To encourage sustainable economic 
growth, inclusion and business 
development across the borough 

Employment land take-up 
Cumulative take-up of land for employment 
development to plan period requirement of 43ha. 

P
age 228



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

82 

SAI Ref Objective Sustainability Appraisal Indicator 
Target - to be refined and developed further to best fit 
monitoring of the local plan 

SAI6/6 
To encourage sustainable economic 
growth, inclusion and business 
development across the borough 

Retail take-up  Target (if appropriate to the indicator) to be developed 

SAI7/1 To deliver urban renaissance 
Indicators proposed for other objectives should 
be monitored as they all make a contribution to 
the achievement of this SA Objective. 

n/a 

SAI8/1 
To protect and enhance 
biodiversity 

Number and change in areas of biodiversity, 
geological importance and landscape 

Maintain and improve condition of designated sites 

SAI8/2 
To protect and enhance 
biodiversity 

Condition of SSSIs  
Increase area of habitat provided across the district 
 
No net loss of biodiversity 

SAI8/3 
To protect and enhance 
biodiversity 

Number of BHSs under Active Management. 
Increase area of habitat provided across the district 
 
No net loss of biodiversity 

SAI8/4 
To protect and enhance 
biodiversity 

Areas ancient woodland 
No loss of ancient woodland as a result of new 
development 

SAI9/1 
To protect and enhance the 
borough's landscape and 
townscape character and quality 

Amount of green infrastructure lost to 
development  

No net loss of green infrastructure to development 
(without appropriate mitigation). 

P
age 229



   Wyre Council 
 

83 

SAI Ref Objective Sustainability Appraisal Indicator 
Target - to be refined and developed further to best fit 
monitoring of the local plan 

SAI9/2 
To protect and enhance the 
borough's landscape and 
townscape character and quality 

Number and total of  Green Flag Award parks Increase number of Green Flag Award parks 

SAI9/3 
To protect and enhance the 
borough's landscape and 
townscape character and quality 

Some biodiversity indicators are also relevant in 
relation to greenspace access. 

n/a 

SAI10/1 
To protect and enhance the 
cultural heritage resources 

Gain/loss/number of heritage assets 
No loss of Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments, 
Conservation Areas and Registered Parks and Gardens 

SAI10/2 
To protect and enhance the 
cultural heritage resources 

Number of scheduled monuments and listed 
buildings at risk 

Reduce number of heritage assets at risk 

SAI11/1 
To protect and enhance the quality 
of water features and resources 
and reduce the risk of flooding 

Rivers reaching Good Ecological Status 

Prevent deterioration of the status of all surface water 
and groundwater bodies 
 
Protect, enhance and restore all bodies of surface water 
and groundwater with the aim of achieving Good Status 
for surface water and groundwater  

SAI11/2 
To protect and enhance the quality 
of water features and resources 
and reduce the risk of flooding 

Number of planning applications granted 
permission contrary to Environment Agency 
advice regarding flooding. 

No planning permissions to be granted contrary to EA 
advice on flooding 

P
age 230



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

84 

SAI Ref Objective Sustainability Appraisal Indicator 
Target - to be refined and developed further to best fit 
monitoring of the local plan 

SAI11/3 
To protect and enhance the quality 
of water features and resources 
and reduce the risk of flooding 

Bathing water quality To meet EU bathing water standards 

SAI12/1 
To limit and adapt to climate 
change 

Local rail patronage  Rail usage to increase 

SAI12/2 
To limit and adapt to climate 
change 

Indicators used to monitor the implementation 
of the Local Transport Plan 

Targets to be developed 

SAI12/3 
To limit and adapt to climate 
change 

Number of Electric Vehicle Recharging Points Increase 

SAI13/1 To protect and improve air quality 
Number and distribution of Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs). 

No new AQMAs to be designated in the Borough. 
 
Achievement of UK Air Quality Strategy objectives for 
specific pollutants 

SAI13/2 To protect and improve air quality 
Local air quality monitoring results for nitrogen 
and particulates 

No new AQMAs to be designated in the Borough. 
 
Achievement of UK Air Quality Strategy objectives for 
specific pollutants 

SAI14/1 
To ensure sustainable use of 
natural resources 

Impact of new development on Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas and number of appropriate 
surveys taken prior to development. 

n/a 

P
age 231



 

85 
 

Appendix D: Glossary of terms and abbreviations 

Appropriate Assessment: An appropriate assessment, also known as a Habitat Regulation 
Assessment is required in order to assess the potential effect of the Local Plan on the integrity of a 
Natura 2000 site e.g. Special Protection Area (SPA) or Special Areas of Conservation (SAC). 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB): AONB’s are designated by the Countryside Agency. 
They represent the nation’s finest landscapes. They are designed to safeguard and enhance their 
natural beauty. 

Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR): A report produced by a local planning authority that assesses 
the progress and the effectiveness of specified planning policies in development plan documents. It 
also includes a review of the Local Development Scheme’s (LDS) timetable. 

Biological Heritage Site (BHS): In Lancashire, Local Authorities are required to identify and provide 
protection to the natural heritage within their districts. These are the most important non-statutory 
wildlife sites. For example; ancient woodland, species rich grassland and bogs. 

Coastal Change Management Area (CCMA): An area identified in Local Plans as likely to be affected 
by coastal change (physical change to the shoreline through erosion, coastal landslip, permanent 
inundation or coastal accretion). 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new charge that 
local authorities have the power to levy on most types of development to fund infrastructure 
required to support new growth such as transport, education, health and open space facilities. CIL 
chargers are based on the size and types of development proposed and are calculated as a charge 
per square metre. 

Conservation Areas: areas formally designated by local planning authorities for their special 
architectural or historical interest.  

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS): BEIS was established July 2016 and 
brings together responsibilities for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation, energy, and 
climate change, merging the functions of the former BIS and DECC. 

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG): DCLG is the Government Department 
responsible for planning matters, with the responsibility to promote community cohesion and 
equality, as well as housing, urban regeneration, planning and local government.  

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA): DEFRA is a Government Department 
in the UK.  

Department for Transport (Dft): The DfT provides leadership across the transport sector to achieve a 
transport system, which balances the needs of the economy, the environment and society. 

Development Plan Document (DPD): A document identifying the Council’s planning policies and 
proposals. Development Plan Documents include the Local Plan, Site-Specific Allocations Documents, 
Area Action Plans and Proposals Map. They are subject to community involvement, consultation and 
independent examination. A sustainability appraisal is required for each development plan 
document. 

Duty to Co-operate: a legal duty on local planning authorities to engage constructively and actively 
to address strategic cross-boundary matters in preparing Local Plans.  

Page 232



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

86 

English Heritage: English Heritage is a registered charity that manages over 400 of England’s Historic 
buildings, monuments and sites. 

Environment Agency (EA): The Environment Agency is a government body responsible for protecting 
and improving the effects of pollution on the environment in England and Wales. To make sure that 
air, land and water are looked after. 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA): and EqIA is a systematic way of examining whether a new or 
existing function, policy or process differentially affects any person or group of persons. 

Evidence Base: The information and data gathered by the local planning authority to justify the 
policy approach set out in the Local Plan.  

Examination: The local planning authority must submit the Local Plan for examination. The 
examination is carried out by an independent Planning Inspector to consider whether the local plan 
is ‘sound’ and meets the ‘legal compliance’. 

Green Belt: An area of land largely around built up areas designated to protect the land from 
development. The purposes are to restrict urban sprawl safeguard the countryside, preserve the 
character of historic towns and to encourage the use of Brownfield sites for development. 

Greenfield Site: Land not previously developed (PDL), usually agricultural land. 

Habitats Regulation Assessment: Please see Appropriate Assessment. 

Health Impact Assessment (HIA): A combination of procedures, methods and tools by which a policy, 
programme or project may be judged as to its potential effects on the health of a population and the 
distribution of those effects within the population. 

Highways Authority: A highway authority is a name given to a body responsible for the 
administration of public roads. In Lancashire, LCC are the highway authority.   

Highways England: Highways England is the government company responsible for operating, 
maintaining and improving the strategic road network of England. 

Homes and Community Agency (HCA): The HCA is the non-departmental public body that helps fund 
new affordable housing and regulates social housing providers in England. They also help create 
successful communities by making more homes and business premises available to residents and 
business who need them.  

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD): The IMD is a set of six indicators (income; employment; health 
deprivation and disability; education; skills and training; housing; and geographical access to services) 
to help identify areas for regeneration, at ward level.  

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP): The IDP is a plan produced in parallel to preparing the Local Plan 
which assess the impacts of the proposed development on infrastructure and sets out the necessary 
infrastructure required to support proposed development. 

Lancashire County Council (LCC): LCC is the upper-tier (part of a ‘two tier’ system of local 
government) local authority for the non-metropolitan county of Lancashire. Residents who live in 
Lancashire (excluding Blackpool Council and Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council) will also have a 
district council providing some of the council services.  

Page 233



  

 Wyre Council 
 

87 

Local Development Documents (LDDs): These include any document within the Local Development 
Framework, They compromise Development Plan Documents, Supplementary Planning Documents 
and the Statement of Community Involvement. 

Local Development Scheme (LDS): The LDS is a three-year programme, which shows the councils 
time scale for the preparation and production of Local Development Documents.  

Local Geodiversity Sites (LGSs): LGSs are protected in the same way as important biological sites, to 
recognise and protect the importance of certain landforms.  

Localism Act: A major piece of new legislation, which includes wide-ranging changes to local 
government, housing and planning. Significantly, the Act abolishes reginal planning, and introduces 
the possibility of Neighbourhood Plans as part of the development plan. 

Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA): a geographic hierarchy designed to improve the reporting of 
small area statistics in England and Wales. 

Marine Management Organisation (MMO): The MMO is an executive non-departmental public body 
in the United Kingdom which license, regulate and plan marine activities in the seas around England 
so that they’re carried out in a sustainable way. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the Government’s requirements for 
the planning system only to the extent that it is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. It 
provides a framework within which local people and their accountable councils can produce their 
own distinctive local and neighbourhood plans, which reflect the needs and priorities of their 
communities. 

Natural England (NE): NE was formed in 2006 and is a non-departmental public body sponsored by 
DEFRA. It is responsible for ensuring that England’s natural environment, including its land, flora and 
fauna, freshwater and marine environments, geology and soils, are protected and improved. It also 
has a responsibility to help people enjoy, understand and access the natural environment. 

Neighbourhood Planning: gives town and parish councils or newly formed neighbourhood forums 
the opportunity to prepare with the community they represent a planning document to shape the 
places where they live and work. 

Office for National Statistics (ONS): ONS is the executive office of the UK statistics Authority and is 
the UK Government’s single largest statistical producer. ONS produces independent information to 
improve our understanding of the UK’s economy and society. 

Office of Rail and Road (ORR): As of 1 April 2015, the ORR is the economic regulator of Britain’s 
mainline railway and health and safety regulator on Britain’s railways. They also monitor England’s 
Strategic Highways network. It was previously the Office of Rail Regulation. 

Previously Developed Land (PDL), also known as Brownfield: Land previously developed on or was 
occupied by a permanent structure. Usually associated with derelict urban land. Excludes agriculture 
or forestry land and previously used land which now has nature conservation or recreation value. 

Public Health England (PHE): PHE was established on 1 April 2013 to bring together public health 
specialists from more than 70 organisations into a single public health service. They are an executive 
agency of the Department of Health, and a distinct delivery organisation with operational autonomy 

Page 234



Authorities Monitoring Report 2018-19 
   

88 

to advise and support government, local authorities and the NHS in a professionally independent 
manner. 

Ramsar: Sites designated under the European Ramsar Convention which provide a framework for 
national and international co-operation to protect wetlands and their resources of international 
importance, particularly as waterfowl habitats.  

Section 106 Agreement (S106): A legal agreement under Section 106 of the 1990 Town & Country 
Planning Act. Section 106 agreements are legal agreements made between a planning authority and 
a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by the developer, that ensure that extra works 
related to a development are undertaken. 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs): An SSSI is an area that has been identified under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as an area as special interest.  Related to the natural heritage of 
wildlife habitats, geological or physiological features of the site. 

Special Areas of Conservation (SACs): SACs are designated sites protected under the European 
Community Habitats Directive, to protect internationally important natural habitats and species. 

Special Protection Areas (SPAs): SPAs are designated sites protected under the European 
Community Directive on the conservation of wild birds, also known as the Birds Directive.  

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI): The statement of Community Involvement is an 
essential part of the new-look Local Development Framework. The SCI sets out the Council will 
involve the community at every stage in the preparation, alteration and production of the LDF. The 
SCI is not a development plan document but will still be subject to an independent examination.  

Statement of Consultation (SoC): It is a legal requirement of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) 2012 Regulations (SI No.767) that a Statement of Consultation accompanies the 
submission of the local plan to the Secretary of State. Regulation 22 of the regulations requires the 
statement to demonstrate: 

 who was invited to make representations; 

 how they were invited to do so; 

 a summary of the main issues raised by the representations; and 

 How these have been addressed in the Local Plan. 
 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA): In accordance with advice from the Environment Agency 
and in line with Planning Policy statement 25: Development and Flood risk (PPS25), Councils are 
required to undertake a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment to inform preparation of the LDF and also to 
provide further details to developers of varying levels of flood risk within the area.  
 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA): SHLAA is a key component of the evidence 
base to support the delivery of sufficient land for housing to meet the communities need for more 
homes. 
 
Strategic Location for Development (SLD): A strategic Location for Development is an area identified 
as a priority for large-scale mixed-use development.  
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA): These are required under new legislation and assess all the policies 
development plan. They include consideration of social and economic impacts as well as impacts on 
the environment. 
 

Page 235



  

 Wyre Council 
 

89 

Super Output Area (SOA): A SOA us a unit of geography designed for the collection and publication 
of small area statistics. 
 
Use Class Order (UCO): The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 puts uses of land 
and buildings into various categories. Planning permission is not required for changes of use within 
the same use class. 
 

- A1 Shops – Shops, post offices, travel agents, hairdressers, funeral directors, dry cleaner. 
- A2 Financial and professional services – Banks, building societies, betting offices, and other 

financial and professional services.  
- A3 Food and drink – Restaurants and cafes. 
- A4 Food and drink – Hot food take-away. 
- B1 Business (b1a) Offices 

(b1b) Research and development 
(b1c) light industry appropriate in a residential area 

- B2 General Industrial 
- B8 Distribution, including open air storage 
- C1 Hotels – Hotels, boarding and guest houses where no significant element of care is 

provided. 
- C2 Residential institutions – Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes, boarding 

schools, residential colleges and training centres. 
- C3 Dwelling houses – Family houses, or houses occupied by up to six residents living 

together as a single household, including a household where care is provided for residents. 
- D1 Non-residential institutions – Surgeries, nurseries, day centres schools, art galleries, 

museums, libraries halls and also churches. 
- D2 Assembly and leisure – Cinemas, concert halls, bingo and dance halls, casinos, swimming 

baths, skating rinks, gymnasiums or sports arenas (except for motor sport, or where firearms 
are used).  

 

Page 236

lmilnes_4
Typewritten Text
dem/cab/cr/19/0412gb1 Appendix 1


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of minutes
	5 Introduction of New Enforcement Powers Policy under the Housing and Planning Act 2016
	6 Masterplan Part 1: Land West of Great Eccleston
	7 Masterplan: SA3/5 Land West of the A6, Garstang
	8 Authorities Monitoring Report 2018/2019



